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2030
H.E.
Waha Capital
1974 Mubadala
H.E. Waleed . CapltﬁLbal Institute  for Disease
Al Mokarrab Al e _ s !
Muhai i Elimination UAE
US-UAE Business Council
Aldar

Cleveland Clinic
71 Hub71
Ellipses
Pharma Limited
Abu Dhabi Investment Council

Investcorp Holdings
Bahrain M42

DC
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2023
ESG BRESGC
UAE International
Affairs Office in the Presidential
Court of the UAE IHC
2PointZero
UAE
H.E. UAE
197
HE 979
Mariam Bint 18 UAE
Mohammed Saeed
Hareb Q Q Holding
Almheiri Abu Dhabi Fund
for
Development
International Humanitarian and
Philanthropic Council
2023
ESG BRESGC
BAC
Mubadala Investment Company
UAE
H.E.
1967 ] Maximus
H.E. Homaid Alr Car9°
Abdulla Al SolutionsPlus ) o
Shimmari Abu Dhabi Avuatlop
Waha Capital
UAE UAE University
Khalifa University of Science,
Technology and Research
General Electric
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2023
BAC

Abu Dhabi Capital Group

H.E.
ADIA
1987 2008
H.E Khalifa 22
Ateeq Al
Mazrouei Higher Colleges
of Technology Abu Dhabi
23 )

(2024 12

31

)
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25
2021 UAE

2023
MENA
15

First Gulf Bank
Citibank
AW
Rostamani Group

Arab Monetary Fun
1972 ab Monetary Fund

Hana Al 19 Buna

Rostamani Institute of
International Finance |IIF

International Institute for Management
Development IMD UAE
US-UAE Business
Council
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GBS

25

1974

Keith 11 13
Macdonald

Standard Chartered

Bear Stearns

SMBC
SMBC Bank
International

Fenergo Group

500
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ABN AMRO
2021
Hellenic Bank
20 ING
ING
Direct
1967
Lars 12 ING Retail Banking Direct and
Kramer International
ING Commercial
Bank
University of South Africa
University of
Cape Town
30
Barclays Bank PLC
Mr. Simon 19618
Thorn
Merrill Lynch
30
UAE
1966
Nurendra CIA
Perera CFSA
CRMA
1SACA
CISA
CRISC
CIB
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30
HSBC Group
HSBC
Australia
HSBC Korea
HSBC
1962
Martin 1 20
Tricaud
FAB
FAB Capital
Saudi Arabia
2001
Conseiller du
Commerce Exterieur de la France
UAE
15
Visa
Mastercard
MMEC
FAB W10
FABMISR GCC
1982
Futoon Al 15
Mazrouei
2023
Abu Dhabi National Insurance Company
ADNIC
UAE
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UAE
24
ESG
2010
FGB
NBAD
1973
Noora
Al Reyasi =
UAE
First Gulf Bank
Emirates Telecommunications
Corporation Etisalat
30
1976
Chris
Jaques
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30

Citi

Citibank Europe Plc CEP)

D. 1974

Pantelis
(Linos) D.
Lekkas

Bank of America Merrill
Lynch

Credit Suisse
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UAE
UAE
1969 10
Omar Hafeez Citibank
30
1CAEW
I1CAP
LLB
30
Standard
Chartered Bank
1965
Divyesh 12
Vithlani
Accenture 11
Credit Suisse 17
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2021 32 171
10%
2024 12 31 45
)
45263 25
1995 UAE 22
UAE 2024 12
31
2023
Stuart Alexander Scoular
15 11 IT
UAE

Abu Dhabi Accountability Authority
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UAE
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2024 12 31 2023 12 31
214,404 8,400,349 233,390 9,144,220
56,028 2,195,177 45,209 1,771,289
10 23,724 929,506 25,266 989,922
1 69,661 2,729,318 78,504 3,075,787
43 45,893 1,798,088 46,421 1,818,775
12 528,897 20,722,184 483,954 18,961,318
13 187,446 7,344,134 179,643 7,038,413
14 49,440 1,937,059 41,332 1,619,388
15 4,963 194,450 1,501 58,809
16 8,169 320,061 8,162 319,787
4,683 183,480 5,115 200,406
17 19,939 781,210 20,136 788,928
1,213,247 47,535,017 1,168,633 45,787,041
18 71,896 2,816,885 71,528 2,802,467
19 32,329 1,266,650 26,096 1,022,441
20 17,888 700,852 19,659 770,240
43 53,758 2,106,238 51,002 1,998,258
21 782,379 30,653,609 759,863 29,771,432
22 52,473 2,055,892 46,932 1,838,796
23 64,788 2,538,394 63,939 2,505,130
24 6,861 268,814 4,191 164,203
1,082,372 42,407,335 1,043,210 40,872,968
25 11,048 432,861 11,048 432,861
53,583 2,099,382 53,558 2,098,402
- - () (274)
13,084 512,631 13,084 512,631
25 (3,997) (156,602) 208 8,149
26 10,755 421,381 10,755 421,381
250 9,795 250 9,795
46,029 1,803,416 36,417 1,426,818
130,752 5,122,863 125,313 4,909,763
123 4,819 110 4,310
130,875 5,127,683 125,423 4,914,073
1,213,247 47,535,017 1,168,633 45,787,041

2025
1 [ 1 1
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2024 12 31 2023 12 31
28,51 59,574 2,334,109 55,848 2,188,125
29,51 (42,100) (1,649,478) (39,313) (1,540, 283)
17,474 684,631 16,535 647,841
30 3,474 136,111 2,910 114,014
31 (1,336) (52,344) (1,306) (51,169)
2,138 83,767 1,604 62,845
19,612 768,398 18,139 710,686
32 5,520 216,274 4,283 167,808
32 (1,762) (69,035) (1,275) (49,955)
3,758 147,238 3,008 117,853
33 1,832 71,778 2,597 101,750
34 5,399 211,533 3,704 145,123
35 1,024 40,120 23 901
31,625 1,239,068 27,471 1,076,314
36 - - 284 11,127
31,625 1,239,068 27,755 1,087,441
37 @7.787) (305,095) (7,125) (279,158)
23,838 933,973 20,630 808,283
38 (3,924) (153,742) (3,078) (120,596)
19,914 780,231 17,552 687,687
39 (2,818) (110,409) (1,042) (40,826)
17,096 669,821 16,510 646,862
17,055 668,215 16,405 642,748
“ 1,606 105 4,114
45 1.48 58 1.43 56
10
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2024 12 31 2023 12 31
17,096 669,821 16,510 646,862
(1,929) (75,578) (749) (29,346)
324 12,694 1,393 54,578
63 2,468 - -
(1,702) (66,684) 327) (12,812)
@13) (509) 10) (392)
(45) (1,763) 45) (1,763)
- - 3 118
176 6,896 - -
(3,126) (122,477) 265 10,383
13,970 547,345 16,775 657,245
13,939 546,130 16,669 653,001
31 1,215 106 4,153
13,970 547,345 16,775 657,245
10
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2024 11,048 53,558 (©) 13,084 208 10,755
- - - - (3,058) -
25 - 25 7 - 50 -
26 B B B B B B
IFRS 25 - - - - 1.222) -
FVOCI - - - - 25 -
2024 12 31 11,048 53,583 - 13,084 (3,997) 10,755
2023 11,048 53,558 %) 13,084 (836) 10,755
- - - - 316 -
26 ) ) . - . )
IFRS 25 - - - - 708 -
FVoCI - - - - 20 -
2023 12 31 11,048 53,558 ) 13,084 208 10,755

10
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2024 250 36,417 125,313 110 125,423
- 17,055 17,055 ] 17,096
- (58) (3,116) (10) (3.126)
25 - - 82 - 82
- - (743) (743) - (743)
IFRS 25 - 1,222 - - -
Fvocl - (25) - - -
- (7.839) (7,839) (18) (7.857)
2024 12 31 250 46,029 130,752 123 130,875
2023 250 27,186 115,038 12 115,050
- 16,405 16,405 105 16,510
- (52) 264 1 265
- - (653) (653) - (653)
IFRS 25 - (708) - - -
Fvocl - (20) - i -
- (5,741) (5,741) (8) (5,749)
2023 12 31 250 36,417 125,313 110 125,423

10

73/325



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

ooooooo
2024 432,861 2,098,402 7% 512,631 8,149 421,381
- - - - (119,812) -
25 - 980 274 - 1,959 -
26 - - - - - -
IFRS 25 - - - - (47,878) -
FVOCI - - - - 980 -
2024 12 31 432,861 2,099,382 - 512,631 (156,602) 421,381
2023 432,861 2,098,402 (274) 512,631 (32,754) 421,381
- - - - 12,381 -
26 - - B B - B
IFRS 25 - - - - 27,739 -
Fvocl - - - - 784 -
2023 12 31 432,861 2,098,402 (274) 512,631 8,149 421,381

10
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2024 9,795 1,426,818 4,909,763 4,310 4,914,073
- 668,215 668,215 1,606 669,821
- @.272) (122,085) (392) (122,477)
25 - - 3,213 - 3,213
- - (29,111) (29,111) - (29,111)
IFRS 25 - 47,878 - - -
FVOCI - (980) - - -
- (307,132) (307,132) (705) (307,837)
2024 12 31 9,795 1,803,416 5,122,863 4,819 5,127,683
2023 9,795 1,065,147 4,507,189 470 4,507,659
- 642,748 642,748 4,114 646,862
- (2,037) 10,344 39 10,383
" - (25,585) (25,585) - (25,585)
IFRS 25 - (27,739) - - -
FVoCI - (784) - - -
- (224,932) (224,932) (313) (225,246)
2023 12 31 9,795 1,426,818 4,909,763 4,310 4,914,073

10
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2024 12 31 2023 12 31
19,914 780,231 17,552 687,687
37 1,087 42,589 981 38,436
@2 (862) @ (39)
- - (148) (5,799)
- - (€Y (39)
36 - - (284) 11,127)
38 4,650 182,187 3,585 140,460
303 11,872 - -
452 17,709 532 20,844
26,384 1,033,725 22,216 870,423
(10,758) (421,498) (13,511) (529,361)
(814) (31,893) 1,027 40,238
8,835 346,155 (9,463) (370,760)
(49,976) (1,958,060) (27,808) (1,089,517)
(8,076) (316,418) (10,023) (392,701)
368 14,418 9,967 390,507
6,233 244,209 (12,908) (505,735)
22,516 882,177 59,289 2,322,943
1,800 70,524 2,492 97,637
3,958 155,074 9,957 390,115
470 18,415 31,235 1,223,787
22 (1,446) (56,654) (1,058) (41,452)
45) (1,763) 45) (1,763)
(1,021) (40,003) 30,132 1,180,572
(12,060) (472,511) (6,702) (262,584)
©) Q@74 (1,041) (40,786)
- - 335 13,125
97 3,800 @1,071) (41,962)
(11,970) (468,985) (8,479) (332,207)
@1,771) (69, 388) (12,080) (473,294)
(7,840) (307,171) (5,728) (224,423)
23 14,648 573,909 8,140 318,925
23 (12,461) (488,222) (8,397) (328,994)
2,755 107,941 3,673 143,908
26 (743) (29,111) (653) (25,585)
(5.412) (212,042) (15,045) (589,463)
(18,403) (721,030) 6,608 258,901
(2,967) (116,247) (206) (8,071)
257,198 10,077,018 250,796 9,826,187
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40 235,828 9,239,741 257,198 10,077,018

10
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0000000
1984 UAE
6316 FAB
2024 12 31
Higher Shariah Authority HSA
Internal Shariah Supervison Committe:1SSC
FAB 2024 12 31
http://www.bankfab.com
QFCRA QFC
QFC
1ASB
IFRS UAE
IFRS 1ASB IFRS
IC
2021 UAE 32

2017

2025

79/325



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

@
FVTPL
FvoCl

(b)
1AS 2024
1AS 2024
IFRS 2024
1AS 2024
IFRS 16 2024

2025

IAS 21
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IFRS 18
IFRS

IFRS IFRS

IFRS 19 IFRS
)

ceu
ceU ceu
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ceu
ceu

)

IFRS 10
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2024 2023
12 31 12 31
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
FAB 100 100
100 100
96 96
NBAD 100 100
100 100
FAB 100 100
100 100
100 100
Mismak
100 100
Mismak
100 100
FMI
FAB 100 100
FAB 100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
FAB - -
50 50
IT 100 100
FGIT
FAB IT 100 100
FAB 100 100
100 100
FAB Misr
FAB SPV RSC 100 100
1968A SPV RSC 100 100
1968B SPV RSC 100 100
1968C SPV RSC 100 -
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1968D SPV RSC 100 -
100
50
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0Cl
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- 40
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16 16

23 23
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FAB Misr Mismak FAB
UAE
2024 12 31
7,974 5,502 297 997 3,298 1,544 19,612
2,899 1,746 2,792 349 1,185 3,042 12,013
10,873 7,248 3,089 1,346 4,483 4,586 31,625
1,705 1,013 414 537 2,499 1,619 7,787
(163) 2,089 70 19 875 1,034 3,924
9,331 4,146 2,605 790 1,109 1,933 19,914
2024 12 31
315,598 171,620 242,105 28,987 69,015 532,578 1,359,903
(146,656)
1,213,247
433,666 168,307 225,044 35,399 79,630 286,982 1,229,028
(146, 656)
1,082,372
UAE
2024 12 31
15,610 4,002 19,612
8,862 3,151 12,013
24,472 7,153 31,625
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5,776 2,011 7,787
3,591 333 3,924
15,105 4,809 19,914
2024 12 31
981,707 317,860 1,299,567
(86,320)
1,213,247
888,901 279,791 1,168,692
(86,320)
1,082,372
2023 12 31
6,715 5,589 614 856 3,043 1,322 18,139
2,387 1,319 1,852 309 763 2,702 9,332
9,102 6,908 2,466 1,165 3,806 4,024 27,471
- - - - - 284 284
9,102 6,908 2,466 1,165 3,806 4,308 27,755
1,510 870 386 506 2,243 1,610 7,125
531 1,289 27 12 778 441 3,078
7,061 4,749 2,053 647 785 2,257 17,552
2023 12 31
276,182 159,918 224,779 30,912 60,455 525,173 1,277,419
(108,786)
1,168,633
433,660 160,336 207,039 33,517 66,020 251,424 1,151,996
(108,786)
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1,043,210

UAE
2023 12 31
15,324 2,815 18,139
6,743 2,589 9,332
22,067 5,404 27,471
284 - 284
22,351 5,404 27,755
5,394 1,731 7,125
2,016 1,062 3,078
14,941 2,611 17,552
2023 12 31
969,349 343,849 1,313,198
(144,565)
1,168,633
872,815 314,960 1,187,775
(144,565)
1,043,210
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ooooooo

2024 12 31 2023 12 31

17,055 16,405

(743) (653)

16,312 15,752

11,041 11,041

1.48 1.43

16,312 15,752

11,041 11,041

1.48 1.43
2024 12 31 2023 12 31

45 45

73 64

4 5
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Ooooood
2024 12 31
- 81 - - 81
- 347 - - 347
- 17 - - 17
2,652 32,218 145 1,042 36,057
- 3,515 - - 3,515
21 433 7 - 461
- 267 - 4 271
9,736 19,232 61 636 29,665
197 191 1 - 389
- 10,218 - 750 10,968
- 433 - - 433
181 2,058 - - 2,239
2024 12 31
130 1,894 6 59 2,089
429 537 1 104 1,071
9 159 - 44 212
- - - 126 126
- 121 - (105) 16
2023 12 31
- 61 - - 61
- 539 - - 539
- 52 - - 52
2,846 30,983 106 862 34,797
- 3,788 - - 3,788
27 568 3 1 599
- 224 - - 224
13,038 8,649 47 825 22,559
194 44 1 - 239
- 8,287 - - 8,287
- 352 - - 352
29 1,073 - 1 1,103
2023 12 31
153 1,712 3 42 1,910
257 635 1 97 990
3 61 - 16 80
132 132
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ooDoogd
93 - 35 128
2024 12 31 ECL 33 2023 12 31
34
47
2024 12 31 39,889 2023
12 31 13,827
48
SPE SPE
SPE
SPE
SPE
2024 2023
12 31 12 31

100 100
49
@
ESG

IFRS
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®)

CVA
0TC
DVA
0TC

CVA DVA

CDS

©
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()
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01C

NAV

NAV

NAV
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)

2024 12 31

Fvocl Fvocl
- - - 214,404 214,404
56,028 - - - 56,028
- - - 23,724 23,724

- - - 69,661 69,661
45,893 - - - 45,893
- - - 528,897 528,897

- 177,922 5,495 4,029 187,446

- - - 47,257 47,257
101,921 177,922 5,495 887,972 1,173,310
- - - 71,896 71,896

- - - 32,329 32,329

- - - 17,888 17,888
53,758 - - - 53,758
- - - 782,379 782,379

1,211 - - 47,031 48,242
682 - - 64,106 64,788

- - - 6,861 6,861
55,651 - - 1,022,490 1,078,141
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oooooog
2023 12 31
FvoCl FvoCl

- - - 233,390 233,390
45,209 - - - 45,209
- - - 25,266 25,266

- - - 78,504 78,504
46,421 - - - 46,421
- - - 483,954 483,954

- 170,716 4,553 4,374 179,643

- - - 39,767 39,767
91,630 170,716 4,553 865,255 1,132,154
- - - 71,528 71,528

- - - 26,096 26,096

- - - 19,659 19,659
51,002 - - - 51,002
- - - 759,863 759,863

972 - - 44,139 45,111
513 - - 63,426 63,939

- - - 4,191 4,191
52,487 - - 988,902 1,041,389
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2024 12 31
12,980 38,678 4,370 56,028
FvOCl 144,821 31,316 1,785 177,922
FvoCl 1,184 4,094 217 5,495
387 45,506 - 45,893
159,372 119,594 6,372 285,338
133 53,530 95 53,758
- 328 354 682
133 53,858 449 54,440

2023 12 31
6,708 35,357 3,144 45,209
FvoCl 133,542 36,255 919 170,716
FVOCI 1,025 3,321 207 4,553
634 45,776 11 46,421
141,909 120,709 4,281 266,899
931 50,071 - 51,002
- 260 253 513
931 50,331 253 51,515
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2024 6,708 35,357 3,144 45,209
(542) 542 - -

958 (958) - -

- @8) 18 -

416 (434) 18 -

5,856 3,755 1,208 10,819

2024 12 31 12,980 38,678 4,370 56,028
2024 134,567 39,576 1,126 175,269
(4,130) 4,130 - -

872 872) - -

- (78) 578 -

(3.258) 2,680 578 -

14,696 (6,846) 298 8,148

2024 12 31 146,005 35,410 2,002 183,417
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ooooooo
2023 3,545 23,020 5,252 31,817
(95) 95 - -
(91) - 91 -
632 (632) - -
446 (537) 91 -
2,717 12,874 (2,199) 13,392
2023 12 31 6,708 35,357 3,144 45,209
2023 123,797 39,053 4,812 167,662
(2,830) 2,830 - -
(©) - 3 _
8,179 (8,179) - -
- (2) 2 -
384 - (384) -
- 3,630 (3,630) -
5,730 (1,721) (4,009) -
5,040 2,244 323 7,607
2023 12 31 134,567 39,576 1,126 175,269
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
4,281 10,065
3,668 914
(1,577) (6,698)
6,372 4,281

50(c)
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@) (b)
© @
e) @)
() ESG
W) )
BOD
BOD BOD
GCEO BOD
BOD 11
BOD
BOD
BOD
BOD
ESG BRESGC
GCRO
BMC
BMC
ESG BRESGC
BRESGC
BOD
ESG

BRESGC
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REMCO
REMCO BOD
10 10
EXCO
EXCO
EXCO
BOD
EXCO
CEO
EXCO
EXCO
GCC
GCC
GCC
GRC
GRC
GRC
GRC
EXCO BRESGC
EXCO BAC
G-ALCO
G-ALCO
G-ALCO
BRESGC

HRSC
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ooDoogd
HRSC
EXCO REMCO
EVP
GO&FRC
GO&FRC
EXCO BRESGC
GTRISC
GTRISC
EXCO BRESGC GTRISC
ESG G-ESGC
ESG G-ESGC ESG
EXCO BRESGC G-ESGC ESG
GTSC
GTSC
EXCO IT
BRESGC GTSC
GCRO
ESG
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GCRO BRESGC

FAB
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@

163/325



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
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FVOCI
2024 12 31
211,273 26 1,147 118 - -
21,493 9 2,281 41 - -
69,755 94 - - - -
513,581 2,618 10,528 1,778 22,677 8,943
4,030 1 - - - -
FVOCI 177,834 166 - - 88 4
23,190 224 9 6 122 37
250,775 300 3,842 154 2,294 607
1,271,931 3,438 17,807 2,097 25,181 9,591
2024 12 31
- - 212,420 144
- - 23,774 50
- - 69,755 94
3,727 450 550,513 13,789
- - 4,030 1
EVOCI - - 177,922 170
- - 23,321 267
1 - 256,912 1,061
3,728 450 1,318,647 15,576
POCI
7,827
FVOCI
ECL
3,664
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0OoOooo0
2023 12 31
230,598 47 1,037 118 - -
23,610 17 1,714 41 - -
78,591 87 - - - -
464,787 1,626 12,938 1,919 22,924 9,423
4,375 1 - - - -
FVOCI 170,587 132 129 8 - -
18,662 299 1 - 1 2
237,130 362 4,313 164 1,664 498
1,228,340 2,571 20,142 2,250 24,599 9,923
2023 12 31
- - 231,635 165
- - 25,324 58
- - 78,591 87
3,992 533 504,641 13,501
- - 4,375 1
FVocl - - 170,716 140
- - 18,684 301
5 3 243,112 1,027
3,997 536 1,277,078 15,280
POCI
7,186
FVOCI
ECL
3,885

165/325



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

Ooooood
POCI
2024 464,787 12,938 22,924 3,992 504,641
(2,920) 2,920 - - -
(1,790) - 1,790 - -
2,200 (2,200) - - -
- (3,458) 3,458 - -
- 1,453 (1,453) - -
114 - (114) - -
(2,396) (1,285) 3,681 - -
(69) (350) (3,466) (220) (4,105)
51,259 @775) 462) (45) 49,977
2024 12 31 513,581 10,528 22,677 3,727 550,513
2024 237,130 4,313 1,664 5 243,112
(1,816) 1,816 - - -
™ - 7 - -
195 (195) - - -
- (1,079) 1,079 - -
- 19 19) - -
(1,628) 561 1,067 - -
15,273 (1,032) 37 0)) 13,800
2024 12 31 250,775 3,842 2,294 1 256,912
POCI
2023 441,558 13,262 20,898 4,007 479,725
(4,921) 4,921 - - -
(2,940) - 2,940 - -
2,078 (2,078) - - -
- (3,334) 3,334 - -
- 804 (804) - -
344 - (344) - -
(5,439) 313 5,126 - -
(4) (39) (3,415) (88) (3,596)
28,722 (598) 315 73 28,512
2023 12 31 464,787 12,938 22,924 3,992 504,641
2023 225,881 4,699 1,341 11 231,932
(2,498) 2,498 - - -
(289) - 289 - -
1,273 (1,273) - - -
- (1,256) 1,256 - -
- 5 ) - _
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Ooooood
(1,514) (26) 1,540 - -
12,763 (360) @,217) ) 11,180
2023 12 31 237,130 4,313 1,664 5 243,112

2024 12 31
2024 12 31 2023 12 31 2024 12 31 2023 12 31

AAA 26,248 26,604 409 694
A A 127,150 117,559 24,523 24,035
BBB B 27,170 28,885 24,117 14,783
cce 568 658 132 -
6,311 5,938 6,847 5,697
187,447 179,644 56,028 45,209
(6 ) . -
187,446 179,643 56,028 45,209
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0-50
51-100
100

2023 12 31

OooooOodd
CRM
SBLC
2024 12 31 2023 12 31

210,768 211,957

205,320 193,131

10,179 13,716

31,082 26,267

457,349 445,071

15,064 12,483

134 1,310

86 118

150 291

15,434 14,202

472,783 459,273

2024 12 31 2023 12 31

11,138 12,970

3,542 5,031

3,834 1,622

18,514 19,623

2024 12 31
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2024 2023

CCp
1SDA

1SDA

CCP

1SDA

ECL

6(a)(
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30

PD

12 PD
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90

50(e)

ECL

40
30 2024

2023
OECD
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IFRS
ECL
+ 10 ECL + 0.6
2024 12 31 2025 2029 12 31
12 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
MENA -6.29 -6.08 -0.70 -0.16 0.11
0.31 -8.44 -3.30 -0.26 0.27
-29.71 11.73 8.15 -0.22 0.75
UAE GDP 4.03 3.46 3.81 3.97 3.82
6.80 4.04 3.81 3.97 3.82
-2.16 1.35 5.70 5.27 3.94
UAE 5.59 4.13 5.58 6.24 5.11
8.95 5.74 5.68 5.89 5.09
-11.82 -2.41 6.12 7.97 5.87
GDP 4.95 5.43 5.55 5.42 5.08
7.54 5.49 5.55 5.42 5.08
-0.16 5.50 6.47 6.16 5.57
1.70 1.81 3.76 1.91 1.72
14.24 -1.96 1.08 0.03 1.52
-37.61 22.97 19.86 8.26 3.32
GDP 1.21 1.28 1.52 1.62 1.70
4.74 1.53 1.47 1.65 1.91
-4.55 1.61 2.77 1.62 1.62
1.52 2.76 3.88 3.14 2.26
11.82 0.09 1.16 1.36 2.55
-18.20 11.70 10.16 5.02 1.54
1
2
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oOoOooodn

@(@>v)

PD
PD
PD
@C )
12 12
2004 12 31 203 12 31

11,172 10,301
4,458 5,124
3,313 3,357

@C )
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LGD
EAD
PD
PD
PD
LGD
LGD
EAD
EAD
ECL EAD
@C )
POCI
2,571 2,250 9,923 536 15,280
(118) 118 - - -

(44) - 44 - -
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135 (135) - -
- (458) 458 - -
- 130 (130) - -
42 - 42) - -
15 (345) 330 - -
946 603 2,743 177 4,469
©4) (411) (3,405) (263) 4,173)

2024 12 31 3,438 2,097 9,591 450 15,576

ECL
POCI

2023 2,295 2,988 9,584 755 15,622
41) 4 - . -
(41) - 41 - -
109 (109) - - -
- (1,279) 1,279 - -
- 173 173) - -
58 - (58) - -
85 @1,174) 1,089 - -
270 558 2,576 ®7) 3,317
79) 122) (3,326) (132) (3,659)

2023 12 31 2,571 2,250 9,923 536 15,280

ECL
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0000000
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
212,420 231,635
50,200 40,496
23,774 25,324
69,755 78,591
550,513 504,641
181,952 175,091
47,524 40,068
1,136,138 1,095,846
39,658 40,151
6,235 6,270
45,893 46,421
177,950 165,269
78,962 77,843
256,912 243,112
1,438,943 1,385,379
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2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31
3,301 3,562 - - - - - 116
40,848 36,218 6,769 4,409 - - 25,792 17,262
28,641 26,399 3,177 1,096 - - 5,257 4,208
11,033 10,764 753 839 - - 1,258 743
94,408 85,806 960 1,215 - - 7,855 5,418
24,936 22,177 137 89 - - 3,563 2,965
40,600 37,885 4,172 3,857 - - 6,450 14,399
17,993 12,607 26,415 28,317 49,944 60,943 40 -
84,157 83,956 29,961 19,054 11,547 9,927 19,413 17,727
47,358 42,470 5,458 5,637 - - 4,121 9,465
72,830 61,310 165,673 160,340 8,264 7,721 5,212 5,506
49,472 50,440 - - - - - 34
34,936 31,047 - - - i, 1 _
550,513 504,641 243,475 224,853 69,755 78,591 78,962 77,843
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UAE
2024 12 31
80,870 1,259 19,684 112,482 253 - 214,548
17,361 3,133 24,173 3,512 7,622 227 56,028
971 14,883 4,330 335 3,227 28 23,774
10,769 13,629 40,078 - 2,249 3,030 69,755
1,122 41,511 1,049 46 2,077 88 45,893
390,181 51,843 53,509 28,505 17,958 8,517 550,513
37,150 43,120 29,086 46,184 30,588 1,319 187,447
538,424 169,378 171,909 191,064 63,974 13,209 1,147,958
2023 12 31
63,849 343 20,992 148,209 162 - 233,555
20,022 2,058 15,087 3,104 4,931 7 45,209
891 15,079 6,147 364 2,564 279 25,324
8,320 23,735 39,103 - 2,700 4,733 78,591
1,558 42,188 1,369 51 1,193 62 46,421
364,817 39,278 50,526 26,994 16,291 6,735 504,641
32,257 38,085 28,439 41,745 37,472 1,646 179,644
491,714 160,766 161,663 220,467 65,313 13,462 1,113,385
42

2024 12 31 2023 12 31 2024 12 31 2023 12 31
120,846 122,786 43,736 36,557
1,072 995 19 2
14,014 13,494 999 678
23,683 26,685 2,732 1,632
27,832 15,684 8,542 6,340
187,447 179,644 56,028 45,209
€)) 1€)) - -
187,446 179,643 56,028 45,209
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LCR LCR UAE
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G-ALCO

179/325



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

0000000
2024 12 31

214,404 214,368 36 - - - -
56,028 20,300 20,225 7,227 590 1,858 5,828
23,724 23,568 - - - 156 -
69,661 23,901 24,610 20,065 1,085 - -
45,893 3,335 4,083 8,586 7,906 21,983 -
528,897 89,107 80,779 137,654 95,478 125,879 -
187,446 27,113 17,398 39,971 27,905 69,564 5,495
49,440 37,080 12,360 - - - -
4,963 - - - - - 4,963
8,169 - - - - - 8,169
4,683 - - - - - 4,683
19,939 - - - - - 19,939
1,213,247 438,772 159,491 213,503 132,964 219,440 49,077
71,896 43,362 10,059 77 18,398 - -
32,329 13,714 - 18,615 - - -
17,888 13,517 4,371 - - - -
53,758 4,178 4,154 8,893 7,664 28,869 -
782,379 653,953 120,932 6,287 896 311 -
52,473 39,355 13,118 - - - -
64,788 4,351 7,790 23,889 21,270 7,488 -
6,861 - - 399 - 6,462 -
130,875 - - - - - 130,875
1,213,247 772,430 160,424 58,160 48,228 43,130 130,875
78,962 34,282 44,181 43 183 273 -
177,950 98,774 13,923 29,004 21,199 15,050 -
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2023 12 31

233,390 233,390 - - - - -
45,209 15,258 21,010 3,195 457 577 4,712
25,266 25,266 - - - - -
78,504 25,667 33,158 16,513 3,166 - -
46,421 2,695 3,455 9,573 8,166 22,532 -
483,954 74,349 76,375 116,860 81,270 135,100 -
179,643 36,966 20,982 33,275 30,904 52,963 4,553
41,332 30,999 10,333 - - - -
1,501 - - - - - 1,501
8,162 - - - - - 8,162
5,115 - - - - - 5,115
20,136 - - - - - 20,136
1,168,633 444,590 165,313 179,416 123,963 211,172 44,179
71,528 63,504 4,351 3,673 - - -
26,096 12,936 6,269 6,891 - - -
19,659 13,827 5,832 - - - -
51,002 3,502 2,891 9,699 7,862 27,048 -
759,863 625,503 127,953 5,463 721 223 -
46,932 35,199 11,733 - - - -
63,939 5,255 7,846 25,070 17,233 8,535 -
4,191 - - - 385 3,806 -
125,423 - - - - - 125,423
1,168,633 759,726 166,875 50,796 26,201 39,612 125,423
77,843 6,979 66,879 1,697 2,119 169 -
165,269 83,807 12,874 23,338 26,361 18,889 -
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ooOooood
2024 12 31
71,896 72,277 43,503 10,294 82 18,398 -
32,329 34,336 13,864 - 20,472 - -
17,888 18,055 13,456 4,599 - - -
782,379 804,895 670,888 125,446 7,007 1,083 471
64,788 82,998 7,030 9,459 29,270 23,229 14,010
6,861 8,625 80 332 1,234 774 6,205
976,141 1,021,186 748,821 150,130 58,065 43,484 20,686
78,962 78,962 34,282 44,181 43 183 273
177,950 177,950 98,774 13,923 29,004 21,199 15,050
2023 12 31
71,528 72,311 63,882 4,680 3,749 - -
26,096 27,615 13,006 6,591 8,018 - -
19,659 22,243 14,126 8,117 - - -
759,863 783,338 642,682 133,342 6,141 857 316
63,939 92,133 5,882 9,546 29,221 18,494 28,990
4,191 6,488 - 251 502 883 4,852
945,276 1,004,128 739,578 162,527 47,631 20,234 34,158
77,843 77,843 6,979 66,879 1,697 2,119 169
165,269 165,269 83,806 12,874 23,338 26,361 18,890
©
IMCO
IMCO

G-ALCO

IMCO
G-ALCO BRESGC
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VaR VaR
VaR
VaR 99
12
VaR VaR IMCO
G-ALCO VaR
VaR VaR
VaR
VaR sVaR ES
MAT VaR
2024 12 31
VaR
33 45 114 23
40 46 146 16
9 17 39 9
48 31 72 10
3 4 29 1
1 2 1 -
(78) (55) (183) 13)
2023 12 31
VaR
93 81 135 51
139 85 167 24
17 18 28 11
10 14 29 5
3 4 14 1
- 1 9 -
(76) (41) (112) 10
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VaR VaR
VaR
VaR
IMCO G-ALCO
VaR VaR
2024 12 31
VaR
193 276 419 190
124 97 146 58
21 277 423 21
9 39 201 6
20 20 26 16
(181) @as7n) @1 1)
2023 12 31
VaR
385 358 413 272
100 111 176 60
402 355 417 252
134 82 161 14
18 17 19 15
(269) (207) (360) (69)
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2024 12 31

2023 12 31

Ooooood
UAE
(104,069) 66,388 (37,681)
13,452 (10,473) 2,979
614 140 754
304 (1,035) (731)
113 (833) (720)
4,853 (4,181) 672
1,250 711 539
173 - 173
(1,590) 1,748 158
3,049 (2,901) 148
5,581 (5,470) 111
14,739 (14,571) 168
4,830 61,707 66,537
9,974 (5,931) 4,043
1,621 (4,037) (2,416)
164 (222) (58)
293 (716) (423)
11,638 (10,697) 941
1,230 (169) 1,061
189 - 189
(5,582) 6,165 583
4,692 (4,696) 4)
12,875 (12,734) 141
8,041 (8,822) (781)
2024 2023 12 31
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2024 12 31
2023 12 31

2024

2023 12 31

OJoooood
+ 30 +8 +7 + 7
+ 40 + 24 +1 + 4 +9
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
101 73
1 1
162 157
21 4
7 -
292 235
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43
50
50
50
2024 12 31
724,353

Ooooood
2024 2023 12 31 FVOCI
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
3 12
2 -
54 40
216 176
275 228
2023 12 31 50
2024 2023 2024 2023
12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31
311 449 250 560
(362) (493) 22) (538)
749,864 2023 12 31 747,851
2023 12 31 716,184
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oooooog
2024 12 31

214,404 164,008 36 - - - 50,270
56,028 19,529 21,037 7,190 586 1,858 5,828
23,724 17,268 3,493 - 472 - 2,491
69,661 23,978 24,610 19,988 1,085 - -
45,893 - - - - - 45,893
528,897 392,418 68,062 44,500 17,984 5,933 -
187,446 38,624 17,277 38,754 27,573 59,723 5,495
49,440 - - - - - 49,440
4,963 - - - - - 4,963
8,169 - - - - - 8,169
4,683 - - - - - 4,683
19,939 - - - - - 19,939
1,213,247 655,915 134,515 110,432 47,700 67,514 197,171
71,896 40,649 6,382 77 18,403 - 6,385
32,329 13,714 - 18,615 - - -
17,888 13,517 4,371 - - - -
53,758 - - - - - 53,758
782,379 495,965 127,655 14,819 143,790 150 -
52,473 - - - - - 52,473
64,788 16,142 5,926 18,133 12,085 12,502 -
6,861 32 - - 6,829 - -
130,875 - - - - - 130,875
1,213,247 580,019 144,334 51,644 181,107 12,652 243,491

75,896 (9,819) 58,788 (133,407) 54,862 (46,320)
(29,856) 39,320 8,630 22,584 (40,678) -

46,040 29,501 67,418 (110, 823) 14,184 (46,320)
46,040 75,541 142,959 32,136 46,320 -
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oooooog
2023 12 31
233,390 194,898 143 - - - 38,349
45,209 15,259 22,149 2,054 457 577 4,713
25,266 20,871 9% - 104 - 4,195
78,504 25,746 33,158 16,434 3,166 - -
46,421 - - - - - 46,421
483,954 349,717 58,748 43,342 26,794 5,353 -
179,643 43,715 20,759 33,386 30,585 46,645 4,553
41,332 - - - - - 41,332
1,501 - - - - - 1,501
8,162 - - - - - 8,162
5,115 - - - - - 5,115
20,136 - - - - - 20,136
1,168,633 650,206 135,053 95,216 61,106 52,575 174,477
71,528 59,822 4,351 - 213 - 7,142
26,096 12,936 6,269 6,891 - - -
19,659 13,826 5,833 - - - -
51,002 - - - - - 51,002
759,863 462,430 132,775 19,033 145,525 100 -
46,932 - - - - - 46,932
63,939 14,239 3,703 20,275 13,485 12,237 -
4,191 - - - 4,191 - -
125,423 - - - - - 125,423
1,168,633 563,253 152,931 46,199 163,414 12,337 230,499
86,953 (17,878) 49,017 (102,308) 40,238 (56,022)
22,911 15,643 4,303 (13,770) (29,087) -
109,864 (2,235) 53,320 (116,078) 11,151 (56,022)

109,864 107,629 160,949 44,871 56,022 -
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2024 12 31
(ARRS
LIBOR 2024 12
31
()
FAB  FAB
FAB  FAB
FAB
FAB
BRESGC
GOFRC FAB
GOFRC

)
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ooDoogd
CBUAE
ICAAP
1CAAP
CBUAE
1CAAP
2023

UAE UAE 2020 11 12

CBUAE/BSD/N/2020/4980 UAE

FAB UAE 15.0

UAE FAB

D-SIB 2024 2.0 D-SIB

15.0
2.5 FAB
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UAE 2020 22 CBUAE/BSD/N/2020/2016 IFRS
2019 12 31 IFRS (
IFRS
2024 12 31
CBUAE CET
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
11,048 11,048
53,583 53,558
46,171 36,393
13,084 14,099
527 478
(2,299) (1,185)
123 110
(4,844) (2,925)
(8,286) (7,844)
@ 109,107 103,732
- ©)
(423) (238)
(20,996) (21,986)
(166) (270)
(21,585) (22,501)
87,522 81,231
10,755 10,755
98,277 91,986
6,510 3,899
6,966 6,414
13,476 10,313
111,753 102,299
557,331 513,147
35,614 36,310
46,629 37,992
639,574 587,449
CET 13.7 13.8
15.4 15.7
17.5 17.4
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ESG

ESG
E&S
ESG E&S ESRP FAB
ESRP
ESG
ESG ESG

2024

FAB
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51

2023 12 31

2023 12 31 3,864
2023 12 31
2,699
657
2023 12 31
2,050
941 27

52

2024 12 31
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Consolidated statement of financial position

Asg at 31 December 2024
31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
Note AED million AED millon
Assets
Cash and balances with central banks 8 214,904 233,390
Investrnents at fair value through profit or loss g 56,028 45,209
Due from banks and financial institutions 10 23,724 25,266
Reverse repurchase agresments 11 69,661 78,504
Derivative financial instruments 43 45,893 46,421
Loans, advances and Islamic financing 12 528,897 483,954
Non trading investment securities 13 167 446 179,643
Other assets 14 49,440 41,332
Investrent in associates 15 4,963 1,501
Investrnent properties 16 8,169 8,162
Froperty and equipment 4,683 5,115
Intangibles 17 19,939 20,136
Tatal assets 1,213,247 1,168,633
Liabilities
Due to banks and financial institutions 18 71,896 71,528
Repurchase agreements 19 32,329 26,096
Commercial paper 20 17 888 19,659
Derivative financial instruments 43 53,758 51,002
Customer accounts and other depasits n 782,319 759,863
(rther Rabilities 2 52473 46,932
Term borrowings 23 64,788 63,939
Subardinated notes 24 6,861 4,191
Tetal labilities 1,082,372 1,043,210
Equity
Share capital 5 11,048 11,048
Share premium 53,583 53,558
Treasury shares - (7)
Statutory and special reserves 13,084 13,084
Other reserves 25 [3,997) 208
Tier 1 capital notes 26 10,755 10,755
Share based payment 250 250
Retained earnings 46,029 36,417
Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Bank 130,752 125,313
Non-controlling interest 123 110
Total equity 130,875 125,423
Total liabilities and equity 1,213,247 1,168,633

Tao the best of our knowledge, the consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial cendition, financkal
performance and cash flows of the Group as of, and for, the periods presented therein,

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directars and authorsed for ssue on 5 February 2025 and signed on its
behaif:

CeeanS

Group Chief Executive Officer Group Chief Financial Officer

The accompanying notes forms an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditor's report on awdit of the conscldated financial statesnents is se1 out on page 3 to 10.

11 of 116
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First icbu Dby Bark
Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 December 2024
N 31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED milllon AED million
Interest income 28,51 59,574 55,848
Interest expense 29,51 {42,100} (29,313)
Met interest Ineome 17474 16,535
Incame from Islamic financing and investing products a0 3474 2,810
Distribution an klamic deposits 31 {1,336) [1,306]
Met Income from Islamic financing and Investing products 2,138 1,604
Total net interest income and income from Islamic financing
and investing products 19,612 18,134
Fee and commisshon incame 32 5,520 4,283
Fee and commission expense az {1,762) [1,275)
Met fee and commission income 3,758 3,008
it foreign exchange gain 33 1,832 2,587
Met gain on investments and derivatives 4 5.399 3,704
Other operating Income L 1,024 23
Operating income 31,625 27,471
Gain on dispotal of stake in subsidiary and fair value gain on retained 16
interest - 284
Total Income including gain on disposal of stake In subsidiary and fair
value gain on retained interest 31,615 27,755
General, administration and other operating expenses a7 {?.ml {7,125}
Profit before net Impalrment charge and taxathon 13,838 20,630
Met impairment charge 38 13.924) [3.,078]
Profit before takation 19,914 17,552
Income Lax expense £ {2,818) [1,042]
Met profit for the year 17,096 16,510
Het profit attributable to:
Shareholders of the Bank 17,055 16,405
Non-controlling interest 41 105
Basic and diluted earnings per share (AED) 45 1.48 1.43
The scoompanying notes forms an integral part ol these consefidated financal statermaents.
Thie independent auditess repen oa audit of the consehdated Gnancal statesments is set out an sape 3 o 10
Reder note 51 fer changes 1o comparative liguses.
12 0f 116
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First icbu Dby Bark
Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2024
31 D 2024 31 Dac 2023
AED million AED milien
Met profit for the year 17,0096 16,510
Other comprahensive (loss)/income
Hems that will be reclassified subsequéntly to profit or loss
Exchange difference on translation of forelgn operations {1,929) | Taa)
Net change in fair value reserve during the year (incleding ECL) 324 1353
Income tax [=] -
items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Equity imvestments at falr value through other comprehensive income - net change
in fair value {1,702) {37
Rermeasurement of defined benefit obligations {13) (10}
Proposed Board aof Directars’ remuneration {45) {45}
Gther adjustments - 3
Incarme tax 176 .
Other comprehensive [loss)/Income far the year {3,1256) 265
Total comprehensive Income for the year 13,970 16,775
Camprehensive income attributable to:
Shareholders of the Bank 13,939 16,669
Non-controlling interest 31 106
Total comprehensive Income for the year 13,970 16,775
The acoempanying motes forms an integral part of these consetdated financal statements.
The independent auditee’s repet on audit of the conseidated Fnancial statements is set out on page 3 to 10,
13af 116
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FABT

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2024

31 Dec 2024 31 Dwec 2023
Naote AED million AED million

Cash flows from operating activities

Prafit before taxation 19,914 17,352
Adjustmants for:
Depreciation and amortsation of intangibles 37 1,087 981
Gain an sale of property and equipment {22} 1)
Galn on sale of investment properties - (148}
Gain on sale of fixed assats - 1}
Gain on disposal of stake in subsidiary and fair value gain on retained interest 36 - [284)
Net impairment charge Ex 4,650 3,585
Net other operating income 303 .
Accretad interest 452 532
16,384 22,116
Changes in:
Investments at fair value through profit or loss {10,758) 113,511)
Duie from central banks, banks and finandial instRtutions {814) 1027
Reverse repurchase agreements 8,835 [9.463)
Loans, advances and lslamic financing {49,976) {27,808}
Other assets (B,076) 110,023}
Due to banks and financial institutions 368 49,967
Repurchase agreements 6,233 {12,908)
Customer accounts and other deposits 22,516 54, 285
Derhvative financial instruments 1,E00 2,492
Other Habilities 3,958 8,357
470 31,235
Income tax paid, net of recoveries 2 (1,446) [1,058)
Beard of Directors' remuneration paid {45] {45}
Met cash jused in) f from operating activities (1021) 30,132
Cash flows from Investing activities
Net movement in non trading investmeant securities and investment in associates {12,060) (&, 702}
Net movement in investment properties {7 [1,041)
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary - 335
Purchase of property and equipment, net of disposals 97 11,071}
Net cash wsed in investing activities {11,970) (8479
Cash flaws from finaneing activities
Net moviemant of commercial paper {1,771} (13,080}
Dividend paid (7. 840) [5,728)
lssue of term borrowings 23 14,648 £,140
Repayment of term borrowings 3 {12,461) (8,357}
Issuance of subordinated note 2,755 3,673
Interest on Ther 1 capatal notes 26 {743) (553}
Net cash wsed in financing activities (5,412) {15,0:45)
Met {decrease] / increase in cash and cash equivalents {18,403) 6,608
Fareign currency translation adjustment [2,967) [206)
Cazh and cash equivalents at 1 January 257,198 150,796
Cash and cash equivalents 40 235,828 157,198

The sccompanying notes Torms anintegra’ gart of these consalidated financial statements.
The indegendent auditors report onaud of the consolidated fnancia stabements & set oul o page 3 &o 100
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements F AB
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Fieid Abui Dhals Bank
1 Legal status and principal activities

First Abu Dhabi Bank PISC [the "Bank”) ks a public joint stock company with a limited liability Incorparabed in the emirate of Abu Dhabi,
United Arab Emirates [WAE) under the Cormmercial Companies Law (Federal Law Number & of 1984 as amended). The registered address
af the Bank is P. 0. Box 56316, FAB Building, Khalifa Business Park, Al Qurum, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates.

These consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024, comprise the Bank and its subsidiaries (rogether
referred to as the “Group”). The Group is primarily engaged in corporate, consumer, private and investment banking activities, payment
services, management services, slamic banking activities, and real estate activities; and carrles out its operations through s local and
ovirseas branches, subsidiaries and representative offices located in the United Arab Emirates, Bahrain, Brazil, Cayman Istands, China,
Egypt, France, Hong Kong, India, Indanesia, Irag, Jordan?, Kingdom of Saudi Arabla, Kuwait, Lebanon®, Libya, Malaysia, Oman, Qatar?,
Singapore, South Karea, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States of America.

The Group's Islamic banking activities are cond ucted In accordance with kslamic Shariaa rules and principles as interpreted by the Internal
Shariah Supervision Committee [“158C") in accordance with the reselutions issued by the Higher Shariah Authority ("HS4&").

Thie Bank 5 listed on the Abu Dhabs Securities Exchange (Ticker: FAB). The consalidated firancial statements of the Group as at and for
the year ended 31 December 2024 are available upon request from the Group's registered office or at wabsite
hitp: w.bamkfab.com).

SUnder closure,
“The Bank has notified the Qatar Financial Centre Regulatory Authority [ “QFCRA"] that it will relingquish its Qatar Financial Centre (“QFC")
branch license and permanently close its QFC branch.

2 Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as management s satisfied that the Group has
adequate resources to contine as a going concarn for the fareseeable future, in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as ssued
by the International Accounting Standards Board [1ASB”) and the requirements of applicable laws in the UAE. IFRS Accounting Standards
comprise accounting standards issued by the 1458 4 well a3 Interpretations issued by the Intermational Finanzial Reporting Standard
Interpretations Commitbees (“IFRS 1C7).

The Bank is in compliance with applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 and the applicable provisians of Law
Ne. {1} of 2017 (as amended) concerning the financial system of the Government of Abu Dhabi and instructions issued by the Department
of Fimance as at the date of these consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 5 February 2025.
3 Basis of preparation

(a) Basis of measurement

Thiese consolidated financial staterments are prepared under the historical cost basis except for the following items, which are measured
on the following basis:

Items Measurement basis

Investments at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPLY) Fair walue

Derivative financial instruments Fair value

Debt and equity instruments designated at fair walue through other Ealevalua

comprehensive income (“FVOC™)

Investment properties Fair value

Recognised assets and liabilities designated as hedged itemns in qualifying | Adjusted for changes in fair value attributable to the risk
hedge relationships being hedged

Men-financial assets scquired in setthement of loans, advances and Islamic | Lower of faif value less costs to sell and the carrying
financing, amaount of the leans, advances and Islamic financing

{b) Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United Arab Emirates Dirhams [“AED™), which & the Group's presentation
currency. The presentation of the consolidated financial statements have been rounded to the nearest millions, unless otherwise
indicated. Items included in the financial stataments of each of the Group's owerseas subsidiaries and branches are measured using the
currency of the primary economic enviranment in which they operate,
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 First Al ol

& Changes in material accounting policies and disclosures
MNew and amended standards and interpretations adopted
The following amendments to existing standards and framewaork have been applied by the Group in preparation of these consolidated

financial statements. The adoption of the below amended standards did not result in changes to previowsly reported net profit ar equity
of the Group.

Deseription Effective fram
Amendment to [AS 1 = Non current liabilities with covenants 1 January 2024
Amendment to [AS 1 = Classification of liabilities as current or non current 1 January 2024
Amendment to IFRS 7 — Supplier finance arrangements 1 January 2024
Anvendmant to 145 7 - Statement of cash flows 1 January 2024
Amvendments to IFRS 16 — Lease liability in a sale and leaseback 1 January 2024

Standards issued but not yet effective

The following new standards and amendments to the existing standards are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 lanuary 2025 and early application is permitted. The Group Is currently evaluating the impact of the new standards and amendments
to the existing standards and expects to adopt them on the effactive date.

=  Amendments to |AS 21 = Lack of Exchangeability

=  IFRS 18 Presentation and disclosure in financial statements - This new standard contains requirements for all entities applying IFRS
for the presentation and disclosure of infarmation in financial statements.

=  Amendment to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 - Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments.

=  IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures = This new standard permits elipible subsidiaries to use IFRS
Accounting Standards with raduced distlosuras.

5 Basis of consolidation

{i) Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations under the acquisition method when the acguired set of activities and assets meets the
definition of a business and control is transferred to the Group,

In determining whether a particular set of activities and assets is a business, the Group assesses whether the set of assets and activities
atquired includies, a8 & minimem, an input and substantive process and whather the acquired set has the ability o produce autputs, The
Group has an option to apply a ‘concentration test” that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acguired set of activities and
assets is not a business, The optional concentration test is met if substantially all the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated
in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.

Thi cost af an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the contideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the
settlement of pre existing relationships. Such amounts are penerally recegnised in prafit or less. Acquisition related costs are expensed
a5 incurred and Included in general, administration and other operating expenses, except if related to the issue of debt or equity
securites.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, sconomic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously
held eguity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss s recognised in profit or loss. It is then
considered in the determination of goodwill, Any contingent consideration is measuned at fair value at the dave of acquisition, If an
obligation to pay contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument b classified as equity, then it is not
remeasured and settlement ks accounted far within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consbtderation |s remeasured at fair value at each
reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss,

Goadwill is initially meatured at cost, biing the exces of the aggregate of the conslderation transfaried and the amount recopnised far
non-cantrolling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and labilities assumed. If the fair value
of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, then the excess consideration is recognised immediately
in consolidated statement of profit or loss as & gain from bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, poodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses,
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5 Basis of consolidation (continued)
{i} Business combinations (continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill aoquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of
the Group's cash generating units ("CGUs”) that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irfespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. Cash generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are
tested for impairment annually, ar more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. An impairment lass is
recognised i the carrying amount of the CGU exceed its recoverable amount, Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGUs and part of
the operation within that unit s disposed of, the goodwill assodated with the disposed aperation is included In the carrying amount of
the operation when determining the gain of less on dispoesal. Goodwill disposed in these circu mstances is measured based on the relative
values of the disposed operation and the portion of the CGU retained.

i) Subsidiaries

IFRS 10 - “Conselidated financial state ments” governs the basis for conselidation where it establishes a single control model that applies
to all entities including special purpose entities or structured entities, The definition of contral is such that an investor contrals an investes
when it is exposed to, or has rights, to variable returns from its invalvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power aver the investes. To meet the definition of control in IFRS 10, all three criteria must be met, including:

[a)} the investor has power over an investee;
(b} the investor has exposure to, of rights, to variable returns from its invobement with the investes; and
[e) the investor has the ability to use its power over the investes to affect the amount of the investar's returns.

Generally, It s presumed that a majority of vating rights results in control. However, In individual elircumstances, the Group may still
exarcise control with a less than 50% shareholding or may not be able to exercise control even with ownership over 50% of an entity's
shares. When assessing whether it has power over an investee and therefore controls the variability of its returns, the Group considers
all ralevant facts and circumstances, including:

[a) The purpose and design af the investes,

{b) The size of the Group's holding of vating rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders.

e} Potentlal voting rights held by the Group.

[d} The redevant facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time the decision needs to ba made (including voting patterns at previous sharehobders’ meetings) and whether the
Group can direct those activities.

[e) Contractual arrangements such as call rights, put rights and liquidation rights,

[l ‘Whether the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns fram its invalvement with the investee, and has the power to affect
the variabdlay of sech returns,

Subsidiaries (including special purpose entities) are entities that are controlled by the Group. The Group controls the Investee if It meets
the contrel criteria, The Group reassesses whether it has control If there are changes to one or more of the elements of control. This
includes circumstances in which protective rights held become substantive and lead to the Group having power over an investee.

The finandal staterments of subsidiaries (including special purpose entities) are included in these consolidated financial statements from
the date that contred commences until the date that contral ceases. Profit or lass and each component of other comprehensive income
["OCI*) are attributed Lo the equity holders of the Bank and to the non-controlling interests ("MCI"), even if this results in the MO having
a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Bank's accounting policles.

The carrying amount of the Group”s investment in each subsidiary and the equity of each subsidiary are eliminated on consolidation. All
significant intra group balances, transactions and unrealised income and expenses (except for fareign currency transaction gains or
lossas) arising from Intra group transactions are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impalrment.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without loss of control, Is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Bank loses
control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, NCI and other components of equity, while
any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value at the date of loss of control.
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5 Basis of consolidation {continued)

(i) Subsidiaries (continued)

The consolidated financial statements comprises

[including special purpose entities):

FABT

Firsa Abw il Bk

the financial statements of the Bank and those of its following subsidiaries

Ao :::::t;:ﬁm Pilusialastndiios 3t m::; 31 Dec ;:;
First Al Dhabi Bank USA NN Curatan Ramking 104K N0
First Abu Dhanl Bank Securies - Sole Proprietorship LLE Urnibed Arab Emirates Hroverage 10 0
fibu Dhadi Mationa! Leasing LLC Uniited Arab Ermirates Lisating 104K a3
Ay Dhathl Mational Projemes P, 150 LIt Arab Ernlrates Praperty Managemest 106F% 0
FAR Private Bank (Suitse] S& Switt erland BRariking bl p L
First Abu Dhanl klamic Finanoe PISC Uiitesd Arab Ernirates elarid Finance 106 005
Abu Dhabl Securites Brokerage Egypt’ Egypt Hrofe rage S b5
NBAD Emplopee Share Options Limibed Liritbed Arabs Emnicaties Shares and Securitied 10rs {1
Matond’ Badk of Sbu DFahl Rearedentaibes Lida Beasil Repreieatatve ofice 10 i
FAR Giobal Markers [Cayrman) Lirmmed Cayrman llandy Finaacial insrinuton 1S 1A
Mawat Management Servioes « Dne Man Company LLE United Arab Emirates Sendons 105 b1
Ml Propertes - ok Proprietorsnip LLC (" Wismas™) Unithed Arab Emnirates Real eitate mvest mends 10 h 05
Shangrl La Dy bad Hotel LLC {5utmsidiany of Mismak) Lisitentt Araly Emmiraties sl psTane imwest ments 1044 100
First Merchant Intematianal LLE {“F&IT) Linibed Arab Emicated Real eitabe et ments 10:dFE DO
FAR Empioyment Servies LLC United Arab Emiraties RESOUSING SENCES 100 100
FAE Resourcing Senioes LLC {Subsiciany of Mawat) Uit Arab Emnicatis Resounting serviced T a0
karizon Guif Eiectromechanical Seoviors LLC, {"Horman®) Limited Arab Erniratos Feal estate npated sendioes 106 10
karizan Guit Genens® Comracting LLC Livimesd Arab Emmirates R ad eATahe neEing i 10 iR
POCS Ergineering LLC (Subsdiary of Horzon) Uinitesd Arab Emirates Rral pstate related senvioes 106K 100
:::;:::J’-’rﬂﬂi'am G Serot L Botaidcrof Uisived Arab Emmirates Riral matae felaled sendioes 106 L
FAR Sukuk Company Limted? Cayrran llandy SR QUrHOLE Enlity . -
First Guif Libyan Bani? Litym Bariing seovioes s S0
Firsy Gulf Information Techsoiogy LLC{"FGITT) Usined Arab Enicates ¥ Services Tir e
FAR Ghobal Business Servioes Limited Indlia ¥ Services 1008 00
:::;’:m;:; xf:;f_m i Kingeom of Saui Atabia | Finsacis nstitaren 100% 104
First Abu Dhainl Bani Msr S AE {*FAR Misr") Egypt Hariing 108 T
FAR Invest 5PV RSC Limites Urvited Arab Enirates Spetal DUFDGIE £ty 1008 00
19684 5PV BEYC Lmited Uribed Araib Emirates Special purpose endity 10 h (i
18688 5P RSE Limited Uinitend Araly Emnirales SOBCal DUrDOSE BTy 100% 1003
1968 Sy BSC Lirmited Uriited drab Emicated SoeciE) purpdie endity 10Fs -
19630 3P RSC Lirdded Limied Arab Emnimaies Soecal purpose Enlity 10Er =
Lime Contwmer Faanoe En'l‘.\'l Finaacial tervicesy 1 =

tUnder liquidation.

?Although the Bank owns 50% of the outstanding shanes of First Gull Libyan Bank, the investmient has been clasailied as a subsidiany as the Bank exescises
control over the invester because it casts the major ity of the votes on the Board of Directors,

"FAB Suxuk Company's entine isucd share capital is held by Magie FS Limited on trust for charitabie purposes.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 First Al el Sl

5 Basis of consolidation (continued)
[iii) Structured entities

A structured entity is established by the Group to perform a specific business objective. Structured entities are designed so that their
voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity, such as when any voting rights relate to
administrative tasks only and the relevant activities are directed by means of contractual arrangements. In assessing whether the Group
2¢t5 a5 a principal of has powar over investees in which it has an interest, the Group considers factars sueh a5 the purpode and design of
ther imvestes, its practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee; the nature of its relationship with the imvestee; and the
size of its exposure to the variabllity of returns of the investee.

The Group acts as a fund manager to a number of investment funds. Determining whether the Group controls such an investment fund
usually focuses on the assessment of the aggregate econamic interests of the Group in the fund including the investors right to appoint,
reassign or remove the fund manager. Whilst assessing control, the Group reviews all facts and circumstances to determine whether as
a fund manager the Group is acting as agent or principal. If deemed to be a principal, the Group controls the fund and would consclidate
them else as an agent the Group would account for them as investments in funds.

The Group®s interest in investrnent funds in which it acts as an agent is set out below, these funds are included as part of non trading
Investrment securities measured at fair value through ather camprehensive income,

Type of Structured Entity Mature and purpose Imterest held by the Group

Investment funds managing | Generate fees from managing assets on behalf of | Investments in wnits issued by the fund
ASSRTS third party Investors amounting to AED 2 milllen for 31 December
2024 (31 Decermnber 2023 AED 3 millicn)

[iv) Joint Arrangements and Investments in Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decislons of the entity but no control or joint control aver those palicies. Investment in assoclates s accounted
under the equity method of accounting.

A joint arrangemant i an arrangement between the Group and othar parties where the Group aleng with one ar mere parties has joint
cantrol by virtue of a contractual agreement. Joint arrangement may be a joint operation or a joint venture. A joint operation is a joint
arrangement whereby the parties that have joint contral of the arrangerment have rights to and record their respective share of the
asets, and abligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangernent,

A joint venture Is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint contral of the arrangement, have rights to the net assets of
the joint arrangement and, thus, are accounted under the equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is recognised initially at cost, which includes transaction costs, Subsequent to
Initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group's share of the prafit or loss and OO of equity accounted
investees, until the date on which significant influence ar joint controd ceases.

On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the Investment over the group's share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and lisbilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired. Goedwill
is neithier amartised nor individually tested for impairment separateby,

The consalidated statement of prafit of loss reflects the Group’s share of the results of aperations of the asaociates. Any change in other
comprehensive income of those investees ks presented as part of the consolidated statement of ather comprehensive income. In addition,
when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the assoclate, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period a5 the Group, When necessany, adjustments ane
madea to bring the accounting palicies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessany to recognise an impairment koss on investment in
Its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
Impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the assaciate and its carrying value, and then recognises the boss in the consolidated statement profit or loss, The Group discontinues
the use of the equity method from the date whan the investment ceases to be an associate of a joint venture,
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5 Basis of consolidation (continued)
{iv) loint Arrangements and Investments in Associates (continued)

The list of associates are as follows:

Legal Name Country of incorporation | Principal activities m
BLP Growth Haldings Limited United Arab Emiratis |Payrnient sendces - AR
Meptune Project Holding 1 Limited United Arab Emirates Payment services 4% -

(LAEN"NPHL")

Midmak Properties LLC United Arab Emirates |Real estate investments 16% 16%
Emirates Digital Wallet LLC United Arab Emirates |Payment services 23% 23%

{v) Non-controfling interests

Nen-controlling interests are measured initially at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of
acquisition. Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions,

{wi}) Fiduciary assets

Thie Group provides trust and other fiduciany services that result in the halding or investing of assets on behalf of its clients. Assets held
in a fiduciary capacity are not reparted in the consclidated financial statements, as they are nat assets of the Bank.

B Material accounting policies
{a) Financial assets and liabilities

{i} Recognition and Inftial measurement

The Group initially recognises loans, advances and Islamic financing, deposits, debt securities issued and subardinated liabilities an the
date an which they are ariginated. aAll other financial instruments (excluding regular way purchases and sales of financial assets) are
recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the settlement date, j.e. the date the asset is delivered to or
received from the counterparty. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are those that reguire delivery of assets within the
time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace,

A financial asset or financial Hability s measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at falr value through prafit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable on issue. The fair value of a financial assets and Habilites on initial recognition s generally its
transaction price.

{i) Classification

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depands on their contractual terms and the business madel far managing
the instruments. On initial recognition, a fimancial asset is dassified as measured at: amortised cost or Fair Valve through Other
Comprehensive Income [“FVOC") or Falr Value through Profic or Less ["FVTRL").

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if @ meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FWTPL:

= the financial asset is held within a business modal with the abjective to hold financial assets ta collect contractual cash flows; and
& thecontractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flaws that are solely payment of principal and interest
|"5PPI).

Adebt instrument is measured at FYOC only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

= the fimancial asset Is held within a business model whose objective is achleved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets; and

= the cantractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates ta cash flows that are that are solely payment of principal
and interest outstanding.

Oninitial recognition af an equity investment that is net held for trading, the Group may irrevecably elect to present subsequent changes

in fair value in OCI, This election i made on an investment by investment basis.
21o0f116
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6 Material accounting policies (continued)

[a) Financial assets and liabilities [continued)

{l) Classkflcathon [continued)

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FWTPL,

In addition, on initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be
measured at amortised cost or at FVOQ as FYTPL if daing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would
atherwise arise,

Debt and equity Instruments are classified as either financlal Habilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangement. All other financial liabilities, are measured at amortised cost using effective interest rate ["EIR™} method or at FWTPL when
they are held for trading.

Business model assessment

The Group maket an assessment of the abjective of a business madael in which an asset i held at a portfolio level because this best
reflects the way the business is managed and information Is provided to management. The information considered includes:

«  the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In particular, whether
management's strategy focuses on eaming contractual inbarest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the
duration of the financial assets to the duration of the Habilites that are funding those assets or realising cash flows through the sale
of the assets;

*  how the performance of the partfalio i evaluated and reported to the Group's man agement;

= the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business modal) and its strategy
for haw thowe ritks are managed;

= how managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or
the contractual cash flows collected); and

= the frequency, volume and tming of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations about futwre sales activity.
However, information about sales activity is not considered In salation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the Group's
stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how much cash flows are realised.

The business model assessmant & based on the reasonably expected scenarios without taking "worst case’ or "stress case’ scenarios into
account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way that & different from the Bank's ariginal expectations, the Bank does
net change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that business model but incorporates such information when
assessing newly ofiginated or newly purchased financial assets going forward,

The Group's consumer and corporate banking business comprises primarily laans to customers that are held for collecting contractual
cash flows. In the consumer business the loans comprise mortgages, overdrafts, unsecured personal lending and credit card facilities.
Sales of loans from these portfolios are very rare.

Financial azsets that are either held for trading or managed and whose performance B evaluated an a fair value basis are measured at
FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held Both to collect contractual cash flows and to el financial
assets,

Certain debt securities are held by the Group in a separate portfobo for long term yield. These securities may be sold, but such sales are
not expected to be more than infrequent. The Group considers that these securities are held within a business model whose abjective is
to hold assets to collect the contractual cash flows. Certain other debt securities are held by the Group in separate portfolios to maet
everyday liguidity neads. The Group seeks to minimise the costs of managing these liquidity needs and therefore actively manages the
return on the portfolio. That return consists of collecting contractual cash flows as well a5 gains and losses from the sale of financial
assarts, The investment strategy often results in sales activity that is significant in value.

The Group considers that these financial assets are held within 2 business model whose obfective & schieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets.

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest {"SPPI]

For the purposes of this assessment, “principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition and may change
aver the life of the financial assets due to repayments of principal or amortisation of the premium/discount. ‘Interest’ is defined as
considerathon for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particullar

period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs [like liguidity risk and administrative costs etc. ), as well as profit margin.
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6 Material accounting policies (continued)

{a) Financial assets and labilities (continued)

{il) Classification [continued)

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest ("SPPI) (continued)

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes
assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such
that it would not meet this condition. in making the assessment, the Group considers:

contingent events that would change the amount and tming of cash flows;

leverage features;

prepayment and extension terms;

terms that limit the Group's claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non recourse asset arrangement); and
features that modify consideration of the time value of money [e.g. periodical reset of interest rates).

- s & 8 @

The Group holds a portfolie of long term fiked rate loans for which thie Group has the option to propose to revise the interest rate at
periadic reset dates. These reset rights are limited to the market rate at the time of revision. The barrowers have an option to either
atcept the revised rate or redeem the loan at par without penalty. The Group has determined that the contractual cash flows of these
loans are SPP| bacause the option varies the interast rate in a way that is consideration for the time value of moneay, credit risk, othar
basic lending risks and costs associated with the principal amount outstand ing.

Reclassifications

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Group changes its business
model far managing financial assets.

Financial liabilities are never reclassified,
{ilf] Derecognition
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire
[note & [a}iiv]), or it transfiers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are ransferred or in which the Group nefther transfers noe retains substantially all of the
risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain contrel of the financial asset

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the
portion af the asset deracognised) and the sum of [i) the consideration received {including any new asset obtained less any new liability
assumed]) and (il) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in OC1is recognised in profit or loss.

Any cumulative gain or loss recognised in OC in respect of equity investment securities designated as at FVOLQ & not recognised in profit
or loss on derecegnition ef such securities,

Any interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that ks created or retained by the Group is recognised as a
separate asset or lability,

The Graup enters into thansactions whereby it transfers assets recopnised on 4 contalidated statement of finangal position but retains
either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferned assets or a portion of them, In such cases, the transferred assets
are not derecognised. Examples of such transactions are securities lending and sale and repurchase transactions.

‘When assets are sobd to a third party with a concurrent total return swap on the transferred assets, the transaction is accounted for as a
secured financing transaction similar to sale and repurchase transactions, because the Group retains all or substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of such assets,

In transactions in which the Group neither retains nor transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of awnership of a financial dsset
and it retains controd over the asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined
by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset in which case, the Bank also recognises an assoclated
liakility. The Bank considers control to be transferred if and only if, the transferee has the practical ability to sell the asset in its entiraty
to an unrelated third party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without imposing additional restrictions an the transfer.
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6 Material accounting policies (continued)
[a) Financial assets and liabilities [continued)
{iii) Derecognition [continued)

Derecognition of financlal assets (continued)

In certain transactions, the Group retains the obligation to service the transferred financial asset for a fee. The transferred asset is
derecognised if it meets the derecognition criteria. An asset or liability is recognised for the servicing contract if the servicing fiee is mare
than adequate (asset) or is less than adequate (Kability) for parforming the servicing,

Derecognition of financial [kabilithes

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expired. Where an existing
financlal labiity Is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing llability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the ariginal liability and the recognition of a
new liabiliy. The difference between the carrying value of the onginal financial ability and the consideration paid is recognised in profit
ar lass,

{v] Madifications of financlal assets and financial liabilkthes
Modification of financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified asset are substantially
different.

If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights ta cash flows from the ariginal financial asset are deemed to have
expired, In this case, the original financial asset is derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised at fair walue plus any eligible
transaction costs. Any fees received as part of the modification are accounted for as follows:

# fiees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent reimbursement of eligible transacthon
costs are included in the initial measurement of the assat; and
=  other feesare included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition.

If cash flows are modified when the borrower & in financial difficulties, then the objective of the modification is usually to maximise
recavery of the orfiginal contractual terms rather than to originate a new asset with substantially different terms, If the Group plans to
modify a financlal asset in a way that would result in forgiveness of cash flows, then It first considers whether a portion of the asset
should be written off before the modification takes place, This approach impacts the result of the guantitative evaluation and means
that the derecognition criteria are not usually met in such cases.

If the madification doasn't result into cash flows that are substantially different, then a financial asset does not result in derecognition
of the financial asset. In this case, the Group first recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset using the original effective
interese rate of the asset and recognises the resulting adjustment as a modification gain or lass in profit or loss, For flaating rate financial
assets, the original effective interest rate used to calculate the mod#fication gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the
time of the madification. Any costs or fees incurred and fees recefvable as part of the moadification adjust the gross carrying amount of
the modified financial asset and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial asset.

Madification of financial liabilities

Thie Group derecognises a financial lability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified lability are substantially
different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms i recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and consideration paid & recognised in profit or loss. Consideration paid includes non
financial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of liabilites, including the new rmodified financial Habiliy.

If the medification of a financial liability & not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised cost of the labdity i recaloulated by
discaunting the madified cash flows at the ariginal effective interest rate and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or lees, For
fleating rate financial Habtlities, the original effective interest rate used to cakulate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect
current market terms at the time of the madification, Any costs and fees incurred ane recognited a3 an adjustment to the carrying amaunt
af the liability and amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial liability by recomputing the effective interest rate aon the
InsTrument.
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6 Material accounting policies (continued)
[a) Financial assets and liabilities [continued)
{v] Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are generally reported gross in the consolidated statement of financial position except when [FRS
Accounting Standards netting criteria are maet. Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amaunt precented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and anly when, the Group has an enforceable legal right to set off the recognised amounts and
Intend either to settle on a net bask, or to realise the asset and settle the Hability simultaneoushy.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when parmitted under IFRS Accounting Standards, or for gains and losses arising
from a group of similar transactions such as in the Group's trading acthvity.

{wi] Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer 3 liability in an orderly transaction betwaen market
participants at the measuremnent date in the principal market, or in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has
access at that date regardless af whether that price is directly observable or estimated vsing valuation technigue. The fair walue of &
liakility reflects its nen performance risk. The Group applies judgement as described below to assess if there is gquoted price available in
an active market, which determines the level in the fair value hierarchy inta which the fair value instrument is classified.

When quoted price is avallable, the Group measures the fair value of an financial instrument wsing the quoted price In an active market
for that instrument, & market is regarded asactive if transactions for the asset or lability take plage with sufficient frequency and volurme
to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. If there is no gquoted price in an active market, then the Group uses the valuation
technigues that maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation
technigue incorporates all the factors that market participants would consider in pricing a transaction.

Thee best evidence of the fair valee of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction price — i.e. the fair value of
the consideration given or received. If the Group determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price
and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quated price in an active market for an identical asset or liakility nor based on a valuation
technigue that uses only data from observable markers, the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the
difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference i recognised in the
caonsalidated statement of profit or loss on an appropriate basts aver the |ife of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is

supported wholly by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.

If an financial asset or a financial liability measurad at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, the Group measures assets and long
pasitions at a bid price and liabilithes and short positions at am ask price.

Portfolios of financial assets and financial labilities that are exposed to market risk and credit risk that are managed by the Group based
on the net expasure to either market or credit risk, are measured based on a price that would be recelved to sell a net long position or
paid to transfer a net short position for a particular risk exposure. Portfolio level adjustments — e.g. bid ask adjustment or credit risk
adjustments that reflect the measurement based on the net exposure = are allocated to the individual assets and liabilities based an the
relative risk adjustment of each of the individual instrurments in the portfalio,

The fair value of investrments in mutual funds, private equity funds or simBar investment vehicles are based on the latest net asset value
published by the fund manager, Far other investments, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is determined by reference to the price of

recent market transactions involving similar investments, or based on the expected discounted cash flows.

Thie fair valua of a financial liability with a demand feature [demand deposit) is not less than the amount payable on demand, discounted
fram the first date on which the amount could be required to be paid.

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the falr value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period during which the change
has accurred,

{wi) Impairment

The Group recognises loss allowances for Expected Credit Loss (ECL) on the following financial instruments that are not measured at
FVTPL:

& Balances with centeal banks;
*  Due from banks and financial institutions;
= Reverse repurchase agreements;
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6 Material accounting policies (continued)
[a) Financial assets and liabilities [continued)
{wi) Impairment (continued)

Maon trading investrment at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt securities);
Laans, advances and Islamic financing

Other financlal assets;

Undrawn commitment to extend credit; and

Guarantees.

No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetima ECL, except for the following, for which they are measured as 12-
month ECL:

& debt investrment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
#*  other fingncial instruments en which credit risk has not increased significantly singe their initial recognition (note 50 [a)).

The Group considers the above debt investment security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating s eguivalent to the globally
understood definition of ‘investmant grade’.

Cradit loss allowances are measured using a following approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since arigination;

=  5tage 1 —Where there is no significant increase in credit risk (“SICR™) sinoe initial recognition of a financial instrument, an amount
equal to 12 menths expected credit logs is recorded. The expected credit loss is computed wsing a probability of default occurring
ovar the next 12 months, For those instruments with a remaining maturity of less than 12 months, a probability of default
carresponding to remakning term to maturity Is wsed.

L] Stage 2 - When a financial instrument experiences a SICR subsequent to origination but i5 not considered to be impaired, it is
included in Stage 2. This requires the computation of expected credit loss based on the probability of default over the remaining
estimated life of the financial instrument.,

*  Stapge 3 — Financial instruments that are considered to be impaired are included in this stage. Similar wo Stage 2, the allowance for
credit loss captures the lifetime expected credit loss.

=  Purchased or originated creditimpaired (POCI) = POCI assets are financial assets that are credit impaired on initial recognition. FOCI
assets are recorded at fair value at origination. The ECL allowance Is only recognised or released to the extent that there is a
subsequent change in the expected credit loss.

Measuremant of ECL
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are:

*  Probability of default (“PD");
*  Exposure at default [“EAD"); and
o Loss gheen default (“LGD").

These parameters are generally derived from statistical models and other historical data. They are adjusted to reflect forward loaking
information. Additicnally, the Group has an extensive review process to adjust ECL for factors not available in the model.

Details of thse statistical parametersfinputs are a3 follows:

+  PD-The prabability of default & an estimate of the likelihood of default aver a given time horizon.

*  EAD-The exposure at default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, considering expected changes in the exposure
after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interast, whether scheduled by contract or otherwise expected
drawdowns on committed facilities, and accrued interest from missed paymants.

& LGD - The loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs ata given time. |t is based on the
difference betwean the contractual cath flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, including from the realization
of any collateral or credit enhancements that are integral to the loan and not reguired to be recognised separatehy. It Is usually
expressed as a percentage of the EAD.
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& Material accounting policies {continued)

[a) Financial assets and liabilities [continued)

{wi) Impairment (continued)

Measurement of ECL |continued)

ECL are a probability weighted estimate of credit loss. They are measured as follows:

=  financial assets that are not credit impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls (e, the difference
between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Greup expects to recelve);

#«  financial assets that are credit impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross canrying ameunt and the present
value of estimated future cash flows;

& undrawn loan commitments: a5 the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to the Group if
the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive; and

=  financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts that the Group expects to recover.

Restructured financial assets

If the tarms of a financial asset are renegatiated or modified ar an existing financial asset is replaced with a new one due to financial
difficulties of the barrower, then an assessment 5 made of whether the financial asset should be derecognised and ECL are measured as
follows.

o if the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash flows arising fram the
madified financial asset are included in calculating the cash shortfalls fram the existing asset.

= ifthe expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair value of the new asset is treated
as the final cash flow from the extsting financial asset at the time of its derecagnition. This amaunt is included in calculating the cash
shortfalls from the existing financial asset that are discounted from the expected date of derecognition to the reporting date using
the original effective interest rate of the existing financial asset.

Credit impaired financial assets

At wach reparting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial assets carried at FVOC,
and finance lease receivables are credit-impaired [referred to as "Stage 3 financlal assets'). A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when ane
or mare events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit im paired includes the following observable data:

significant finandial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

the restructuring of Loans, advances and Iskamic financing by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;
itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or another financial recrganisation; or

the disappearance of an active markat for a security because of financial difficulties.

Purchased or Originally Credit Impaired ["POCI"] financial assets

For POCI assets, lifetime ECL ate incorporated on initial recognition. The amaunt recognised a3 a loss allowance subseguent to initial
recognition is equal to the changes in lifetime ECL since initial recognition of the asset.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the consolidated statement of financial position
Less allowances for ECL are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position a5 follows:
financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assats;
=  loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision reported under ather liabilities; and
*  debt instruments measured at FVWOCL: no boss allowance is recognised in the consclidated statement of financial position because

the carrying amount of thesa assets is their fair value. However, the loss allowance is disclosed and is recognised in the fair value
FiESEnE,
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6 Material accounting policies (continued)
[a) Financial assets and liabilities [continued)
il Impairment (continued)

Write off

Financial assets are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering a financial asset in its
entirety or a partion thereof. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the borrower does not have assets of sources
af income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write off, This assessment is carried out at the
individual asset level,

Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in 'net impairment charge’ in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities to comply with the Group's procedures for recovery
of amounts due,

Central Bank of the UAE {“CBUAE") provision requirements

As par the new Credit Risk Managemant Standards ("CRMS") issued by CBUAE and notice no, CBUAE/BIS/2024,/5131 dated 17 October
2024, if the general/collective provision cumulatively is higher than the impairment allowance computed under IFRS 9, the differential
should be transferred to an “Impairment Reserve” as an approgriation from the retained earnings. The impairment reserve will not be
avallable far payment of dividend.

{b) Cash and cash eguivalents

Far the purpose of consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash eguivalents comprise notes and coins on hand, unrestricted
balances held with central banks and highly liquid financial assets with ariginal maturities of three months of less from the date of its
acquisition.

Cash and cash equivalents are non derivative financial assets measured at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial
pasition,

{) Duwe from banks and financial institutions

These are non derivative financial assets that are measured at amortised cost, less any allowance for impairment.

(d) Investments at fair value through profit or loss

These are securities that the Group acquire principally far the purpose of selling in the near term or holding as a part of portfolio that is
managed together for short term profic or position taking. These assets are Initally recognised at fair value and subsequently also
measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position. All changes in fair values are recognised as part of profit of
loss.

[e) Reverse repurchase agreements

Assets purchased with a simultaneous commitment to resell at a fived price on a specified future date are not recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position, The amount paid to the counterparty under these agreements i recorded as reverse
repurchase agreements in the consolidated statement of financial position. The difference between purchase and resale price is treated
a5 interest income and accreed over the life of the reverse repurchase agreement and charged to the consolidated statement of profic
or loss using the effective interest rate method,

{f] Loans, advances and lslamic financing

Loans, advances and Islamic financing” captions in the consolidated statement of financial position include:

= loans and advances measured at amortised cost; they are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs,
and subseguently at their amortised cost using the effective interest method;

®  lease receivables;

=  loans and advances measured at FVTPL or designated as at FYTPL; these are measured at fair value with changes recognised in profit

or kass; and
- Islamic financing and investing contracts.
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6 Material accounting policies (continued)
[f) Loans, advances and kslamic financing (continued)

Loans, advances and Islamic financing are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
activee market and that the Group does not intend to sall immediately or in the near term.

When the Group is the lessor ina lease sgreement that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to awnarship of the
atsat to the lessee, the arrangement is classified as a finance lease and a receivable equal to the net investment in the lease is recognised
and presented within bvans and advances.

In detarmining whether an arrangement is a lease, the Group ascertains the substance of the arrangement and assesses whether the
fuFfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and whether the arrange ment conveys a right to use
the assets,

These are derecognised when either the barrowar repays it abligations or the loan are sold or written off.
Islamic financing and irvesting contracts

The Group engages in Sharia®a compliant Islamic banking activities through various Islamic contracts such as ljara, Forward ljara,
Murabaha, Mudaraba and Wakala.

ljara / Forward ljara

ljara J Forward ljara is a mode of islamic financing whereby the Group {lessor) leasas an asset acquired by the Group based an the
customer's [lessee) request and promise to lease or forward lease the assets for a specific period apatnst certaln rental / advance rental
instalments. At the end of the financing tenor and upon settlement of the finantial obligation agreed between the lassor and the lesses,
the ownership of the asset shall be transferred to the lessee via exercise of a purchase f sale undertaking. Alsa, the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards related to the ownership of the leased asset to the lessee,

Murabaha

A sale contract whereby the Group sells to a customer commadities and other assets at an agreed upon cost price plus marked up profit
[Deferred Sale Price). The Group purchases the assets based on a promise received from customer to buy the item purchased according
to specific terms and conditions. The Deferred 5ale Price of the Murabaha is quantifiable and fixed at the commencement of the
transactian,

Mudaraba

A contract between the Group and a customer, whereby one party provides the funds [Rab Al Mal} and the other party (the Mudarib)
Inwvests the funds in a sharah compliant project or a particular activity and any profits generated are distributed between the parties
according to the profit shares that were pre-agreed in the contract. The Mudarib would bear the loss in case of negligence or viclation
af any of the terms and conditions of the Mudaraba, otherwise, losses are borne by the Rab Al Mal.

Wakala

An agreement between the Group and customer whereby one party (Muwakkilp provides a certain sum of money to an agent [Wakil),
wha invests it according to specific conditions and expected return in consideration of performance incentive andfor a certain fee based
an the Wakala agreement, The expected return payable to the Muwakkil is subject to actual return generated under the Wakalah
investment. In case the actual return is bess than the expected return, the agent shall be liable to any is obliged to guarantee any lossas
ar shortfall arses due to its negligence or vielation of any of the terms and conditions of the Wakala otherwise, losses are borne by the
Muwakkil, In case the actual return i more than the expected return, thee Muwakkil shall be entithed to the sxpected return amaount and
any excess amount shall be entithed by the Wakil as incentive. The Group may be Wakil or Muwakkil depending on the nature of the
transaction.

{g] Non trading investment securities

The ‘non trading investment securities’ caption in the conselidated statement of financial poesition includes:;

*  debt investment securities measured at amortised cost; these are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction
casts, and subsequently at their amortised cost under the effective interest method;
dabt securities measured at FWOCI: and

equity investment securities designated as at FWOCI.
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& Material accounting policies (continued)
[g) MNon trading investment securties [continued)

For debt securities measured at FWOCI, gains and bosses are recognised in OCl, except for the following, which are recognised in prafit or
less in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost:

= interest revenue using the effective interest mathod;
= ECLand reversals; and
= foreign exchange gains and losses,

When debt security measured at FYOC is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OC! i reclassified fram
equity to profit or loss.

Thee Group elects to present changes in the fair value of certain inestments in squity instruments that are not held for trading in OCL
The election is made an an instrument by instrument basks on Initial recognition and is irrevocable. Falr value gains and bosses on such
equity instruments are never reclassified to profit or loss and no impairment |s recognised in profit ar loss. Dhvidends are recognised in
prafit or loss unless they clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment, in which case they are recognised in OCI,
Cumulative gains and losses recognised in OO are transferred to retained earnings on dispesal of an investment. These investments are
hield for lang term strategic purposes,

(h) Investment properties

Investment properties are defined as land, a building of part of a building (or a combination of these including property under
construction) held to earn rentals andyor for capital appreciation or both. Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs, Subsaguent 1o initial recognition, investmint properties are measured at fair value which reflects market conditions
at the balance sheet date, Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss under "Other operating incarme’ in the year in which they arlse.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently

withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit s expected from its deposal. Any gains or losses an the retirement or dispasal of
an investment progerty are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss statement in the year of retirement or disposal.

{i} Property and equipment
{i] Recognition and measuremdent
Iverns of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreclation and accumulated impalement losses, if any.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is integral to the
functionality of the related egquipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an e of property and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from dsposal with the
carrying amount of property and equipment and are recognised net within 'Other operating income’ in the consolidated statement of
prafit or boss.

(] Subsequent costs

Subsequent expenditures are only capitalised when it i probable that the future economic benefits of such expenditures will flow to the
Group. Ongoing expenses are charged to consolidabed statement of prafit or less as incurred.

If significant parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, then they are accounted for as separate items [major
camponents) of property and equipment.

{ill] Depreciation
Depreciation is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an assat over its useful life. Depreciation is calculated using the

straight line method over their estimated useful lves and k& generally recopnised in profit or loss. Freehold Land and Capital work in
pragress is not depreciated.
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6 Material accounting policies (continued)
{i} Property and eguipment [continued)
{ill] Depreclation [continued)

The astimated useful lives of assets for the current and comparative period are as follows:

Buildings and villas 2010 50 years
Office furniture and eguipment 5 to 10 years.
Fit-out leased pramises 3 to 10 years
Safies 10years
Computer systems and eguipment 3t T years
‘Vehicles 3 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual valees are riviewied At every reporting datie at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

{iv] Capital work in progress

Capital work in progress assets are assets in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes, are carried at
cest, bess any recognised impairment loss, Costincludes all direct cost attributable to design and construction of the property capitalised
in accordance with Group's accounting policies. When the assets are ready for the intended wuse, the capital work in progress is
transferred to the appropriate property and eguipment category and 15 depreclated in accerdance with the Group's accounting pelicies,

{v] Impalrment of non financlal assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses the carrying amounts of its non financial assets (other than investment properties and
deferred tax astets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, thenthe asset's recoverable
amaunt is estimated. An impairment ks is recagnised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU excesds its recoverable amount,

Goodwill i tested annually for impairment. For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that
pgenerates cash inflows from continuing use that i largely independent of the cash inflaws of ather assets or CGUs, Goodwill arising fram
4 business combination is allocated vo OGUs or group of OGUs that are expected benefit from the synergles of the combination.

The ‘recoverable amount’ of an assat or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less cost to sell. "Value in use” is based on
the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using pre tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of maney and the risk specific to the assat or CGL.

Thi Group's cofparate assets do ot penerate separate cash inflows and are used by mode than oae CGL. Corparati dsets ane allacated
to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested for impairment as part of the testing of the CGUs to which the corporate assets
are allocated.

Impairment kosses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the camrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of any other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill 5 mot reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss Is reversed only to the extent that the
Hset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation er amortisation, If
no iImpairment loss had been recognised.

{i} Intangible assets

The Group’s intangible assets other than goodwill include intangible assats arising out of business combinations. The cost of intangible
assats acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisitton, Intangible assets scquired separately are measured
an initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets ane carried at cost less any accumulated amontisation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill arising on acquisition represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquires and the acquisition date fair value of any prévious equity interest inthe acquinee over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest measured at fair value
Is bess than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly
in the incame statement,
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6 Material accounting policies (continued)
(i} Intangible assets (continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, poodwill and license acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the CGUs, or
groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is
allecated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, Goodwill
is manitared at the operating segment level.

Goodwill and license impalrment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher
of value in use and the fair value less costs of dsposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently
reversed.

The wseful lives of intangible assets are assessed as aither finite or indefinite. Intangible assats with finite lives are amortised over the
useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired, The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each
reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption af future economic benefits embodied in
the asset are considered ta modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting
estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite Fves is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Impairment ksses are recognised in profit or loss, They are allocated first to reduce the canrying amount of any goodwill allecated to the
CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basiks. An impalrment loss in respect of goadwill
i% not reversed, For other intangible assets, an impairment loss i reversed only to the extent that the asset’s canrying amount dees not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised,

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain
or kot arising upon derecognition of the asset, caloulated as the difference betwean the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset is included in the statement of profit or loss,

The estimatid useful lives of the intangibli assets for the caleulation of amortsation are as follows:

Customer relationships. 7.5 to 15 years
Core deposits 2.5 years to 15 years
Brand 20 years
License Indefinite life

{k] Collateral pending sale

Real estate and other collateral may be acquired as the result of settlement of certain loans, advances and l1slamic financing and are
recorded as assets held for sale and raported in “Other assets”, The asset acquired is recorded at the lower of its Fair value less costs to
sell and the carrying amount of the kans, advances and Islamic financing (net of impairment allowance) at the date of exchange. No
depreciation is provided in respect of assets held for sale. Any subsequent write down of the acquired asset to fair value less costs to sell
Is recaorded as an impairment loss and included in the consolidated statement of prafit or loss. Any subsequent increase in the fair value
less cests to sell, to the extent this does not exceed the cumulative impalement loss, is recognised in the consolidated statement of profic
or loss. The Group's collateral disposal policy is in line with the respective regulatory requirement of the regions in which the Group
operates.

{I} Due to banks and financial institutions, customer accounts and other deposits and commercial paper

Due to banks and financial institutions, customer accounts and other deposits and commercial paper are financial labilices and are
initially recognised at their fair value minus the transaction costs and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective
Interest rate method.

{m) Repurchase agreements

Assets sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a fixed price on a specified future date are not derecognised from the
statemaent of the financial position as the Group retains substantially all of the risks and reward of ownership. The Bability to the
counterparty for amounts received including accrued interest under these agreements is shown as repurchase agreements in the
consolidated staternent of fina nclal position, The difference between sale and repurchase price Is treated as interest expense and accrued
over the lifa of the repurchase agreement and charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss wsing the effective interest rate
method.
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6 Material accounting policies [continued)
(A} Term borrowings and subordinated notes

Term borrowings and subordinated notes include convertible notes that can be converted into share capital at the option of the halder,
where the number of shares issued do not vary with changes in their fair value, are accounted for as compound financial instruments.
The equity component of the convertible notes is calculated as the excess of issue proceeds over the present value of the future interast
and principal payments, discounted at the market rate af interest applicable to similar labilties that do not have a conversion sptian.

Term barrawing which are designated at FUTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of the liability that is attributable to changes in
its eredit risk is presented in OCH a5 a labilivy credit reserve, On initkal recognition of the financial kability, the Group assesses whether
presenting the amount of change in the fair value of the liability that is attributable to credit risk in OCl would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or koss. This assessment is made by using a regression analysis to compare:

- the expected changes in the fair value of the liability related to changes in the credit risk; and
= the impact on prafit or boss of expected changes in falr value of the related Instruments.

Amounts presented in the liability credit reserve are not subsequently transferred to profit or less, When these instruments are
derecopnised, the related cumulative amaunt in the liability credit reserve is transferred ta retained earnings,

Term borrowings and subordinated notes withaut canversion optian and that are net at fair value through profit or loss are financial
liakilities which are initially recognised at their fair value minus the transaction costs and subsequently measured at their amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method and adjusted to the extent of fair value changes for the risks being hedged.

(o) Treasury shares

Own equity mstruments which are acquired (treasury shares) are deducted fram the equity and accounted for at welghted average cost.
Ne gain ar boss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancelation of the Bank's own
equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognised in share premium. If
treasury shares are distributed as part of a bonus share issue, the cost of the shares is charged against retained earnings. Voting rights.
refating to treasury shares are nullified for the Group and no dividends are allocated to them respectively.

[p) Share based payment

On the grant date fair value of options granted to staff is estimated and the cost is recognised as staff cost, with a corresponding increase
in equity, over the period required for the staff to become unconditionally entitled to the options. The amount recognised as an expense
Is adjusted to reflect the number of share options for which the related service conditions are expected to be met; as such the amount
ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number of share options that do meet the related service and non market
performance conditions at the vesting date, These shares may contribute o the calculation of dilutive EPS onci they are deemed as
potential ordinary shares,

[g) Interest income and expense
{i} Effective interest rate

Interest income and expense are recopnised in profit or (o8 using the effective interest method, The ‘efective interest rate’ is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or recaipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

= the gross camrying amount of the financlal asset; or
= the amortsed cost af the financial Hability.

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than purchased or ariginated credit impaired assets, the
Group estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not ECL. The caloulation of the
effective interest rate includes transaction costs and any discount or premium on the acguisition of the financial asset, as well fees and
costs that are an integral part of the effective intarest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability.

(i) Amaortised cost and gress earrying amount

The ‘amartized cost’ of a financial ssset of financial liabikty i the amount at which the financial a2set of financial kability is mesturad on
initial recognition minus the principal repayments, ples or minus the cumulative amertisation using the effective interest method of any
differance between that initlal amount and the maturity amount and, for financlal assets, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance,
The ‘grass carrying amount of a financial asset’ is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit loss
allowance.
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6 Material accounting policies [continued)
[g) Interest income and expense (continued)
{iii) cCaleulation of interest income and expense

The effective interest rate of a financial asset or financial liability s calculated on initial recognition of a financial asset or a financial
liability. In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate & applied o the gross carrying amaunt of the ascet (when
the asset is not aredit impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability.

Thie effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re estimation of cash flows of floating rate instruments to reflect movements
in market rates of interest, The effective interest rate is also revised for fair value hedge adjustments at the date amortisation of the
hedge adjustment begmns,

Fer information on when financial assets are credit impaired, note 6{a){vii}.
[V} Presentation
Interest income calculated using the affective interest method presented in the consolidated statement of profitor loss and OCl includes:

®=  interest on financial assets and financial liakilities measured at amortisad cost;

#®  interest on debt instruments measured at FVOCI;

= the effective portion of fair value changes in gqualifying hedging derivatives designated in cash flow hedges of vanability in interest
cash flows, in the same period as the hedged cash flows affect interest income/expense;
the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in fair value hedges of interest rate risk; and
negative interest on financial liabikties measured at amortised cost.

Interest expense presented in the consolidated staterment of profit or loss and OCH includes:

*  financial liabilities measured at amortised cost;

= the effective portion of fair vaiue changes in gualifying hedging derivatives designated in cash flow hedges of variability in interest
cash flows, in the same period as the hedged cash flows affect interest income/expanse.
the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in fair value hedges of interest rate risk.

& negative interest on financial adsets measured at amortited cost; and

*  Interest expense on lease liabilities.

{r) Income from Islamic financing activities

lpara incame is recognised on an effective profit rate basis over the lease term where the usufruct of the lease asset is being transferred
to and used by the lessee, until such time a reasonable doubt exists with regard to its collectability.

Murabaha income is recognised based on a fixed deferred sale price stipulated in the Murabaha centract. Based on the Bank's internal
#ccounting treatment, the profit element of the deferred sale price is being calculated on an effective profit rate basis over the period of
the contract, until such time a reasonable doubt exists with regard to its collectabilivy.

Mudaraba Income ks recognised on an accrual basis if they can be rellably estimated. Otherwise, income & recognised on distribution by
the Mudarib, whereas the losses are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or koss on their declaration by the Mudarib, Where
the Group is the Rab Al hal the bosses are charged to the Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss when incurred.

Wakala income is recognised on the effective profit rate basks over the period, adjusted by actual income whan received, Losses are
accounted for when incurred.

{s] Depositors’ share of profit

Depositars’ share of profit [s amount accrued as expense on the funds accepted from banks and customers in the form of wakala and
mudaraba deposits and recognised as expenses in the consolidated statement of profit of loss, The amounts are calculated in accordance
with agreed terms and conditions of the wakala deposits and Sharia’a principles.
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6 Material accounting policies (continued)
[t} Fee and commission income and expense

The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of financial services provided to its customers. Fee and commission
income i recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for providing
the services, The basis of accounting treatment of fees and commission depends on the purposes for which the fees are collected and
accordingly the revenue & recognised in consolidated statement of profitor loss. Fee and commission insome is accounted for as follows:

o earfund fram the provision of services |5 recognised a3 revenue a5 the services ane pravided;

*  income earned on the execution of a significant act is recognised a5 revenue when the act is completed; and

= income which forms an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument is recognised as an adjustment ta the
affective interest rate and recorded in “Interast income™,

A contract with a customar that resufts in a recognised financial instrument in the Group's conselidated financial statements may be
partially in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially in the scope of IFRS 15. If this is the case, then the Group first applies | FRS 9 to separate and
measure the part of the contract that is in the scope of IFRS 9 and then applies IFRS 15 to the residual.

Fee and commission expense relates mainly to transaction and service fees which are expensed as the services are received.
fu) Zakat

Zakat is only paid on behalfl of shareholders in jurisdictions where zakat payment s made mandatory by the regulations of the
jurisdictions, Such payment is made in accordance with the regulations of the jurkdictions. On annual basis, the Group notifies
shareholders on the Zakat per share payable with regards to FAB Group Islamic banking activities/assets.

(v) Netgainf(loss) on investments and derivatives

Net gain/(loss) on investments and derivatives comprises realised and unrealised gains/losses on investments at fair value through profic
or loss and derivatives, realised gains/flosses on non trading Investment securities and dividend income. Met gain/[loss) an investment at
fair value through profit or loss also indudes changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value.
Interest income and expense on financial assets and financial liabilities at FVYTPL are included under net gain / loss on investment and
derivatives,

Gains ar losses anising from changes in fair value of FYOC) assets are recognised in the statement of other comprehensive Income and
recardied infair value reserve with the sxception of ECL, interest calculated using the effective interest rate method and foreign exchange
gains and losses on monetary assets which are recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Where the investment
Is sold or realised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recagnised in equity under falr value reserve s reclassified to the consolidated
statement of profit or koss in case of debt instruments. Mon trading investment securities includes FYQCI and amortised cost instruments,

Thee Group alse halds investments in assets Bsued in countries with negative interest rates. The Group discloses interest paid on these
assets in the line where Its economic substance of transaction is reflected [note 33).

Amartised cost investmeants, which are not close to their maturity are not ordinarily sold. However, when they are sold or realised, the
gain or loss & recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
[w) Foreign currency
{i} Forelgn currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currendies of the Group entities at spot exchange rates at
the dates of the transactions.

Meanetary assets and liabilities denominatad in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the
spot exchange rates at the reporting date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary tems is the difference between amortised cost
in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the
amaortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period.

Non monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the
spet exchange rate at the date on which the fair value is determined, Non-monetary assets and liabdities that are measured in terms of
historical cost ina foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction,
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& Material accounting policies {continued)
[w) Foreign currency (continued)
{i} Forelgm currency transactions |continued)

Foreign currency differences arising on transaction are generally recognised in profit or loss. However, foreign currency differences arising
fram the transaction arising from the translation of the following item are recognised in OCI.

equity investments in fespect of which an election has been made to presant stbiequent changes in fair value in OC1;
*  afinancial Bability designated as a hiedge of the net investment in a foreign operation to the extent that the hedge is effective; and
= qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedge is effective.

(i) Foreign operations

On consalidation, the assets and Nabilities of the forelgn operations are translated into UAE Dirhams at rates of exchange at the reporting
date. The prafit ar loss of foreign operations are translabed at average rates, as appropriate. Exchange differences (including those on
transactions which hedge such investments) arising from retranslating the opening net assets, are taken directly to foreign currency
translation adjustment account in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation reserve, except to the extent that
the translation difference is allocated to NCI.

When a foreign operation i disposed of such that control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related tothe foreign
operation is redassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. If the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a
subskdiary that includes a foreign operation while retaining control, then the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed
t NI

{x) Income taxes

Income tax expense comprises of current and deferred tax, It is recognited in profit or loss except ta the extent it relates to items
recognised directly in equity or OCI.

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior years are measured at the amount expected to be recovered/receivable
fram, or paid/payable, to the taxation authorities.

Current tax is pravided for in accordance with fiscal Fegulations of the respective countries in which the Group cperates and is recognised
Inthe consolidated statement of profit or loss. Current tax is the expected tax payable an the taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment o tax payable in respect of previous years. Taxable profit
differs from profit as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss statement because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes ibems that are never taxable or deductible. Management periodically
evaleates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation
and establishes provisions where appropriate.

Deferred tax s recognised in respect of temporary differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts of assets and llabilities
far financial reporting purposes and the amaunts used for taxation purpases. Deferred tax s recognised far all taxable differences, except
for the following:

=  temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilites in a transaction that is not a business combination and that
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

= remporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries where the timing of the reversal of the tamporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,

®  taxable temporary differances arising on the initial recognition of goodwill,

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. A deferred tax asset Is recognised only to the extent that it s probable that future
tavable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets & reviewed at each
reporting date and reduced to the extant that it is no longer probabile that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow for all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Group expects, at the
rirparting date, o recaver of settle the carrying amount of it2 assets and labilities, Deferred tax assets and labilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised or the lability is setthed, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
hawe been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss s
recognised outside prafit or loss, Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCl or directly
in equity.
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6 Material accounting policies [continued)
[¥) Income taxes [continued)

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at that date, are recognised
subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances chanpe, The adjustment is either treated as a reduction in gocdwill
[as lang as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the measurement period or recognised in profit or loss.

The Bank offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable fght to set off current tax assets
and current tax labilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
autharity on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax labilites and assets on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

{y) Derivative financial instruments

A derivative is a financial instrument of other contract betweean two parties where payments are depandent upon mavements in the
price of ane or more underlyng financial instrument, reference rate or index with all three of the following charactenistics;

®  [ts value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commadity price, foreign exchange
rate, Index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided that, in the case of a non financial variable, it s
not specific to 3 party to the contract (i.e., the 'undearlying').

* [t requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other types of contracts
expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors.

® Itis settled at a future date,

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at falr value at trade date and are subsequently remeasured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. All derivatives are carried at their fair values as assets wheee the fair values are positive and as liabilities
where the fair values are negative. Derivative assets and liabilities arising from different transactions are only offset if the transactions
are with the same counterparty and netting set, a legal right of offset exists and the parties intend to settle the cash flows on a net basis.

Derivative fair values are determined from guoted prices in active markets where available. Where there is no active market far an
instrument, fair value is derived from prices for the derivative's components using appropriate pricing or valuation models mainly
discounted cash flow models, The methoed of recognising the resulting fair value gains or losses depends on whether the derivative is
held for trading, or is designated as a hedging instrument and, if so, the nature of the risk being hedged. Al gains and losses from changes
in fair value of derivatives held for trading are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives may be embedded in another contractual arrangement [a host contract). The Group accounts for an embedded derivative
separately from the host cantract when:

the host contract is not an asset in the scope of IFRS 9;

the host contract is not itself carriad at FWTPL;

the terms of the embeddad derivative would meet the definition of a derivative if they ware contained in a separate contract; and
the econemic charatteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks
of the host contract.

- & & &

Separated embedded derivatives are measured at fair value, with all changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss unless they form
part of a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedging relationship. Separated embedded derivatives are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position together with the host contract.

(z) Other derivatives

Gther non trading derivatives are recegnised on balance sheet at fair value. If a derivative is not held for trading, and is not designated

In & qualifying hedging relationship, then all changes in its fair value are recognised immediately in profic or loss as a component of net
gain on investments and derivatives or net foreign exchange gain,
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6 Material accounting policies [continued)
[aa) Hedge accounting
‘When derivatives are designated as hedges, the Group classifies them as either:

= falr value hedges which hedge the exposure to changes in the falr value of a recopgnised asset or llabiliy;

= gash flow hedpes which hedpe exposure to variability in cash flows that & either attributable to a particular risk associated with a
recognised asset or ability ar a highly probable farecast transaction;

= hedge of net investment which are accounted similarly to a cash flow hedge. Hedge accounting is applied to derivatives designated
as hedging instruments in a fair value or cash flow, provided the criteria are met.

It is the Group's policy to document, at the inception of a hedge, the relationship between hedging instrumeants and hedged items, as
well as sk management objective and strategy. The policy ako requires documentation of the assessment, at inception and on an on
poing basis, of the effectiveness of the hedge.

The Group makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an an going basis, as to whether the
hedging instrument(s) is (are} expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the respective
hedged item(s) during the period for which the hedge is designated. The Group makes an assessment for a cash flow hedge of a forecast
tramsaction, as to whether the forecasted transaction is highly probable to occur and presents an exposure to variations in cash flows
that could ultimately affect profit or loss.

The Group normally designates a portion of the cash flows of a financial instrument for cash flow or fair value changes attributable to a
benchrmark interest rate risk, if the portion is separately identifiable and reliabby measurable.

{i} Fair value hedge

When a derivative is designatied as the hedging instrument in a fair value hedge relationship, changes in the fair value of the derivative
are recognised immediately in profit or loss. The change In fair value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk s recognised in
prafit or loss, If the hedged item would otheravise be measured at amortised cost, then its carrying amount is adjusbed for the risk being
hedged accordingly.

If the hedging derivative expires or is sold, terminated or exarcised, or the hedge no longer meets the critaria for fair value hedge
accounting, or the hedge designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively.

Any adjustment up to the point of dscontinuation to a hedged item for which the effective interest method is used is amortised o profit
of lass as an adjustment to the recalculated effective interest rate of the iterm aver its remaining bfe.

On hedge discontinuation, any hedging adjustment made previously to a hedged financial instrument for which the effective interest
method i used is amortised to profit or loss by adjusting the effective interest rate of the hedged item from the date an which
amartisation begins, If the hedged item is derecognised, then the adjustment is recognised immediately in profit or loss when the item
i derecopnised.

{il) Cash flow hedge

‘When a derivative is designatad as the hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge relationship, the affective portion of changes in the fair
value of the derwatives is recognised in OC and presented in the hedging reserve within equity. Any ineffective portion of changes in the
fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, The amount recognised in the
hedging reserve under OCI is reclassified to consalidated staternent of profit or koss as a reclassification adjustment in the same period
a the hedged cash flows affect prafit or loss and in the same line in the consolidated statement of prafit ar loss and OCI

If the hedging derivative expires, is sold, terminated or exercised or the hedge no longer meets the criteria for cash flow hedge accounting
the hedge accounting or the hedpe designation is revoked, then the hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively, If the hedged cash
flows are no longer expected to occur, then the Group mmediately reclassifies the amount in the hedging reserve from OCI to
consolidated statement of prafit or loss. For terminated hedging relationships, if the hedged cash flaws are still expected to occur, then
the amount accumulated in the hedging reserve is not reclassified until the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss; if the hedged cash
flows are expected to affect profit or loss in multiple reporting periods, then the Group reclassifies the amount in the hedging reserve
fram QCI to profit or loss on 4 straight line basis.
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& Material accounting policies {continued)
[aa) Hedge aceounting [continued)

(i) Met Investments hedges

A forelgn currency exposure artses from a net investment in branchessubsidiaries that have a different functional currency from that of
the Group. The risk arses fram the fluctuation in exchange rates between the functional currency of the branches/subsidiaries and the
Group's functional currency, which causes the amount of the net investment to vary in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. As this risk may have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statement, the Group assesses this risk case by
case and may decide to hedge the exposure.

When a derative instrument or a non derivative financial Hability s designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of a net investment
in a foreign operation, the effective portion of the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument is recegnised in OC and presented
In the translation reserve within equity. The effective portion of the change in fair value of the hedging instrument is computed with
reference to the functional currency of the parent entity against whose functional currency the hedged risk |s measured. Any ineffective
portion of the changes in the fair value of the derivative or foreign exchange gains and losses on the non derivative & recognised
immediately in the conselidated staternent of profit or loss, The amount recognsed under OC1 & fully or partially reclassified to
cansolidated statement of profit or keds as a reclassification adjustment on disposal of the foreign operation of partial dispasal of the
forelgn operation, respectively.

{ab) Provisions

A provision is recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructiva) as a result of past events, and it is probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required o setthe the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation. When the effect of teme value of money ks material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows, at a pre tax rate, that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the
risks specific to the lability,

{ac) End of services and post employment benefits

The Group provides end of service benefits for its employees. The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the employees’ length of
service and completion of a minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits are ascrued over the perisd of employmant.
With respect to its UAE national employees, the Group makes contributions to the relevant government pension scheme calculated as a
percentage of the employees” salaries. The Group®s obligations are limited to these contributions, which are expensed when due.

{i] Deflned contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity or
tor @ government arganisation and will kave no legal or constructive abligation to pay further amounts. Obligations far contributions to
defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in consolidated statement of profit or boss in the
periods during which services are rendered by employees.

Pension and national insurance contributions for eligible employees are made by the Group to Pensions and Benefits Fund in accordance
with the applicable laws of country where such contributions are made.

{ii) Defined benefit plan

A defined benefit plan 5 3 post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The liability recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position i respect of defined benafit gratuity plans is the present vahee of the defined benedit
obligation at the end of the reporting period together with adjustments for unrecognised past-senvice costs. The defined benefit
obligation is calculated annually by independent qualified actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the
defined benefit ablipation 2 determined by discounting the estimated future cash eutfiows uting interest rates of high-guality corporate
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the
terms of the related pension obligation.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets [excluding
interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest], are recognised immediately in OCI, Net interest expense and ather
expenses related to defined banefit plans are recognised in “staff cost” in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Whin the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benadit that relates to past service or the
RBain of loss on curtailment is recognised immediately to profit or loss. The Group recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a

defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs,
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6 Material accounting policies (continued)
{ad) Board of Directors’ remuneration

Pursuant to Article 171 of Federal Decree-Law no. {32) of 3021 and in accordance with the Bank’s Articles of Association, Directors' shall
be entitled for remuneration which shall mot exceed 10% of the net profits after deducting depreciation and reserves,

{ae) Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS] data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is cabeulated by dividing the profic
or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
year. Diluted EPS s determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary sharehalders and the weighted average number
of ardinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise of convertible notes and share
options granted to staff,

{af) Segment reporting

An operating segment Is a3 component of the Group that engages in business actwities from which it may earn revenues and incur
expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other companents. Al operating
segments’ operating results are raviewed regularly by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer, being the chief operating decision maker, to
make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess it performance for which discrege financial information is
available. Segment results that are reported to the Group Chief Executive include items directly attributable to a segment a5 will as
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

[ag) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease, A contract &, or contains, a lease if the contract
comveys the right to contral the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract
canveys tha right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16,

{il Group acting as b ledses

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates consideration in the contract
to each lease component on the basis of its relative standalone price,

Thie Group recognises a right of use aset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date, The right of use asset is initially meatured
at cost less any accumulated depraciation and impairment kosses if any, which comprisas the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted
for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initlal direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove any improvements made to branches or office premises, The right of use asset is subsequently depreciated using
the straight line method from the commencement date to the end of the lease term. In addition, the right of use asset ks periodically
reduced by impalrment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease lability.

Thee lease lability s initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discaunted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, f that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's incremental borrowing
rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by analysing its borrowings from various external sources and makes certain
adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of asset leased.

Leasa payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprisa the following:

foced payments, including in substance fixed payments;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;
amounts expacted to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group s reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in an optional renewal
paricd if the Group is reasonably certain to exerdise an extention option, and penalties for sarly termination of a lease unless the
Group is reasanably certain not to terminate earky.

Th lease liability is measured at amortised cost wsing the effective interest method. 1T is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group's estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option or if there is 3 revised in substance fixed lease payment.
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6 Material accounting policies (continued)
[ag) Leases (continued)
{i} Group acting as a lessee (continued)

When the lease liability s remeasured in this way, a correspanding adjustment is made o the carrying amount of the right of use asset
of i recorded in profit or loss if the carryving amount of the right of use asset has been reduced to 2ero, The Group presents right of use
assets in “property and equipment’ and lease Habillities in "other llabilities” in the consokdated statement of financlal position.

[ii) Short-tarm leases and beases of bow-value assets
The Group has elected not to recognise right of use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short term beases,

including leases af IT equipment. The Group recogniss the lease payments assaciated with these leases as an expense on a straight line
basis over the lease term,

[iil} Group acting as a lessor

At inception ar on modificathon of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component based an their relative stand alone selling prices.

When the Group acts as a essor, it determines at lease inception whether the lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.

Ta classify each kease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this ks the case, then the lease is a finance leasa; if not, then it is an operating lease,
As part of this assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for a major part of the economic life of

the asset.

At the commencerment date of a finance lease, as a lessor, the Group recognises assets held under a finance lease in its consolidated
statament of financial position and presents them as a receivable at an amount egual to the net investment in the lease,

At the commencement of an operating lease, as a lessor, the Group recognises lease payments from operating leases as income on either
a straight line basis or another systematic basis. The Group applies another systematic basis f that basis is more representative of the
pattern in which the benefit from the use of the underlying asset is diminished.

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in IFRS 9 to the net investment in the lease. The Group further
regulacly reviews estimated unguaranteed residoal values used in caleulating the gross imvestrment in the leaze.

{ah) Guarantees, letter of credit and loan commitment
Ta meet the finandal needs of the customers, the Group issues guarantees, letter of credit and loan commitments.

Guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holders for a less they incur because a
specified debtor falls to make payment when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt mstrument.

Guarantee contracts are initially measured at fair valuee and subsaguently measured at the higher of:

= the amount of the loss allowance; and
=  the premium recelved on initial recognition less income recognised in accordance with the principles of IFRS 15.

Guarantees are reviewed periodically to determine the credit risk to which they are exposed and, if appropriate, to consider whether a
pravision is reguired. The credit risk is determined by application of criteria similar to those established for quantifying impairment losses.
on loans, advances and Istamic financing. If & specific provision is required for guarantees, the related unearned Commissions recognised

under ather liabilities in the consalidated balance sheet are reclassifiad to the appropriate provision,

Letters of cradit and guarantess (including standby lecters of eredit) commit the Group to make payments on behall of customaers in the
event of a specific act, generally related to the impart or export of goods. Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry a similar credit
risk to loans.

Lean commitments are irrevocable commitments to provide credit under pre specified terms and conditions.

Similar tafinancial guarantee contracts, undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits contracts are in the scope of ECL reguirernents.
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7 Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consoldated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets and llabilitles, inoome and expenses, Actual results may differ fram
these estimates.

In applying the Group's accounting policies, IFRS Accounting Standards require management to select suitable accounting policies, apply
them consistently and make judgements, estimates and assumptions that are reasonable and prudent and would result in relevant and
reflable infarmation. Management, based on guidance in IFRS Accounting Standards and the LASS's framework for the preparation and
presentation of financial statements has made these estimates, judpements and assumptions, Listed below are thowe estimates and
Judgement which could have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewad on an ongoing basis and are based on historical experiences and other factors,
Including expectation of future events that may hawve a financial impact on the Group and considered to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimatae is revised and in any future pericds
affected.

{a) Goingconcern

The Group's management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that the Group
has resources by continue in business for the foreseeable future, In making this assessment, management has considered a wide range
of information including projections of profitability, regulatory capital reguiremants and funding needs, The assessment also incledes
cansidaration of reasonably possible downside economic scenarios and their potential impacts on the profitability, capital and liquidity
of the Group. In making this assessment, the Group has considered the impact of chimate related matters on their going concern
Assesament

Furthermaore, management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upen the Group’s ability to continue
a5 a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on going concern basis.

{b) Impairment charge on financial assets

Impairment losses are evaluated as described in accounting policy 6{a){wi).

The measurement of impairment bosses under IFRS 9 acrass all categories of financial assets requires assumptions, in particular, in the
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment losses and the assessmant
af a significant increase in credit risk, These estimates ane drivien by a number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels
of allowances.

Thie Group's ECL calculations are outputs of multiple models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice of variable
Inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL models that are considered accounting judgemeants and estimates include:

=  The Group's Internal credit grading madel, which assigns PDs to the individual grades.

#  The Group's criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk and so allowances for financlal assets should
be measured on a lifetime ECL basis and the qualitative assessment,

= The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL & assessed an a collective basis.

= Development of ECL models, including the various formulas and the choice of inputs,

&  Determination of impacts between economic inputs, such as oll prices, gross domestic product and collateral values ete on PDs,
EADs and LGDs.

=  Selection of forward looking macroeconamic scenarios and their probability weightings, to derive the economic inputs into the ECL
madels. The Group is currently in process for assessing the impact of climate risk in the Group’s risk models.

It is the Group's policy to regularly review its modals in the context of actual loss experiance and adjust when nacessary.

{€] Impairment charge on property and equipment

Impairment losses are evaluated as described in accounting policy note &{a)(wiil).

In determining the net realisable value, the Group uses the selling prices determined by external independent valuer companies, having
appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and category of property being valued. The

selling prices are bated on market values, being the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged an the date of the
valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seBer In an arm's length transaction.
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7 Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

{d) Contingent liability arising from litigation

The Group operates in a regulatory and legal environment that, by nature, has a heightenad element of litigation risk inherent to its
operations. Asa result, it is invelved in various litigation, arbitration and regulatory investigations and proceedings, arising in the ordinary
course of the Group's business.

When the Group can reliably measure the outflow of economic benefits in relation to a specific case and considers such outflows to be
prabable, the Group records a provision against the case, no provision & made where the probability of outflow & considered to be
remate, or probable, or a reliable estimate cannot be made. Given the subjectivity and uncertainty of determining the probability and
amount of losses, the Group takes inte account a number of factors including legal advice, the stage of the matter and historical evidence
fram similar incidents. Significant judgement is required to conclude on these estimates.

(e} Valuation of financial instruments

The fair walue of financial instruments i3 the price that would be recelved to 2all an asset of pald to transfer a Bability in an orderly
transaction in the principal jor most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market conditions [iL.e., an exit
price] regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technigue. When the fair values of
financial assets and financial liakilities recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are
determined using a variety of valuation techniques that indude the use of valuation models. The valuation techniques of financial
INSErUMEnts May require certain unobsenable inputs to be estimated by management, These are discussed in detail in note & (aj(vi) &
note 49,

(f) Defined benefit plan

The present value of the defined benefit obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a
number of assumptions, The assumptions used in determining the net cost [income) for obligations include the discount rate, Any
changes in these assumptions would impact the carrying amount of the defined benefit abligation.

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year, This is the interest rate that should be used to determing
the present walue of the estimated future cash flows expectad to be required to settle the future obligations. In determining the
appropriate discount rate, the Group considers interest rate of high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in
which the benefits will be paid and that have the terms to maturity approximating the terms of related benefit obligation, Other key
assumptions for defined benefit obligations are based in part on current market conditions. Additional infarmation on these
asumptions is disclased in note 22,

{g) Financial asset and liability classification

The Group’s accounting policles provide scope for the dassification and assessment of the business model for financial assets and
liabilities to be designated on inception into different accounting categories. The dassification criteria are mentioned in policy
note & [ajlii.

Classification and measurement of financlal assets depends on the results of the 5PPI and the business model test The Group
determines the business model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular
business objective. This assessment indudes judgemeant reflecting all relevant evidence including how the performance of the assets is
evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect the performance of the assets and how these are managed and how
the managers of the asets are compensated. The Group manitors financial assets measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income that are derecognised prior to their maturity to understand the reason for their disposal and whether the
Feasons afe consiitent with the abjective of the business for which the aiiet was held, Monitasing s part of the group’s continuous
assessment of whether the business model for which the remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not
appropriabe whether there has been a change in business model and so a prospective change to the classification of those assets. No
such changes were réquired during the periads presented,

(h) Assessmentwhether cash flows are SPP for certain Islamic financing assets
Derermining whether a financial asset"s cash flows are sobely payments of principal and interest required judgement for certain Islamic
financing assets, Management has assessed the features of the contract which require the customers o pay certaln compensation in

addition ta the autstanding principal and accrued profit. Management believes that such additianal amounts represent ‘reasonable
compensation® for the reinvestment costs.
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7 Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

(i) Operating segments

In preparation of the segment information disclosure, management has made certain assumptions to arrive at the segment reporting.
These assumptions would be reassessed by management on a periodic basis, Operating segments are detailed in note 44,

(i} Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method

The Group™s EIR methad, as explained in note & (p), recognises interest income using a rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments or receipts through the expected |fe of the financial instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or the
amartized cost of the fmandial liability along with recogniting the impact of transaction costs and fees and points paid or receivied that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. This estimation, by nature, requires an element of judpement regarding the expected
behaviour and Efe cycle of the instruments, as well expected changes to the base rate and ather fee incomefexpense that are integral
parts of the instrument.

(k] Hedge accounting

The Group has designatad hedge relationships as both fair value and cash flow hedges. The Bank's hedge accounting policy include an
element of judgement and estimation, Estimates of future interest rates and the general economic environment will influence the
availability and timing of suitable hedged iterms, with an impact on the effectiveness of the hedge relationships. Group's hedge accounting
paficies include an elernent of judgement and estimation in note 6 {z).

() Goodwillimpairment testing

The Group estimates that reasonably possible changes in the assumptions used for the impairment would not cause the recoverable
amaunt of either CGL to decline balow the carrying amount. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or s
CGU exceeds its recoverable amownt, CGU is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are independant
fram other assets and groups. Impairment losses are récognised In the Group consolidated statement of profit or lass statement.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units
and then to reduce the carrying amount of other assets in the unit (group or units) an a pro rata basis.

The recowverable amount of an asset or CGL is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use,
the estinkated future cash flows are discounted to thiir present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessmaents of
the time value of meney and the risks specific to the asset.

{m) Effect of dimate risk on accounting judgments and estimates

Where appropriate, the Bank considers climate related matters in its estimates and assumptions, which may increase their inherent level
of uncertainty. The Group makes use of reasonable and supportable information to make accounting judgments and estimates, this
includes information about the observable effects of the physical and transition risks of climate change. Many of the effects arising from
climate change will be longer term in nature, with an inherant leviel of uncertainty, and have limited effect on accounting judgments and
ectimates.

[n) Tax

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Group expects, at the
reporting date, to recover or setthe the carnying amaunt of its assets and liabilities. In determining the amount of current and deferred
tax, the Group considers the impact of tax exposures, including whether additional taxes and interest maybe due, This assessment relies
on estimates and assumptions and may involie a series of judgements about future events. New informatian may become available that
causes the Group to change its jedgement regardmg the adeguacy of existing tax liakilities; such changes to tax liabilives would impact
tax expense in the period in which such a determination is made {refer nota 39).

{0} Investment properties

The fair value of investment properties is determined by using valuation technigues, For further details of the judgments and assumptions
rade (ot 16].

{p) Structured entities

The Group’s accounting polickes provide scope for the classification and consolidation of structured entities in policy nobe 5 (i), For all
funds managed by the Group, the investars are able to vate by simple majarity 0 femove the Group as fund manager, and the Graug's
agfregate economic interest in each fund is not material, As a result, the Group has concluded that it acts as an agent for the investors
In these funds, and therefore has not consolidated these funds.
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& (Cash and balances with central banks

31 Dwe 2023
AED million

Cash on hand 2,128 1,520
Central Bank of tha UAE

cash reserve deposits 68,961 34,173

other balances 10,000 28,000
Balances with ather central banks 133,459 169,462
Gross cash and balances with central banks 214,548 233 555
Less: expected credit loss {144) [165)
Total cash and balances with central banks 214,404 233,390

As per the CBUAE regulations, the Bank is allowed to draw their balances held in the LAE resenve account, while ensuring that they meet
the reserve requirements over a 14 day period. Balances with other central banks includes mandatory reserves which are available for
day to day operations under certain specified conditions.

9 Investments at fair value through profit or loss

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023

AED milllon AED mitlion
Investments in managed funds 1 |
Investment in private equities 3,601 3,136
Investments in equities 2,216 1,568
Dabt sacuritias 50,200 40,456
Total investments at fair value through profit or loss 56,028 15,209

Included in the above are sukuk investmants as at 31 December 2024 amounting to AED 2,837 million (31 December 2023: AED 1,449
milicn].

10 Due from banks and financial institutions

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023

AED million AED million
LCurrent, call and notice deposits 2464 4,440
Margin deposits 14,937 14,728
Fixed deposits 6373 &, 156
Gross due from banks and financial institutions 23,974 25,324
Less: expected credit loss {50] |58}
Total due from banks and fimanclal institutions 23,724 25,266

11 Reverse repurchase agreemants

The Group enters into reverse repurchase agraements in the normal course of business in which the third party transfars financial assets

to the Group for short term financing.
31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AED million

Reverse repurchase with banks and others 69,755 77,114
Reverse repurchase with cantral banks - 1,477
Gross reverse repurchase agreements 69,755 78,591
Less: expected credit loss [94] {87)
Total reverse repurchase agreements 69,661 78,504

At 31 Decernber 2024, the fair value of financial assets accepted a5 collateral that the Group is permitted to sell of re-pledge in thi
absence of default is AED 114,374 million {31 December 2023: AED 89,835 million).

At 31 Decermber 2024, the fair value of financial assets accepted as collateral that have been sobld or re-pledped was AED 6,907 million
[31 December 2023: AED 8,331 million). The Group is obliged to return equivalent securities. These transactions are conducted under
terms that are usual and customary to standard lending, and securities borrowing and lending activities.
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12 Loans, advances and Islamic financing

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AED million

Gross loans, advances and Islamic financing 550,513 L0461
Less: interest in suspense (7.827) [7.186)
Less: expected credit loss {13,783) (13,501}
Met loans, advances and Istamic financing 528,897 483,954
31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million
By counterparty:
Government sector 71,830 61,310
Public sectar a1,027 78,383
Banking sector 17,993 12607
Corpaorate [ private sector 294,255 269,854
Parsanal f retail sector 84,408 B1,487
Gross loans, advances and Islamic financing 550,513 L0461
Pt
AED million AED million
By product:
Overdrafts 19470 211,031
Term loans 443,286 A14 882
Trade related loans 0488 32,159
Personal loans 30,075 29,252
Cridit cards 5478 5,541
Vehicle financing loans 1,716 1,736
Gross loans, advances and |slamic financing 550,513 504,641

The Group provides lending against investment in equity securities and funds. The Growp is autherised to liguidate these instruments if
their coverage falls below the agreed threshold, The carrying wvalue of swuch lending & AED 78,215 million
(31 December 2023; AED 77,557 millian) and the fair value of instruments held as collateral against such loans is AED 200,672 millicn
(31 December 2023: AED 188,577 million). During the year, the Group has liquidated insignificant amount of collateral due to fall in the
Coverage ratio.

Included in the above loans, advances and |slamic financing are the following Islamic financing contracts:

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AEDH million

Islamic financing contracts

Murakaha 26,308 25,429
ljara 15,731 12,683
Othars 567 561
Gross Islamic financing contracts 42,606 18,673
Less: suspended prafit {164) (208}
Less: expected credit loss {1,827) [1,147)
Total Islamibc financing contracts 40,615 37,318
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13 MNon trading investment securities

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec2023
AED million BAED million

Fair value threugh other comprehansive income |FVOCE):

- with recydle to profit or loss [Debt imvestments securities) 177,922 170,716
- without recycle to profit or loss (Equity investmaents securities') 5,495 4,553
Amaortised cost securities 4,030 4,375
Gross non trading investment securities 187 447 179,644
Less: expected credit loss an amotised cost securities {1} (1)
Total non trading investment securities 187 446 179,613

IEQuIty Investments securities measured at FVOC are strategic invesuments for Iong teim purposes.

An analysis of non trading investments securities by class at the reporting date is shown below:

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AED million

Quoted Ungquaoted Total Quoted Unguoted Total
Equity Investrment secu rities 1,187 4,308 5495 1,051 3,502 4,553
Darbt innsrstimeent securithis 181,032 920 181,952 174,026 1,065 175,091
Gross non trading investment securities 182,219 5213 187,447 175,077 A4,567 179,644
Less: expected credit loss on amortised cost
securities {1} - 1] 11} - [1}
Total non trading investment securities 182,218 5,228 187,445 175076 4,567 178,643

Included in the above are sukuk iovestments as at 31 December 2024 amounting to AED E864  million
[31 December 2023: AED 9,735 million).

Debt investments securities under repurchase agreements included in non  trading investment securities as  at
31 December 2024 amounted to AED 25,660 million (31 December 2023; AED 18,360 million).

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of non trading Investment securities measured at amortised cost amounted to AED 3,867 million
[31 Decembar 2023: AED 4,154 million),
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14 Other assets

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED millkan AED million

Intarest receivable 31,854 28,077
Acceptances 12,633 7,659
Sundry debtors and ather receivables 4,797 5,658
Deferred tax asset 433 3B
Gross other assets 45,707 41,633
Less: expected credit loss {267) {301}
Mot other assets 49,440 41,332

The Group does not parceive any significant credit risk on interest receivable and acceptances,

Acceptances arise when the Group Is under an abligation to make payments against documents drawn under letters of caedit. After
atceptance, the instrument becomed an unconditional Bability of the Group and i therefore recognized o a financial lability in the
consolidated statement of financial position (refer note 22). However, every acceptance has a corresponding contractual right of
reimbursermnent from the customer which is recognised as a financial asset.

15 Investment in associates

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023

AED million AED million

Investment in associates 4,963 1,501
Total Investment In assoclates 4,963 1,501

On 9 June 2023, FAB had entered into an agreement with affillates of Brookfield Asset Management ["Brookfield®), together with other
co-investors, for the acquisition by BCP VI Meptune Bidco Holdings Limited of Metwork International Heldings Plc {"Network” ) for

AED 10.3 billion (GBF 2.2 billion). Pursuant to effectiveness of the Scheme of Arrangemeant [under Part 26 of the UK Companies Act 2006),
on 17 September 2024, FAB alongside Brookfield and other co-investors has acquired 1005 of the share capital of Network (the “Network
International Acquisition”) through BCP VI Neptune Bidco Holdings Limited.

Under the tefms af the agreement, FABR and ather parties had provided equity funding, intefim and revalving financing facilities to
facilitate the Network International Acquisition. Additionally, FAB has entered into an agreement with Brookfield and other co-investors
to transfer its investment in BCP Growth Heldings Limited in exchange for a convertible loan instrument that converts into an equity
investment in NFH1 following receipt of necessary regulatory clearances. Upon completion of the conversion, FAB effectively holds c. 34%
in NPHL. Accordingly, the shareholding in MPHL has been recognised as an investrment in associate during the year.
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16 Investment properties

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023

AED million AED million
As at the beginning of year 8,162 7168
Additions ] 1,561
Dispasals 12} (558]
Fair value adjustmant 1 1
As at the year end 8,169 8,162

The fair wvalue of the investment properties is based on the valuations performed by third party valuers as at 31 Decernber 2024 and 31
Decamber 2023, Thesi all are bvel 3 under the fasr value hierarchy.

Amounts recagnised in the consolidated statement of profit or lass In respect of net rental income of investment properties are as
follows:

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million BED millisn
Rental income derived from investmeant properties 212 163
Operating expenses {61) [Sd)
Net rental income from investment properties 151 109

InvestmEnt properties are stated at fair value which represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants under prevailing market conditions at the measurement date.

The Group's investment preperties consist of land and buildings in Abu Dhabi and Dubai. Management determined that these investment
proparties consist of two classes of commaercial and retail assets, bated on the nature, characteristics and risks af each propaerty,

The valuers are accredited with recognised and relevant professional qualifications and with recent experience in the kacation and
category of investment properties being valued, The fair values have been determined based on varying valuation models depending on
the intended use of the inwestment properties; in accordance with the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors [*RICS") Valuation
Srandards.

Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation on investment properties as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

Type 31 Dec 2024 | Valuation Significant unobservable | Inter relationship batween key
AED million | technigue inputs unobservable inputs
Buildings 4,459 | Comparable  and | Comparable transactions Mot applicable

residual method
Sales  comparisan | Current market price aof

method similar assets
Land 3,700 | Comparable and | Cost of construction Mot applicable
residual method
Developer's profit
Financing cost
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17 Intangibles

Customer Care

Goodwill relationships deposits License Brand Total
AED millian AED milllien  AED million AED million AED millian AED mkllian

Cost

As at 1 January 2023 13,693 1,778 To4 3649 i 21,566
Additions

As at 31 December 2023 18,693 1,778 704 369 22 21566
s at 1 January 2024 18,693 1,778 704 369 2 21,566
Additions - - = - -

As at 31 Decernber 2024 18,693 1,778 Tod 369 2 21,566

Accurmnulated amortisation

As at 1 January 2023 - 921 im - 11 1,233
Charge for the year - 136 G0 - 1 157
As at 31 December 2023 - 1,057 361 - 12 1,430
As at 1 January 2024 - 1,058 361 - 12 1,431
Charge for the year . 137 58 1 196
As at 31 December 2024 - 1,195 419 - 13 1,627
Carrying amounts

At 31 December 2023 13,693 721l 343 363 10 20,136
At 31 December 2024 18,693 583 285 369 9 19,935

Testing goodwill for impairment involves a significant amount of judgment. This includes the identification of independent CGUs and the
allecation of poodwill to these units based on which units are expected to benefit from the acquisition. In a goadwill iImpairment test,
the recoverable amounts of the goodwill carrying CGLS are compared with the respectivie carrying amounts, The recoverable amount is
the higher of a 0GUs fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group's independent CGUs which are Corporate B Investment
Banking = AED 13,221 million, Consumer Banking = AED 4,149 million and FAB Egypt operation = AED 1,323 million [FAB Misr).

The recoverable amaount far the CGUs have been calculated based on their value in use, determined by discounting the future cash flows
expected to be generated from the continuing use of the CGUS, assets and their ultimate dispesal at a discount rate of ~9.5% p.a. and &
terminal growth rate ranging from 5% to 7 p.a. based on the CGU earning growth.

The key assumptions described above may change as economic and market conditions change. The Group astimates that reasonably
possible changes in these assumptions would not cause the recoverable amount of abowe CGUs to decline below the carrying amount.
The recoverable amount of the CGUS has been determined based on a value in use cakulation, using cash flow projections covering a
five year period and by applying a terminal growth rate theraafter, The forecast cash flows have been discounted using the Weighted
Average Cost of Capital

The calculation of value in use in the CGUs s most sensitive to the following assumptions:
® Interect marging,

= Discount rates;

= barket share during the projection pericd;

+ Projiectind growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the projection period;

= Current local Gross Domestic Product ["GDP"); and

* Local inflation rates.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. No impairment
lesses were recognised during the year ended 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: nil) because the recoverable amounts of the CGL"s

were determinad to be highar than their carrying amounts.
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18 Due to banks and financial institutions

31 Dac 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AED million

Due to Banks and financial institutions

Current, call and notice deposits 5,969 6,754
Margin 14,893 11,346
Fixed deposits 15,862 18,576
36,724 37,281
Due to Central banks
Current and call deposits 245 215
Margin depasits - 705
Fixed and certificate of deposits 34,927 33,327
35172 34,247
Total due to banks and financial institutions 71,896 71,528

Due to banks and financial institutions are denominated in warious currencies and carry a rate of interest in the range of
0.02 % to 5,54 % (31 Decernber 2023; 0.02 % to 5.32 %)

19 Repurchase agreements

The Group enters into repurchase agreements in the normal course of business by which it transfers recognised financial assets directly

to third parties.
31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AED million
Rispurchase agriskmints with banks f financial indtitutions 32,329 26,096
Total repurchase agreements 32329 16,096

The carrying valee that is also the fair value of financial assets collateralised as at 31 December 2024 amounted to AED 25,660 million
[31 December 2023: AED 18,360 million) and their associated financial liabilites amounted to AED 32,329 million
[31 December 2023: AED 26,096 million). The net difference between the fair value of the financial assets collateralisad and the carrying
value of the repurchase agreement is AED 6,669 million (31 December 2023: AED 7,735 million) which represents pledged financial assets
receivid as collateral against raverse repurchase agreements of through security borrawing arfanpement fram custodian,

20 Commercial paper

The Bank has a Euro Commercial Paper programme with a limit of USD 3.5 billion and a US Dollar Commercial Paper programme with a
limit of LS0 10 billion.

The notes outstanding as at 31 December 2024 amounted to AED 17,888 million (31 December 2023: AED 19,5659 million] and have
maturity period af less than 12 months,

The Group has not had any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches with respect to its commercial paper programs during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023,
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21 Customer accounts and other deposits

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED milllon AED million

By account:
Current accounts 321,176 329,826
Savings accounts 38,713 30,874
Margin accounts 3,552 1611
Motice and time de posits 385,034 352 481
748,475 725,752
Certificates of deposit 33,904 34,071
Total customer accounts and other deposits 782,379 759,863
31 Dec 2024 31 Dt 20323
AED million AED million

By counterparty:

Gowarnment sector 174,519 203,000
Public sector 87,152 72,682
Corporate [ private sector 358,779 337,100
Personal f retall sector 128,025 113,010
748,475 725,792
Cartificates of deposit 33,904 34,071
Total customer accounts and other deposits 782,379 759,863
31 Dec 2024 31 Oec 2023
AED millian

By location:
UAE 562,120 542,985
Europa 81,882 59,455
Arab countries 45,209 51,011
Americas 36,593 35,019
Asla 18,712 15,137
Others 3,959 2,144
748,475 725,792
Carndficates of depaosit 33,904 34,071
Total customer accounts and other deposits 782,379 759,863

Islamic customer deposits

Included in the above customer accounts and other deposits are the following Islamic customer depasits:

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023

AED millian AED millian
Wakala deposits 9,037 6,558
fMudaraba saving deposits 5,389 3,856
Current account 1,638 2,006
Murabaha deposits 686 437
Margin deposits B2 78
Mudaraba term depasits 52 72
Total Islambc customer deposits 17,884 13,027
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22 Other liabilities

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED millian AED millian

Interest payable 26,771 24,217
Acceptances 6,034 6,832
Prowvision employees’ end of service benefits 395 379
Accounts payable, sundry ereditors and other Babilities 17,170 14,909
Income tax 2,103 595
Total other Nabilities 52,473 46,932

Employees end of service benefits
Defined benefit obligations

The Group provides for end of service benefits for its eligitle employees. An actvarial valuation has been carried out as at
31 December 2024 to ascertain present value of the defined benefit obligation. A registered actuary in the UAE was appointed to evaluate
the same. The present value of the defined benefit obligation, and the related current and past service cost, were measured using the
Prajected Unit Credit Method.

The following key assumptions (weighted average rates) were used to value the Habilities:

Discount rate 5.80% per annum 3.48% pir annum
Salary increase rate 2.96% par annum 2.48% per annum

Demographic assumptians for mortality, withdrawal and retirement were used in valuing the liabilities and benefits under the plan,
Because of the nature of the benefit, which is a lump sum payable on exit due to any cause, a combined single decrement rate has been
used.

A shift in the in the discount rate assumption by +/- 50 basis points would impact the liability by AED B million
[31 December 2023; AED & million) and AED 9 million {31 Daecernber 2023; AED B million) respectively. Similarly, a shift in the salary
Increrment  rate  assumption by 4~ 50  bask points  would impact the liabilty by AED 9 million
(31 December 2023; AED 3 million} and AED 9 million (31 December 2023: AED & million] respectively.

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED milllan AED millkon

The movement in the employees’ end of service obligation was as follows:

Balance at the beginning of year 73 381
Net charge during the year 59 53
Remeasurement losses in OC1 13 10
Paid during the year and other adjustments 156]) [55]
Balance at the end of year 395 379

Defined contribution plan

Thie Group pays contributions for its eligible employees which are treated as defined contribution plans. The change for the year in respect
of these contributions is AED 129 million (31 December 2023: AED 120 million). As at 31 December 2024, pension payable of
AED 16 million (31 December 2023: AED 16 millian) has been classified under ather liabilities.
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22 Other liabilities (continued)

Income tax

The Group has provided for income tax in accordance with management’s estimate of the total amount payable based on tax rates
enactied or substantively enacted as at the reporting date. Where appropriate, the Group has made payments of tax on account in respect

of these estimated liabilities,

Thee incame tax charge for the year 5 calculated based upon the adjusted net profit for the year, The movement in the provision was as
follows:

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023

AED milllan AED million
Balance at the beginning of year 595 578
Charge for the year 1,818 1042
Income tax paid, net of recoveries {1,448] {1,058
Other movements 136 33
Balance at the end of year 2,103 595

UAE Corporate Tax Law

an 9 December 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance released Federal Decree-Law No, 47 of 2022 on the Taxation of Corparations and
Businesses (Corporate Tax Law or the Law) to enact a Federal corporate tax (CT) regime in the UAE. The CT regime has become effective
for the Group fram 1 January 2024. A rate of 9% is applicable to taxable income exceeding AED 375,000 based on the Cabinet Decision
116 of 2022,

Current taxes should be measured at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the tax authorities by reference to tax rates
and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted, by the end of the any reporting period. The Group has accounted for current
taxes in the financial statement for the period beginning from 1 January 2024,

Deferred taxes should be measured by reference to the tax rates and laws, as enacted, or substanthvely enacted, by the end of the
regorting period, that are expected to apply in the periods in which the assets and liabilithes to which the deferred tax relates are realized
or settled. The company considered the application of 1A5 12 and any requirements for the measurements and recognition of daferred
taoes for the year ended 31 Decembaer 2024,

Pillar 2 disclosurne

The Group s subject to the Pillar Two Model rules as per the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development's ["OECD’ ) Global
Anti-Base Eroslon ('GloBE'} proposal In several jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

While The LIAE Ministry of Finance announced in December 2024 that a Domestic Minimum Top-up Tax (DMTT) of 15% will be effective
for financial years starting on of after 1 January 2025, this it not considered to be substantively enacted as regulation o guidance for this
has nat been announced. France, Switterland and the UK have implemented either a ghobal or domestic minimum tax of 155, effective
for 2024 onwards, whilst Bahrain, Malaysia and Singapore have Implemented either a global or domestic minimum tax of 155 effective
for 2025 anwards. Other jurisdictions where the Bank has a taxable presence, including Hong Kong intends to implement the GloBE
proposal for 2025 onwards.

As a result of on going implementation uncertainties, the Group is not able to pravide a reasonable estimation at the reporting date and
is continuing to assess the impact of the Pillar Two income taxes legislation on its future financial performance. The assessmant considers
4 numbaer of factars including whether the transitional safe harbour is expected to apply based on the mast recent filings of tay returns,
country by country reporting and financial statements of the relevant entities. For those jurisdictions where either a global minimum tax
aor damestic minimum tax of both have been implemented with effect far 204 anwards, no material impact to the Bank's IFRS Accounting
Standards tax charge was recognised.

Thie Growp has applied the mandatory and temporary exception from recognising and disclosing information on the associated deferred
tax assets and liabilities at 31 December 2024 as required by the amendments to IA5 12 "international Tax Reform = Pillar Two Model
Rules'.
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23 Term borrowings

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AED millian

Amortised cost 64,106 53,426
Fair value through profit or loss BE2 513
Total term borrowings 54,788 53,939

During the year, the Bank has issued various fied and floating rate notes. The movement of term borrowings during the year is below:

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023

AED million AED million

Beginning of the year 63,939 62,635
New issuances 14,648 8,140
Repayments {12,461) {8.397)
Fair valuations, exchange movermnents and other adjustments {1,338) 1,561
End of the year 64,788 53,939
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23 Term borrowings (continuad)

During the year, the Group has issued various fized and floating rate notes. The nominal value of the notes issued during the year is

stated below:
31 Dec 2024 31 Dac 2023
AED million AED millian
Fixed rate
AED - 1,316
CNH 444 -
EUR 46 -
UsD 6,387 6,353
WD - B3
Eloating rate
s 7,749 169

14,626 7,921

The Group has hedged the interest rate and foreign currency exposure on term borrowings. The nominal value hedped as at 31 December
2024 is AED 58 billion [31 December 2023: AED 64 billion] and the risks being hedged have a net positive fair value of AED 6,599 million
a5 at 31 December 2024 (31 Decembar 2023: net positive Fair value of AED 5,507 million). The Group has not had any defaults of principal,
Interest, or other breaches with respect to its term borrowings during the year ended 31 Decernber 2024 and 31 Decarmnber 2023,

24 Subordinated notes

Date of lssue Currency | Interest rate Maturity date 31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023

AED millhon AED millkon
10 December 2012 MYR Fived rate of 4.75% p.a. 9 December 2027 399 385
4 October 2023 uso Fixed rate of 6.32% p.a_until 4 April 2029 | 4 April 2034 3,715 3,806

and if not called, then from 4 April 2029
to the maturity date, the prevailing 5-
Year US Traasury rate + 1,706 p.a,

16 July 2024 usD Fixed rate of 5.304% p.a. until 16 January | 16 January 2035 2,747
2030 and if not called, then from 16
January 2030 to the maturity date, the
prevading S-Year US Treasury rate +
1.55% p.a.

Total subordinated notes 6,861 4,191

The Bank has hedged the interest rate and foreign currency exposure on the subordinated notes. The Bank has not had any defaults of
principal, interest, or other breaches with respect to its subordinated notes during the year ended 31 December 2024 and
31 December 2023,

25 Capital and reserves

Share capital
31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AED mdlian
Authorised share capital 11,048 11,048
Ordinary shares of AED 1 each 11,048 11,045
Treasury shares of AED 1 each! - 7
“Refer note 27.

At the Annual General Meeting [AGM) held on 5 March 2024, the shareholders of the Bank approved a cash dividend of
AED 0.71 per ardinary share amounting to AED 7844 million (31 December 2022: cash dividend of AED 0.52 per ordinary share
amounting to AED 5,745 millian].
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25 Capital and reserves (continued)
Statutory and special reserves

In accordance with the Bank's Articles of Association and as required by Article 241 of UAE Federal Decree Law No. (32) of 2021, a
minkmum af 10 % of the anneal net profit should be transferred to bath statutery and special reserve until each of these reserves equal
to 50% of the paid-up share capital. The statutory and special reserve are not avallable for distribution ta the sharehoblders. Mo transfers
were made during the year because statutory and special reserve are equal to 50% of the paid-up share capital.

Dividends
31 Dic 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED milion AED millian
Dividend an ardinary shares paid during the year 7.822 5 720

Other reserves

Foreign

currency IFRS 9 IFRS 3

Fair value General translation PESEMVE PESErvE —
reserve resarve resarve specific collective Total
AED mdlion AED million AED million AED million AED milion AED million
As at 1 January M4 (1,185} I8 (2,925} 122 2,858 208
Ciher comprehensive loss for the year (1,139) = {1,919) - . {3.058)
Transler during the year . 50 - . . 50
IFRS 9 resencg movement® . - - {1.222) . {1,222)
Realised lows on sase of FAOC] imeestmens n . . - . 25
As at 31 December 2024 !z'zgg. 278 (4,844) = E{E.! i gg_',rl
Asatl lanuay 2023 {2,270 118 {2, 176) 1122 1160 (36
Cither comiprehensive Income [ {loss] for the year 1,065 {7a8) 116
IFRS 9 resenae movement T8 T0E
Realised loss onsabe of PAOC imeestment 2 20
As ot 31 Decenber 2023 11,185) 218 {2,925) 1,222 2. BGR 208

"During the year, in accordance with the new Credit Risk Management Standards [(“CRMS™) issued by CBUAE, specific provision was
appropriabed to retained earnings.

(i} Fairwvalue reserve

The fair value reserve comprises:

= the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity securities measured at FYOCE;

»  the cumulative net change in the fair value of debt securities measured at FYOC! until the assats are derecognised or reclassified
This amaunt is increased by the amount of loss allowance; and

& cash flow hedge resenves.

Revaluation msande Hadging resarye

instrumanis at cash flaw
FVioE1 hadge Tatal
AED milioen AED million AED milion
As at 1 January 2024 (BB2) [303) {1,185)
Net unrealised fair value changes [894] [&25) 1,319)
Realised loss on sale of FVOCI instruments recycled through profit or koss 150 - 150
Riralted bois on sale of FVOC instruments recyclied thraugh equity 15 - 25
Impact of ECL 30 - 30
As at 31 December 2024 {1,571} {728) {2,299)
As at 1 January 2023 (1,511} EEE] (2,270)
et unrealised fair value changes 447 456 503
Reabised loss on sale of FYOC! instruments recycled through profit or kss 128 . 128
Realised loss on sale of FVOCI instruments recydled through equity 20 - 20
Impact af ECL EL - 34
As at 31 December 2023 [8&2) (303) 11,1485)
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25 Capital and reserves (continued)
(i} Fairvalue reserve (continued}

The hedging resarve comprises the affective portion of the cumulativa net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments related
to hedged transactions. During the year, there has been no significant transfer from cash flow hedge reserve to profit or loss,

{ii) General reserve

The general reserve is available for distribution to the sharehalders at the recommendation of the Board of Directors.

(iii) Foreign currency translation reserve (“FCTR™)

FCTR represents the exchange differences arising from translation of the net investment in foreign operations.

[iv) IFRS 2 reserve

As per the new Credit Risk Management 5tandards |"CRMS") issued by CBUAE, Banks must ensure that the total provision corresponding
to alf Stage 1 and Stage 2 exposures is not less than 1.5% of the Credit Risk welghted assets as computed under the CBUAE capital
regulations, Where the collective provisions held ane lower, the shortfall may be hald in a dedicated non distributable balance shest raserve

called the impairment reserve-general’. The amount hald in the impairment resarve-general must be deducted from the capital base (Tier
1 capital for Banks] when computing the regulatory capital,

During the year ended 31 December 2024, total provision corresponding to all Stage 1 and Stage I exposuras is not less than 1.5% of the

Credit Risk weighted assets as computed under the CBUAE capital regulations.
31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AED million

MNon distributable impairment reserve — General

Minimum provision for Stage 1 &2 as per CBUAE requirements 8,360 7,687
Less: Stage 1 and 2 impairment provision taken against income 15.539) [4,829)
Excess/{Shortfall] In stage 1 & 2 provision to meet minimum CBUAE requirements 2,821 2,B68
Balance of impairment reserve - general as at January 1, 2024 1,868 2,160
Add: Non-distributable reserve during the year [Impairment reserve-general] - 708
Balance of impairment reserve - general as at December 31, 2024 2,868 2,868

The calculation process, the methodology and the results for provisions have been reviewed and approved by the Group Risk
Committee]“GRC™) responsible for the oversight of provisions. Accardingly, the GRC has fermally reviewed as presentad by the Chief Risk
Officer ("CRO") the calculation process, the methodology and results of the provision. Therefore, the provisions have been presented and
approved by the Board or delegated body of the Board, a5 per Article 9 (Standards) of the Credit Risk Management Regulation and
accompanying Standards, Circular No. 3/2024 dated 25/7/2024.

26 Tier 1 capital notes

Issuance Currency Interest rate 31 Dec 2023
AED millson

Government  of | AED Froating interest of G-manth EIBOR plus 2.3% p.a. £000 8,000

Abu Dhabl Tier 1

capital notes

usD 750 milllon | USD Fixed rate of 4.50% p.a., thereafter, reset on the first date and 2,755 2,755

Tier 1 capital every sivth anniversary; thereafter on the basis of the aggregate

notes af the margin and the relevant six year reset on the relevant L5

Securities determination date
Total Tler 1 capital notes 10,755 10,755

Tier 1 capital notes are perpetual, subordinated, unsecured and carry coupaons to be paid semi-annually in arrears. The Bank may elect not
1o pay a coupan at its own discretion, The note holder does not have a right to claim the coupon and an election by the Bank not to service
coupan is nat considered an event of default. In addition, there are certain circumstances under which the Bank is prohibited from making
& coupon payment on a relevant coupon payment date.

If the Bank makes a non payment election or a non payment event occurs, then the Bank will not |a) declare or pay any distribution ar
diwidend or (b) redeem, purchase, cancel, reduce or atherwise acquire any of the share capital or any securities of the Bank ranking pari
passu with or junior to the notes except securities, the term of which stipulate a mandatory redemption or conversion into equity, ineach
case unless or until two consecutive coupon payments have been paid in full. During the year, the coupon payment election was made by
the Bank amounting to AED 742 million (31 Decamber 2023; AED 853 millian].
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27 Share based paymeant

The Group had introduced in 2008 a share based payment scheme [the “Scheme”) for selected employees which would west over three
years and can b exercited within the next three years after the vesting period. The key vesting condition is that the option holder is in
continued emplayment with the Bank until the end of the vesting period. The options lapse six years after their date of grant irrespective
of whether they are exercised or nat.

Thee Group established & subsidiary to issue shares when the vested option & exercied by the employee. These shares ane treated as
treasury shares until exercised by the option holders,

During the year, cutstanding treasury shares were liquidated, and the gain have been presented in the consolidatd statement of changes
in equity.

28 Interest income

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023

AED millian SED miillisn
Interest from:
Central banks 13,320 14,348
Banks and financial institutions 1,487 1,159
Reverse repurchase agreements 3,770 3,541
Loans and advances [excluding Islamic financing) 30,958 28,040
Nan trading investment securities 10,039 B, 760
Tatal Interest Income 59,574 55,843

! Refer note 51 for changes to comparative Tgures.

29 Interest expense

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED milfian AED millign

Interast to:

Banks and financial institutions 2,946 3262
Repurchase agreements 1,623 1,674
Commercial paper 1,020 1,013
Customer accounts and other depasits [excluding Blamic customers” deposits) 32,074 29,558
Term borrowings 3,942 3,704
Subordinated notes 495 102
Total interest expense 42,100 35,313

! Refer note 51 for changes to comparative Fgures,

30 Income from Islamic financing and investing products

31 Dae 2024 3] Dueg 2023
AED milllon AED millien

Murabaha 2,173 1,703
ljara B24 TG
Sukuk investrnents 410 300
Others &7 52
Total Income from Islamic financing and investing products 3,474 2,910

31 Distribution on Islamic customers’ deposits

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023

AED milllon AED million
Wakala deposits 409 75
Mudaraba saving and term deposits 247 175
Istamic sukuk notes 662 745
Others 18 10
Taotal distribution on Islamic customers’ deposits 1,336 1306

The Group maintalns an investment risk reserve of AED 39 million (2023: AED 22 million) which represents a portdon of the depositors’
share of profits set aside as a resérve.
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32 MNet fee and commission income

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AED million

Fee and commission income:

Retail and corporate lending 2,132 1,758
Cards and e-serviges 1,299 751
Trade finance 1,046 a92
Commission on transfers 219 168
Asset management and investment services 156 104
Brokerage income 110 121
Accounts related services 71 82
Collection sarvices 56 a7
Others 431 50
Total fee and eommission income 5,520 41,283

Fee and commission expense:

Credit card charges 913 593
Consumer and corporate lending 335 291
Brakerage commission B8 56
Trade finance 58 13
Others 382 223
Total fee and cornmission expense 1.762 1,275
Met fee and commission Income 3,758 3,008

33 Net foreign exchange gain

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED millian AED million

Trading and retranslation gain on

fareign exchange and related derivatives! 193 1,346
Dealings with customers 1,639 1,251
Total net foreign exchange gain 1,832 2,597

‘Due to effecthve hedging strategies, the offsetting impact of hedging instruments s reflected in the net gain on investrnents and
derhvatives [note 34).

34 Net gain on investments and derivatives

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AED rmillian

Men realised and unrealised gain an investments at fair value

through profit or loss and derbvatives 5,523 3,730
Met lass fram sale of non trading investment securities {150} (128)
Dividend and other income 26 102
Total net galn on Investments and derhvatives 5,399 3,704

35 Other operating income

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED millfion AED millign

Leasing related income 151 109

Other Income 873 |85)

Total other operating Income 1,024 23
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36 Gain on disposal of stake in subsidiary and fair value gain on retained interest

Om 9 September 2023, FAB and Aldar properties signed an agreement for the sale of FAB's wholly owned subsidiary, FAB Properties LLC
As per the terms of the agreement. FAB PISC concluded the sale of 100% of its whaolly owned subsidiary, FAB Properties LLC, to Provis
Real Estate Management LLC and the share transfer has taken effect and been reflected in the trade license of FAB Properties LLC on
27 December 2023. Accordingly, FAB properties LLC has been deconsolidated from the consolidated financial statements of FAB PISC for
the year ended 31 December 2023,

17 General, administration and other operating expenses

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AED million
Staff costs 4,032 3,570
Infarmation technalogy expeniaes 1,125 1,013
Depreciation 863 743
Prafessional fees 549 583
Amaortisation of intangibles 124 238
Communication expenses 19 208
Primises @xpenies 211 195
Publicity and advertisement 137 111
sSponsarships and donations 23 105
Other general and administration expenses 334 358
Total general, adminlistration and other operating expenses 7.787 7.125
Auditor's remuneration
31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AED millian
Audit services 1z 12
Audit related services 1o E
Nan-audit services 1 5
Total auditer's remuneration 3 25

Audit services

Audit services can be defined as services rendered by the Group's statutory auditor for the audit and review of the financial statements
or services that are normally provided by the statutory auditor in connection with statutery and regulatory filings.

Audit related services

Audit relaved services are services ather than ‘audit services’ for which the auditor of the entity is an appropriate pravider particularly
where those services are required by a law or regulation relating to the jurisdiction and activities of the subject entity.

Man-audit services

MNan-audit services are services which do not fall in the above two segments of service and are also not part of prohibited services.
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3% Net impairment charge

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AED million

Impairment charge an

lnans, advances and lslamic financing 4,430 3,039
other financial assets {3} EL
unfunded exposures 42 242
ather non financial instruments - 2
Recoveries [726) {507
Write off of impaired financial assets 181 266
Total net Impairment charge 3,924 3,078

39 Income tax expense

In addition ta adjustments relating to deferred taxation, the charge for thee year is calculated based upon the adjusted net profit for the
year at rates of tax applicable in respective overseas locations. The charpe to the consolidated statement of profit or koss for the year is
as followes:

31 Dec 2023

AED million

Charge for the year 1818 1,042

Recondliation of Group's tax on profit based on accounting and profit as per the tax laws |5 as follows:

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023

AED millhon AED million

Prafit before taxation 13,914 17,552

Effect of tax rates 2,287 570
Tax effects of:

= Income not subject to tax {105) (3}

- Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 154 72

= Mavemaent in unrecognised deferred tax 11) s

- Prior year adjustments 12 {35}

- Withholding tax deducted at source 466 432

- Mandatory remittance tax 1 4

- Others 14 -

Taotal income tax expense 1,818 1,042

a0 Cash and cash equivalents

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AED milllon

Cash and balances with central banks 114,548 233,555
Due from banks and financial institutions 23,774 25,324

238,322 258,879
Less: balances with central banks maturing after three months of placement [690) {559]
Less: due from banks and financial institutions maturing after three months of placement [908) {335}
Liess: restricted deposits with central banks for regulatory purposes [B96) {787}
Total cash and cash equivalents 235,828 257,158

Cash and cash eguivalents include notes and colns on hand, unrestricted balances held with central banks and highly liquid financial
assers with original maturities of three months or less from the date of its acquisition,
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41 Leases
The Growp leases a number of branch and office premises. The leases typically run for a period of 10 years, with an option to renew the
lease after that date, For some leases, payments are renegotiated every five years to reflect market rentals. Some beases provide for

additional rent payments that are based on changes in bocal price indices.

Thie Group also leases T equipment with contract terms of one (o thee years. These leases ane short term andfor leases of low value
items. The Group has elected nat to recognise right of use assets and lease liabilities for these leases.

Information about leases foar which the Group is a lessee is presented below:
Leases as lessee

Right of use assets

The movement during the year of right of use is as follows:

Right of use assets 31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AED mitllian

Balance as at the beginning of year 158 197
Increaze/{decrease] during the year 76 [13)
Depreciation and other adjustments (3] [26]
Balance as at the end of year prki] 158

Lease liabilities 31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED milllion AED millian

Maturity analysks — contractual undiscounted cash flows

Less than one year 109 141
One ta five years 118 176
Mare than five years 43 5
Total undiscounted lease labilities at the end of year 270 322
Amaounts recognlsed in profit or lass 31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AED million
Interest on kase liabilities 13 13
Depreciation charge for the year 74 7l
Expenses relating to short term leases and low value assets [ 51
Total amounts recognised in profit or loss 151 135
B4 of 116
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42 Commitments and contingencies

The Group, in the ardinary course of business, enters into various types of transactions that involve undertaking certain commitments
such as letters of credit, guaranbees and undrawn loan commitments.

There were no other signficant changes in contingent labilities and commitments during the year other than those arksing out of narmal

course of business,
31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million BED millon

Letter of credit 39,751 48,151
Guarantees 138,198 117,118
Trade contingencies 177,950 165,169
Undrawn commitment to extend credit 78,962 77,843
Commitmants for future capital expenditure 1,622 1,593
Commitments for future private equity investments 2,181 1,807
Total commitments 82,765 #1243
Total commitments and contingenches 260,715 246,512

Credit risk characteristics of these unfunded facilities closely resemble the funded facilities as described in note 50{a).

Liettier of eredit and guarantiee: ["Trade contingencies”) commit the Group to make payments on behall of customers’ contingent upan
the production of documents ar the failure of the customer to perform under the terms of the contract.

Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to extend boans, advances and lslamic financing and revolving credits.
Commitments generally have fived expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require a payment of a fee. Since commitments
may expire without baing drawn upen, the total contracted amounts do not necessarily reprasent future cath requiremaents.

Undrawn loan commitments
31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023

Concentration by location Trade contingencies

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023

AED milllon AED million AED milllon AED million
UAE 53,022 A5,493 122 636 114,215
Europe 9,602 11,763 14,338 15,038
Arab countries 4,208 7,465 17.086 13,919
AmeTicas 6,057 3,546 9,153 10,234
Bsia 2,831 4,039 13,975 11,527
Others 3,242 4,537 762 336
Total concentration 78,962 77.843 177,950 165,265
Concentration by lecation is based on the residential status of the customers.,
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43 Derivative financial instruments

In the ordinary course of business the Group enters into various types of transactions that involwe derivative financial instrumenits.
Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value from the price of underlying items such as equities, bonds, intarest rates,
fareign exchange, credit spreads, commaodities and equity or other indices. Derivatives enable Group to increase, reduce or akter exposure
to specific risks such as interest or credit,

Group primarily uses the following derivative instruments for trading and risk management purposes.
Forwards and futures

Forward and futures contracts are contractual agreaments to buy or sell a specified financial instrument at a specific price and date inthe
future. Forwards are eustomisad contracts eransacted in the aver—the—counter market, Futures contracts, including commadity futures,
are transacted at standardised amounts on regulated exchanges and are subject to daily cash margin requirements,

Currency forwards represent commitments to purchase forelgn andfor domestic currencies, including non deliverable spot transactions
[i.e. the transaction is net settled). Forward rate agreements are individually negotiated interest rate futures that call for a cash settdement
at a futwre date for the difference between a contracted rate of interest and the current market rate, based on a notional principal
amaunt,

Foreign currency and interest rate futures are contractual obBgations to recelve or pay a net amount based on changes (n currency rates
or interest rates, or to buy or sell foreign currency or a financial instrument on a future date at a specified price, established in an organised
financlal market. The credit risk for futures contracts is negligible, as they are collateralised by cash or marketable securities, and changes
in the Futures’ contract value are settled daily with the exchange.

Swaps

Swaps are contractual agreements between twa parties to exchange stréams of payments over time based on specified notional armaunts,
in relation to movements in a specified underlying index such as an interest rate, foreign currency rate or equity index.

Currancy and interast rate swaps are commitments to exchange one sat of cash flows for anather, Swaps result in an sconomic axchange
of cashflows arising out of currencies or interest rates [for example, fived rate for floating rate) or a combination of all these [i.e., cross-
CUFPEREY IMtEFet rate daaps), No exchange of principal takes place, except for Sertain ROt CURPERCY SWaRs.

Credit default swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to make payments with respect ta defined credit events, based on
specified notional amounts. The Bank purchases credit default swaps in order to mitigate the risk of default by the counterparty an the
underlying security referenced by the swap.

The Group's credit risk represants the potential loss if countarparties fail to fulfil their obligation. This risk is monitored on an ongoing
basis with reference ta the current fair value, notional amount of the contracts and the liquidity of the market.

Options

Options are contractual agreements under which the saller (writer] grants the purchaser (holder] the right, but not the obligation, either
to buy (4 call option) or el (a put option] at or by a set date or during 4 set period, a specific amount of a financial instrument at a
predetermined price, Tha seller receives a premium from the purchaser in consideration for tha assumption of risk. Options may be either
exchange-traded or negotiated between the Group and a customer over the counter [“0OTC").

Exchange traded derivatives are measured at fair value by reference to published price guoted in the market. Where derivatives are
exchanged OTC, fair wvalue is derived from prices for the derivative’s components using appropriate pricing or valuation models or
valuation technigues such as discounted cash flows, Please refer to section 49(d) for further details an valuation tachnigues.

Thie table below shows the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments, which are equivalent to thieir falr values,
together with the notional amounts analysed by the term to maturity. The notional amount is the amount of a derivative’s underlying,

reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The notional amounts indicate the
volume of transactions outstanding at year end and are naeither indicative of the market risk nor cradit risk.
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43 Derivative financial instruments [continued)

The posithee f negative fair value in respect of derivatives represents the gain/loss respectively, arsing on fair valuation af the trading and
hedging instrument and are not indicative of any current or future losses. Furthermore, positive [/ negative amount has been adjusted to
the carrying valuve of the hedged loans, advances and Islamic financing, non tading investment securities, term borrowings and
subordinabed notes where hedge accounting has bean applied.

Where collateral agreements are in place against certain counterpartien, and in order to mitigate any credit exposure, FAB would recebve
collateral, &5 at 31 December 2024, the Group received cash collateral of AED 12,395 million (31 December 2023; AED 13,844 million)
against positive fair value of derivative assets from certain counterparties. Correspondingly, the Group placed cash collateral of AED
14,434 millian (31 December 2023; AED 16,199 million) against the negative fair value of derivative liabilities.

Derivatives held for trading purposes

The Group uses derivatives, not designated in a qualifying hedge relationship, to manage its exposure to foreign currency, interest rate
and credit risks o initiates positions with the expectation of profiting from favourable movement in prices, rates or indices. The
Instruments used mainky include interest rave and currency swaps and forward contracts. The fair values of those dertvatives are shawn
inthe table abowve,

Derivatives held for hedging purposes

Derivatives held as fair value hedge

Thee Group uses derivative financial instruments for economic hedging purpeses as part of its asset and lability management strategy by
taking offsetting positions in order to reduce its own exposure to fluctuations in exchange and interest rates. The Group uses interest
rate swaps to hedge against the changes in fair value arising from specifically identified interest bearing assets such as loans, advances
and Islamic financing, non trading investment securities, term borrowings and subordinate notes. The Group uses forward foreign
exchange contracts and currency Swaps to hiedge against specifically identified currency risks,

Derivatives held as cash flow hedge

The Group uses forward contracts to hedge the foreign currency risk artsing from its financial instruments. The Group has substantially
matched the critical terms of the derivatives to have an effective hedge relationship.
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44 Segmental information

The operating structure consists of six key Business sepments acrass Geographic sagments that are driving the business strategy,
customer value propositions, products and channel development and customer relationships in addition to supporting the delivery of
the Groug’s financial performance.

Operating segments are identifled on the basis of internal reports about the components of the Group that are regularty reviewed by
the Group's CEQ (the Group's chief operating decition maker] in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess i£s
performance. Information reported to the Group's CEQ for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of perfformance is based
on following strategic business units offering products and services to different markets.

Business segments

Imvestment Banking [16")

1B effers banking and financing solutians, meluding corporate & lslamic finance, capital markets, transaction banking, trade, liquidity
and cash management services along with a broad range of risk management solutlons across credit, rates, FX and money market
products. Focused on Institutional clients, the IB team enhances product delivery and specialization across various customer sectors
which includes Government, Sovereign & Public Sector, Sowereign ‘Wealth Fund & Financial Sponsors, Matural Resources, Global
Diwversified Industrials, Financial Institutions Group & Global Subsidiaries.

Corporate & Commercial Banklng {"CCRB")
CCB focuses on large corporates, medium and small entities with diversified products offering across sub segments which includes
Corporate Banking, Contracting, Commercial Banking and Privileged Client Group.

Global Markets - trading ("GM-trading")

Gi-trading encompasses trading, market-making. risk management and investment management activities across Linear products
[FX, Rates, Crediv and Securities financing), Structured Products, Commedities, and Investments, Global Markets Trading delivers best
in elass rading B risk management solutions, providing our clients access 1o a bread range of financial products. Global Markets sales
Income which are pertaining to customers are reflecbed in the respective underlying business segment managing the client
relationship,

Consumer Banking ["CB™)

The business targets consumer & alite segment across conventional and Islamic sactor, The products’ ranges offered include everyday
banking products such as current accounts, deposits, credit cards, koans, wealth products etc. The business furnishes variety of
distribution and sales channels, including mobile and internet banking, branches, direct sales agents and through its banking
subsidiaries namely First Abu Dhabi slamic Finance,

Private Banking (“PB")

The business targets affluent and high net-worth customers across conventional and Islamic sector. The products’ ranges offered
Include everyday banking products plus sophisticated investment solutions, brokerage and securities services. The business furnishes
variety of distribution and sales channels, including mobile and internet banking, branches, relationship managers and through its
banking subsidiaries namely FAB Securities,

Head Offlee {“HO™)

The Group provides centralized human resources, information technology, operations, finance, strategy, irmeestor relations, risk
management, credit management, corporate communications, legal & compliance, internal awdit, procurament, treasury operations
and administrative support to all of its business units. As part of the Group's diversified business madel, HO also includes share of
resules of aswociates and certain subsidiaries partially or fully owned by the Group, providing banking services and other
complementary offerings across real estate and property management services. These include FAB Misr, First Gulf Libya, Mismak, FAB
Properties, Abu Dhabi National Properties and certain other portfalios.

Geographic segments

The Group & managing its various business segments through a network of branches, subsidiaries and representative offices within
the two defined geographic segments which are UAE and International. Balance sheet and income statement Information presented
within this section is pringipally the lacation from which a client relationship exists and is managed, which may differ from where it is
financialty booked.
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45 Earnings per share

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year after deduction of Interest on Tier 1 capital notes paymant by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year as set out below:

31Dec 2023

Basic and diluted earnings per share;

Net profit for the year [AED million) 17,055 16,405
Less; payrment on Teer 1 capital notes (AED million) {743) 1653)
Met prafit after payment of Tier 1 capital notes (AED millian) 16,312 15,752
Weighted average number of ordinary shares:

Weighted average number of ardinary shares [million) 11,041 11,041
Basle earnings per share (AED) 1.48 1.43

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023

Dilsted earnings per share:

Mt profit for the year for calculating diluted earnings per share (AED million) 16,312 15,752
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for diluted earnings per share (millkon) 11,041 11,0081
Diluted earnings per share {AED) 1.48 1.43

46 Related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to contral the other party or exercise significant influence aver the other
party in making financial or operational decisions. Related parties comprise majos shareholders, Board of Directors and key management
personnel of the Group. Key management personnel comprise those executive committes members [“EXCO) of the Group who are
invohved in the strategic planning and decision making of the Group. The terms of these transactions are approved by the Group's
management and are made on terms agreed by the Board of Directors or management.

The Group operates in a market dominated by entities directly or indirectly contralled by the Government of Abu Dhabi through its
gowernment authorities, agencies, affiliations and other organizations, collectively referred to as government related entities. The Group

has transactions with other government related entities and these transactions are conducted in the ordinary course of its business on
terms agreed by the Board,

Degails of Board of Directors remuneration and key management personnel remuneration & as follows;

31 Dec 2024 31 Dwsc 2023

AED million AED million

Board of Directors’ remuneration paid during the year 45 15

Short term benefits 73 64

Long term benefits 4 g
Tiof 116
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 First Abu Dl Bank

46 Related parties (continued)

Balances with related parties at the reporting date are shown below:

Baard of Major Cenlor

Directors  shareholders  management Assoclates Total
AED million AED millian AED mill ion AED million AED million

As of 31 December 2024
Financial assets

Investmients at fair value through profit or ks - 81 . . 81
Rewverse purchase agreements - 347 - - a7
Derivative financial instruments. - 17 - - 17
Loans, advances and Islamic financing 2,652 32118 145 1,042 36,057
Nan trading investrnent securities - 3,515 - - 3,515
Other assets 21 433 7 . 461
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments - 67 . 4 7L
Custamer accounts and other deposits 9,736 19,232 61 636 29,665
Other Babilities 197 191 1 - 389
Contingent [labilkties
Darivatives - 10,218 - 750 10,968
Leter of credit - 433 . . 433
Guarantees 181 1,058 - - 1,239

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Interest income 130 1,894 B 59 2,089
Interest expense 429 537 1 104 1,071
Fae and commission income 9 159 - a4 212
Fee and commission expense - - - 126 126
Net gain on investments and derivatives - 121 - (105] 16
Beoard af Major Senior
Directors  shareholders  management Assoclates Tatal

AED million AED mrillion AED milllion BED milllion AED million
As of 31 December 2023
Financial assats

Investments at fair value through profit or loss . &l - - 1
Reverse purchase agreements - CEL | - - 5349
Derivative financial instruments . 52 ‘ . 52
Loans, advances and lslamic financing 2846 30,983 106 BEd 34,797
Nan trading investment securities - 3788 - - 1,788
Other assets 27 a8 3 1 390
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments . 224 - - 224
Customer accounts and ather deposits 13,038 8,649 a7 a5 22,5549
Other Rabilities 194 a4 1 139
Contingent liabilities
Derivatives - 5,287 - - 8,287
Letter of credic . 352 . . ELF)
Guarantees 29 1073 - 1 1,103
Far the year ended 31 December 2023
Interest income 153 1,712 3 a2 1,910
Intarest expense 257 635 1 97 920
Fee and commission income 3 &1 - 16 &0
Fee and commission expense 132 132
Nét gain an investments and derivatives . 93 . s 128

Az at 31 December 2024, the ECL allowance held against related party balances amounted to AED 33 million
[31 December 2023: AED 34 million ).
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47 Fiduciary activities

The Group held assets under management in trust of in a fiduclary capacity for its customers at 31 December 2024 amounting to
AED 39,889 million (31 December 2023: AED 13,827 milionk Furthermore, the Group provides custodian services for some of its
customers.

The underlying assets held in a custodial or fiduciany capacity are excluded from these consolidated financial statements of the Group.

48 Special purpose entity

The Group has created a Special purpose entity [SPE) with defined objectives to carry on fund management and investment acthvites on
behalf of customers. The equity and investments managed by the SPE are not controlled by the Group and the Group does not obtain
benefits from the SFE operations, apart from commissions and fee income. In addition, the Group does not provide any guarantees or
assume any liakilities of these entities. Consequently, the SPE assets, liabilities and results of operations are not included in these
consolidated financial statements of the Group. Tha SPE is as fallows:

Country of As at As at

Legal Name Activities incarporation 31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
One share PLC Inwestrment Company Republic of Ireland 1005 1005
75 of 116
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49 Fair value measurement

{a) Valuation framework

The Group has an established control framewark for the measurement of fair values. Sevearal control functions suppart this framewark
[Waluation Control within Finance and Market Risk Anabytics within Risk functions) that are independent of Front Office. Significant
valuation issues are reported to the Group Valuation Committee operating undear the Board Risk and ESG Committee.

Specific controls inclede;

* |ndependent verification of market data and model parameters used in the valuation process and valuation adjustments are applied
when significant deviations are observed;

Review of significant unobservable and stale inputs and significant changes to the fair value measurement of Level 3 instruments;
Validation and approval process for new models and frequent review of existing models or when changes are performed;

Profit ar loss atiribution analysis process for changes in fair value.

Calibration against cbsarved market transactions.

LI

When third party information, such as broker quotes or pricing servioes is used to measure fair value, Valuation Contrel assesses and
documents the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that the valuations meet the requirements of IFRS
Accounting Standards. This includes:

= \arifying that the broker or pricing service is approved by the Group for use in pricing the relevant type of financial instrument;

* Understanding how the fair wvalue has been arrived at, the extent to which it represents actual market transactions and whether it
represents a quoted price in an active market for an identical instrument;

= When prices for similar instruments are used to measure falr value, understanding how these prices have been adjusted to reflect the
characteristics of the instrumant subject to measurement; and

= [If a number of quotes for the same financial instrument have been obtained, then understanding how fair value has been detarmined
using those quotes.

Sagnificant valuation issues are reported to the Group Valuation Committee,
{b) Fairvalue adjustments

The Group applies the following fair value adjustments to its base valuation procedures to better reflect the individual characteristics of
trades that market participants would consider when trading in or setting specific prices for these instruments.

Exlt risk adjustments:

Thesa reflect the bid-offer costs that would be incurred if substantially all residual net portfolio market risks ware closed using available
hedging instrurments or by disposing of or unwinding the position. Bid-offer levels are generally derived from marker quotes such as
braker data, Less liquid instruments may not have a directly abservable bid-offer level, In such instances, an exit price adjustment may
be derived fram an abservable bid-offer kevel for a comparable liquid Instrument, or determined by calibrating to derivative prices, or by
seanario or histarical analysis.

Criedit risk adjustments

The eredit valuation sdjustment ["OSA°) & an adjustment to the valuation of aver the counter ("OTC') derivative conteacts to reflect the
pessibility that the counterparty may default and that the Group may not receive the full market valse of the transactions. The debt
valuation adjustrment {'DVA’) ks an adjustment to the valeation of OTC derivative contracts to reflect the possibdlity that the Group may
default, and that it may not pay the full market value of the transactions.

These adjustments are calculated for both uncollateralised and collateralised derivatives across all asset classes. CVA and DVA are
calculated using estimates of expected positive and negative exposures respectively, probability of default and recovery rates, at a
counterparty level. Counterparties include (but are not Emited to) financial institutions, carporates, sovereigns and sovereign agencies
and supranationals, Expected exposure is generally estimated through the simulation of underlying risk factors through Monte Carlo
simulation technigues.

Probakility of default and recovery rate information is generally sourced from the CD5 markets. Where this information is not available,
or considered unreliable, alternative approaches are taken based on mapping the counterparty to a sector curve based on the rating, the
region and the industry sector,

76 of 116

261/325



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

oooooog
g by de Ly
Motes to the consolidated financial statements FA B{

Far the year ended 31 December 2024 i A D Bk

49 Fair value measurement (continued)

{b) Fair value adjustments (continued)
Model related adjustments

Thesa are applied when either modal inputs are overly simplified, the model has limitations deriving the fair value of a pesition ar there
Is no market wide consensus on the cholce of a model. These adjustments are reguired to ocorrect existing model weaknesses or
deficiencies that were highlighted during the model validation process.

The models applied by the Bank may not always capture all characteristics of the market at a point in time as they cannot be recalibrated
at tha same pace as new market conditions. Such interim adjustments are reflected in the model uncertainty adjustmeants until the base
models are updated.

(¢} Valuation inputs

The Group measures falr values using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the
FrEAGUREMEns,

Lzl 1: Ingruns that are quoted market prices [unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments,

Lewvel 2: Inputs other than quoted prices inclueded within Lavel 1 that are observable either directly [i.e. as prices) or indirectly [i.e. derived
from prices). This category includes instruments valued using quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted
prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques in which all
significant inputs are directhy or indirectly observable from market data.

Lever| 3: Inputs that are unobservable, This categarny includes all instruments for which the valuation technique includes inputs that are
not observable, and the vnobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments
that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are
required to reflect differences between the instruments.

Model inputs and parameters are based on and calibrated to market observable prices, including broker quotes, current or recent
transaction prices and market consensus, where available, In absance of market observable prices, ampirical data and/or judgament may
ba required in model calibration process, which & inherently subjective and can yield range of possible inputs and estimates of fair value.
Management uses prudent judgement to select the most appropriate point in the range.

{d] Valuation techniques

Valuation technigues include net present value and discounted cash flow maodels, comparisen with similar instruments for which
observable market prices exist, Black-Scholes and polynomial option pricing models and other valuation medels. Assumptions and inputs
used in valuation techniques include risk free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other premiums used in estimating
discount rates, bond and equity prices, forelgn currency exchange rates, equity and equity index prices and expected price volatilities and
cormelations.

The abjective of valuation techniques s to arrive at a falr value measurement that reflects the price that would be received to sell the
asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The Growp uses widely recopnised valuation medels to determing the fair value of comman and simple financial instruments, such as
interest rate and currency swaps, that use only observable market data and require little management judgemant and estimation.
Observable prices or model inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and eguity securities, exchange traded derivatives,
and simple OTC derivatives such as interest rate swaps. The availability of obsarvable market prices and model inputs reduces the need
for management judgerment and estimation and reduces the uncertainty assoclated with determining fair values. The avallability of
observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets and is prone to changes based on specific events and
general conditions in the financial markets.

For more complax instruments, the Group usas proprietary valuation models, which are usuvally developed from recognised valuation
rodels, Seme or all the significant inputs into these models may not be observable in the market and may be derived from market prices
of rates of estimated based on assumptions, Examples of instruments involving significant unobservable inputs incdude certain OTC
structured derivatives for which there is no active market. Valuation models that ermploy significant unobservable inputs require a higher
degree of management judgement and estimation In the determination of fair value, Management judgement and estimathon are usually
required for the selection of the appropriate valuation model to be used, determination of expected future cash flows on the financial
instrument being valued, determination of the probability of counterparty default and prepayments, determination of expected
volatilities and correlations and selection of appropriate discount rates. In cases whare inputs are deemed unobservable, additional
pravision may b reguired to cater for the higher valuation uncertainty.
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49 Fair value measurement (continued)

{d) Valuation technigues {continued)

Fair value estimates obtained from models are adjusted if any significant risk factor is missing in valuation model to the extent that the
Group believes that a third party market participant would take tham inta account in a pricing a transaction, Fair values reflact the credit
risk of the Instrument and Include adjustments to take account of the credit risk of the Group entity and the counterparty where
appropliate, For measuring dervatives that might change classification fram being an asset to a lability oF vice verss — e, interest rate
swaps = fair values take into account both credit valuation adjustment (CVA) and debit valuation adjustment [DVA) when market
participants would take this inte consideration in pricing the derivathves,

Model inputs and values are calibrated against historical data and published forecasts and, where possible, against current or recent
observed tranwactions in diffarent instruments and against broker quotes, This calibration process is inherently subjective, and it yields
ranges of possible inputs and estimates of fair value, Management uses judgement to select the most appropriate point in the range.
Derivatives

OTC derivative valuation models calculate the present value of expected future cash flows, based upon ‘no arbitrage” principles. For many
vanilla derivative preducts, the modelling ap proaches used are standard across the industry. For more complex derivative products, there
may be some differences In market practice. Inputs to valuation modeb are determined from observable market data wherever possible,
including prices availlable from exchanges, dealers, brokers or providers of consensus pricing. Certain inputs may not be observable in the
market directly but can be determined from observable prices via model calibration prooedures or estimated from historical data or ather
SOUTCEs.

Equity Instruments

The majerity of equity instruments are actively traded on public stock exchanges with readily avallable active prices on a regular basks.
Units held in units are measured based on their published net asset value (NAV), taking into account redemption and/or other restrictions.

Private equity

Investments in private equity funds are valued using net asset values (‘NAV') recelved by the external fund manager. Adjustments may
b required to the NAY of funds to obtain valuations that considers exit costs observable on the secondary market and to reflect the
uncertainty inherent to the nature of the investments held.

Securities

Fair value is determined using quated prices in active markets when available. When not available, quoted prices in less active markets
are used. In the absence of position's specific quoted prices, fair value may be determined through benchmarking from comparable
Instruments.

Structured notes

These comprise principally credit and equity linked notes issued by the Bank, which provide the counter party with a return linked to the
creditworthiness of specific underlying. Examples of the unobservable parameters in<lude correlations between underlying,

Dbt instrument

Debt instruments are fived or floating rate securitbes or may with embedded derhvative characteristics. The Bank uses active market prices
when available, or other abservable inputs in discounted cash flow models to estimate the corresponding fair value.
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49 Fair value measurement (continued)
(e} Fair value of financial instruments [continued)
Financial instruments measured at fair value - hierarchy

Theie table below analses financial instruments measured at fair valee at the end of the reporting periad, by the level of the fair value
higrarchy:

Larvirl 1 Lewel 2 e Total
AED million AED million AED million AED million

As at 31 December 2024
Inwestment at fair value through profit or loss 12,980 38678 4,370 56,028
FWOCI - with recycle to prafit or loss 144 821 31,316 1,785 177,922
FVOCT - without recyche to profit or loss 1,184 4,094 217 5,495
Derivative financial instrurnents [assets) 387 45,506 - 45,893
159,372 119,594 6,372 185,338
Derivative financial instfurments [liabélities) 133 53,530 95 53,758
Term borrowings - 328 354 BE2
133 53 858 449 54,440
Lewel L Lisvel 2 Level 3 Tatal
AED million AED mitlian AED million AED million

As at 31 December 2023
Inuwestment at falr value through profit or loss 6,708 35,357 3,144 45,209
FWOCT - with recycle to prafit or kess 133 542 36,255 919 170,716
PO - without recycle ko profit or loss 1,025 3,321 207 4,553
Derivative financial instruments [assets) 634 45,776 11 A5 421
141 905 120709 4,281 FE6 200
Derivative financial instruments [liabilities) 931 50,071 - 51,002
Term borrowings - 260 253 513
931 30,331 253 51,515

The following table shows the transfer betwean the hierarchies:

Liswel 1 it Livwl 3 Tital
Investment at fair value through profit or loss A0 i AED million AED millian
Balance as at 1 January 2024 6,708 35357 3144 45209
Transfers:
Transfer from lavel 1 to level 2 1542) 542 - .
Transfer from level 2 to level 1 G958 {958) - -
Tranafer from level 2 oo level 3 . (18] 18
416 {434) i8
MNet non level movements 5,856 3,755 1,208 10,815
Balance as at 31 December 2024 12,980 38,678 4,370 56,028
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49 Fairvalue measurement (continued)

(e} Fair value of financial instruments [continued)

e Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Mon trading Investment securities AED milfion AED milllian AED millian AED milllion
Balance as at 1 January 2024 134,567 39,576 1,126 175,269
Transfers:
Transfer from level 1 to level 2 {4,130) 4,130 - -
Tranafer from level 2t level 1 72 {872) - g
Transfer from level 2 to level 3 - {578] 578 -
{3,258) 2,680 578 -
Met non leval movements 14,696 {E,Edin] 298 8,148
Balance as at 31 December 2024 146,005 35410 2,002 183,417
! Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tetal
Investment at fair value through profit or loss AED rillian AED millian AED milkian AED million
Balance as at 1 January 2023 3,545 23,020 5,454 31,817
Transfers:
Transfer from level 1 to level 2 [95]) a5 .
Transfer from level 1 to level 3 [91) - 91
Transfer from level 2 to level 1 532 B32}
A (537} g9l
Net non level movements 2,717 12,874 |2,1949) 13,392
Balance as at 31 December 2023 5,708 35,357 3,144 45 209
v o Ll 1 Lenvel 2 Ll 3 Tetal
Bhon fracling inrestinant ssturides SED millien AED million BED million AED million
Balance asat 1 January 2023 123,797 39,053 4,812 167 662
Transfers:
Transfer from level 1 to level 2 (28300 2,830 -
Transfer from level 1 ta level 3 (3] - 3
Transfer from laviel 2 1o level 1 8,179 (8,179} .
Transfer from level 2 to level 3 - {2) 2
Transfer from level 3 to level 1 g4 - (384)
Transfer from level 3 to level 2 - 3,630 13.630)
5,730 11,721) {4,005)
MNet non level movements 5,040 2,244 323 7607
Balance as at 31 December 2023 134,567 39,576 1,126 175,268

Management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and lHabilities recognised in the consolidated financial statements do
not materially differ from thair fair values,
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49 Fair value measurement (continued)
(e} Fair value of financial instruments {continued)

The following table shows a reconciliation of instruments measured at fair value (assets) and classified as Level 3:

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AED million

Balance as at the beginning of year 4,281 10,065
Additiens / transfers 3,668 914
Fabr value and other adjustrments {1,577) [6,698)
Balance as at the end of year 6,372 4,281

The Level 3 financial instruments incudes private equity investrnents, and their valuations are based on the latest net asset published by
the fund manager, The effect of changes in its valuation is covered as part of equity price risk included in note 50(c). The remaining mainky
comprise of debt instruments which are priced using last available prices.

Any change in one or mare of the unabservable inputs to reflect reasonably possible alternative assumptions would not change the fair
value significanthy.
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50 Financial risk management
Risk management framework
Introduction and overview

The primary objective of the Group is to manage risk and provide risk adjusted returns to the sharehalders in line with the accepted risk
prafile, In the course of doing its regular business activities, the Group gets exposed to multiple risks notably (a) credit risk; (b} market risk
[Including interest rate risk in the rading book, currency risk, equity rsk in the trading book): (c) liquidity risk; (d) interest rate risk in the
banking book: (&) capital risk () operational risks (including risk of fraud, legal and compliance risks: information security risk and data
privacy, business continuity, technology risks (g) E5SG risks (h) model risks and (i) shari’ah compliance risks. A well established risk
gowernance and ownership structure ensure oversight and accountability of the effective management of risk at the Group. The Risk
management tone i sat right at the top from the Board of Directors (“BOD"} and gets implemented through a well defined risk
management structure and framewaork.

Composition of Board

The Board of Directors ["BODY) is responsible for the overall direction, supenvision and control of the Group. The BOD has delegated
authaority to speclalist committees who support the Board in execution of its responsibilites. The day to day management of the Group is
conductad by the Group Chief Executive Officer |“GCEOQ™) and the Group Executive Committee as delegated by the Board. The BOD has
overall responsibility for the Group including approving and overseeing the implementation of its strategic objectives, risk strategy,
carporate governance and corporate values within the agreed framewark in accordance with relevant statutory and regulatory structures,
In accordance with the Bank's Articles of Association, the BOD comprises eleven members. Each Director holds the position for three years,
which may then be renewed for a further three year term. The Board of Directors of the Bank's subsidiaries has the same fiduciary
responsibilities towards their respective entities as the Bank’s Directors have towards the Group.

Corporate Governance Framework

The Group has a comprehensive Corporate Governance Framework that puts in place rules, processes and policies through which BOD and
Senior Management manages the Group, The BOD drives the implementation of the corporate pavernance standards and in accordance
with its charter, has aversight respansibility for the Group's corporate povernance framewark, The Group corparate governance sets the
highest standards of professionalism and requires subskdiaries and international kbocations to setup individual specific governance
framewarks, in alignméent with the Group governance framework, to gavern them. The Head of Corparate Governance is the custodian af
the Corporate Governance Framework,

Risk Management Structure

The BOD approves risk management framework for the Bank, its subsidiaries, its associates and international offices including
representative offices and overseas branches, Under authority delegated by the BOD, the Board Risk and ESG Committes ["BRESGC"),
through its separately convened Group risk management meetings formulates high level Group risk management policies, exercises
delegated risk autharities and oversees the implementation of risk management framework and controk, The Group Chief Risk Officer
["GCRO") functionally reports to this Committee.

' Li! L1 lanlaall

The BMC approves and oversees execution of the Group's business plan per the strategy approved by the Board and oversees and reviews
material aspects of the business of the Group. The Committee meets guarterly or more frequently as deemed necessary.

Risk and ESG Commi “BRESGC”

The BRESGC pravides oversight and advice to the BOD in relation to current and petential future risk exposures of the Group, risk strategy,
risk appetite and tolerance as well as risk culture of the Group. The committee also oversees and provides guldance to the Board of
Directors on ESG matters, The Committes meets quarterly or more frequently as deemed necessary. The Group's risk management function
has a direct reporting line to the BRESGC through the Group Chief Risk Officer.

& Committes [“BAC)

BAC ensures svarsight of the effectiveness of the internal control systems and the quality and integrity of financial statements and financial
reporting. In addition, it reviews, approves and oversees the internal and external audit programs and ensures coordination between
Internal and external auditors. The Group Chief Audit Officer (“GCAO") provides reports to the Committes on internal contrals and the
Head of Comphance reports directly to the BAC on compliance related matters, The Committes meets quartarly of more frequently as
deemed necessary.
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50 Financial risk management (continuead)
Risk management framework (continued)

Board Level Committees within the Group

Remun#ration an i 61 mmi

The REMOO recommends and oversees the appointment and termination of BOD and succession planning for the Group Executive
Comrmittes membars, This includes an assessment of the skills, knowledge and expertise needed to ensure they are positioned to discharge
their responsibilities in the interests of the shareholders and the Group. The Committee also reviews and recommends to the Board,
Group's reward policy framework, approves and oversees reward design and ensures It ks appropriate and consistent with the Group's
culture, values, business performance and risk strategy. The Committee meets at least bwice a year or more frequently as deemed
NECessany.

Management Level Committees within the Group

There are ten management level committees. The major functions of the ten management cormmittees are listed below:

fve Committes (“EXCO")

The Group Executive Committee [“Group EXCO") is the Group's senior most management level committee and it operates under a
delegated authority from the Board, it is responsible for identifying matters required or appropriate for escalation to the BOD or Board
Committess, The Group EXCO alo supports the Group CEO to determine and implement the Group's strategy as approved by the Beard,

The key responsibilities of the Committee include decisions an the Bank’s strategy, annual budgets, capital management, risk management
and Group's more material policies and procedures, The Group EXCO may delepate certain authorities and powers to management
committees and individuals, but the Group EXCO reserves the authority to deal with strategy, annual budget and structure; financial
riparting and contrals; capital managenment; rek and internal control; Contracts; Cofporati Bovernants Mathir; sxecutive remuneration
and human resources policies, and Group poliches generally; general meeting of sharehalders and communication and any other matters
I its discretion,

Growp Credit Committes ["GECT]

GOC assists in the development and implementation of the Group”s credit, investment strategy and the related policies and procedures,
The aim of GCC is to have an overall credit oversight of the Group and decide on credit policy and governance related matters.

Group Risk Committes ("GRC™)

GRE asstats i setting and monitaring Group sk strategy, fidk exposunes and group risk profile inaneffective manner. The primary objective
of GRC is to define, develop and periodically monitor the Group’s risk appetite, risk frameworks, methodologies and risk policies. GRC
reparts material risk matters to the EXCO and BRESGC as appropriate,

o mpliance Com & [“Compliance commi

Group Compliance Committee assists the Group EXCO and BAC in fulfilling its objective of overseeing the Bank™s regulatory responsibilities
a5 well as ensuring the Bank's compliance with the applicable laws and repulations issued by various regulatory authorities across the
Group,

Iakili mini = "

The G-ALCO is the driving force and key decision maker behind the structure and quality of the balance shest. It is directly accountable to
thie BRESGC for ensuring that the risks within the Group's 2550t and lability position are prodently managed.

| R <tesring Committes ("HRSC"

HRSC assists the Group EXCO and the REMCO to implement strategic and operational HR Initlatives to deliver the Group's long-term
shareholder value, The Committee is the farmal sponsar of all material HR initiatives across the Group in line with the Group's Employes
Value Proposition ["EVP™).
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50 Financial risk management (continued)
Risk management framework (continued)
Management Level Committees within the Group (continued)
rationsl & Fraud R mi i FR
GORFRC assists the Group EXCO and the Board Risk and ESG Committee ["BRESGC") in fulfilling the Group’s Operational and Fraud Risk
Managemeant related matters, The key rasponsibilities of this committee are to define guidefines to ientify and manage Operational &

Fraud risks in all new products, processes, and activities, defining scope, policy, objectives, assumptions, and roles / responsibilities of the
Group's Operational & Fraud Risk Management Palicies.

h

GTRISC assists the Group EXCO and the BRESGC in oversesing, reviewing and taking decisions on the implementation of Group's security
contrals and business continuity framework to ensure that infarmation assets of the Bank are adequately protected and to ensure
prevention and recovery from potential natural / man made threats. It also serves as an independent and cbjective governance forum
which ensures the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's information security framewaork.

Group ESG Committas [“G-ESGC"}

G-ESGC assists the Group EXCO and BRESGC in all ESG related matters of the Group. The primary objective of the G-ESGC is to promote
and aversee the ESG strategy, culture, and awareness across the Group.,

Tach rif i &)

GTSC assists In fulfilling EXCO’s governance and owversight responsibilities of all technology and information systems across the Group and
supports the work of the BRESGC in its owersight of the Group IT governance framewark. The GTSC ensures alignment of business
strategies with technology priorities and acts to pratect and enhance the shareholders investment in technology,

Group Risk Management Framework

The Group has a centralized Risk Management functions led by the GCRO. The Risk Management function comprises of sub functions such
as enterprice risk, credit risk, capital risk, market and interest rate risk, liquidity risk, modal risk, operational and fraud risk, legal risk,
technology risk, Informatlon security and data privacy, business continuity, eredic recovery, corporate governance, shariah compliance risk
and Group ESG,

Thie Bank has established the Group risk management framewark to suppart the Group's rsk managemaent objectives. The care abjectivie
of the Group risk management framework is to provide a reasonable degree of assurance to the Board that the risks affecting the Group's
achievement of its core values and purpose are being identified, measured, monitored and controlled through an effective integrated risk
MANAZEMENT Syatenm.

The framewark consists of policies covering all material risks across the Group that include enterprise risk management policy, risk
appetite policy, reputational risk management policy, strategic risk management policy, ESG related framework and policies, capital
management policy, corporate governance related policies and framewark, credit risk related policies, market and liquidity risk related
policies, operational risk management policy, fraud risk policy, outsourcing risk policy, dormant account palicy, compliance risk related
policies, information security risk related policies, busingss continuity management policy, internal capital adequacy Assessment process
pelicy, pillar I disclosure pelicy, new products approval policy, model risk management policy and Shari'ah governance framework. In
addition to these risk management policies, the Group has also put in place detailed operational paolicies, procedures and programs
wherever needed.

The Group follows a three lines of defence approach for managing risks. Business units and enabling functions, as the first line of defence,
identify and manage risk in their day to day activities by ensuring that acthvities are within the Group's risk appetite and follow all relevant
internal policies and processes. Group Credit, Group Risk, Legal and Group Compliance, as the second line of defence, establishes risk
controls comprising of policies and processes while also providing oversight and independent challenge to the first line of defence. The
Group Chief Risk Officer (“GCRO™) has a direct reporting line to the BRESGC to ensure the independence of Group Risk from Internal audit,
a5 the third line of defence, provides assurance to management and the Board of the effectiveness of risk management practices
emploved by the first two lines of defence. The Group Chief Audit Officer has a direct reporting line to the Board Audit Committes.
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50 Financial risk management (continuead)
Risk management framework (continued)
Group Risk Management Framework (continued)

Az a part of the Group risk management framework, FAB has established a formal risk appetite after a careful consideration of the risk-
revurn trade off.

Risk monitoring and control s primarily based on limits established by the Group's executive management. These limits reflect the Group's
business strategy and the market environment as well as the risk appetite of the Group. Infarmation from all parts of the Group is
eollected, mamined and procewed in order to identify, analyse and contral risks. This rick profile infarmation is presented to the BRESGL
and the Group Risk Committee on a quarterly basis, The information covers group wide risks and is designed to enable the Board and
executive management to receive all necessary information so as to independenthy assess the possible impact of these risks on the Group™s
businesses. The Group uses a range of measures to mitigate and control risks, induding the use of scenario analysis, credit risk mitigation
technigues (collaterak, guarantees, netting, etc.) and risk transfer mechanisms to reduce exposure to risk. Hedging s used to reduce
certaln interest and currency exchange rate risks. The risk profile of all major transactions & assessed and authorised by appropriate
ManAgement representatives, before the transactions are concluded, The effectiveness of all risk mitigation measures is closely monitored
and updated by the risk management unit. The Group risk management frameworks and strategies are dynamically updated based on
regulations and market best practices. The group also regularly conducts training and awareness initiatives for its staff and customers to
ensure robust risk culture.

{a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty to a financial asset fails to meet its contractual obligations and cause the Group to
Ineur a financial less., it anses principally from the Group®s loans, advances and Islamic financing, due from banks and financial institutions,
reverse repurchase agreements and non trading debt investments, derivative financial instruments and certain other financial assets.

Management of credit risk

Credit risk identification and assessment at the Group is carried out through a comprehensive mechanism comprising three levels of
defence, The first level of defence lies with the business units and i responsible for maintaining a sewnd credit quality of assets in line
with the approved business strategy and craedit risk appetite. The second level of defence is with the Group Credit Unit that assesses the
risk at the customer and facility level, ensures proper documentation of customer, facility and security documents along with Group Risk
anagemEnt unit that assesses credit risk on a portfalio basis and maintains credit risk policies and cradit risk rating modek up to date.
Internal Audit acts as a third level of defence with regular reviews of credit analysis and the risk functions to check the compliance with
policies and procedures of the Group. The unit also reviews the policy decuments on a regular basis.

As part of credit risk manitering and control framewark, regular risk menitaring both at customer and portfolio levels is carried out along
several parameters which include credit quality, provisioning levels, exposure limits across several dimensions, financial and operating
performance, account conduct, end use of funds, adequacy of credit risk midgants, adherence to financial and non financlal covenants,
recovery parformance, rating system performance among athers.

Credit quality analysis
The following tables set out infarmation about the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortised cost, and fair value through
ather comprehensive income [FYOCI) debt investments without considering collateral or ather credit enhancament. Unless specifically

Indicated, for financial assets, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts. For loan commitments and financlal guarantee
cantracts, the amounts in the table represent the amounts committed of guaranteed, respectivihy,
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements FAB
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Firtk bu Dhals Rank

50 Financial risk management [continued)
(a) Credit risk {continued)

Credit quality analysis (continued)

The movement of gross exposure is as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
Loans, advances and Islamic financing AED million AED million AED million  AED million AED million
Balance as at 1 lanuary 2024 464,787 12,938 22,924 3,992 504,641
Transfers:
Transfer fram Stage 1 te Stage 2 {2,920 2,920 . . .
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 [1,790] - 1,790 - -
Transfer fram Stage 2 to Stage 1 2,200 {2,200} - = =
Transfer from Stage 2 bo Stage 3 - {3.458) 3,454 - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 1,453 {1,453) - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 114 - {114) - -
{2,396] {1,285) 3,681 - -
Net amounts written off {69] {350) {3,466) {220) {4,105)
Net non SEage mavements 51,259 [775) 1462) 145 49,977
Balance as at 31 December 2024 513,581 10,528 22,677 3727 550,513
Unfunded exposure Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Tatal
AED milllon AED million AED millllon  AED rallllon AED millllon
Balance as at 1 January 2024 237,130 4,313 1,664 5 243,112
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 {1,815) 1,816 - - -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 {7 - 7 - -
Transfer fram Stage 2 to Stage 1 195 {195} - = =
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - {1.079) 1,079 - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 19 {19 - -
{1,628) 561 1,067 - -
Net non sLage mavements 15,273 {1,032} 437 {4) 13,800
Balance as at 31 December 2024 250,775 31,842 2,294 1 256,912
: Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POLI Total
St s himic iandug AED m.ﬁ'mn AED mllghon AED mlﬁeinn AEDmillon  AED million
Balance as at 1 January 2023 441,558 13,262 0,898 4,007 479,725
Tranafers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (4.921) 4,921 -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 {2,940) - 2840
Transfer from 5tage 2 to Stage 1 2,078 (2,078} .
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 E 13.334) 3,334
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 B [B04) :
Transfer from Stage 3 1o Stage 1 344 - [344]
15,439} 313 5126
Net amounts written off {54} {39} {3,415} (88} (3,596}
Net non stage movements 28,722 1598} 315 73 28,512
Balance as at 31 December 2023 A64,T87 12,9348 22,924 3,992 S0, 641
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 '
Fit b Dhatd Rank
&0 Financial risk management [continued)
{a) Credit risk {continued)
Credit quality analysis (continued)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POLI Total
insun e aypocing AED milion  AEDmilion  AEDmilion  AEDmillon  AED million
Balance as at 1 January 2023 225,881 4,639 1,341 11 231,932
Transfers:

Transfer from 5tage 1 to Stage 2 |2,998) 2,498 , , !
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 [289) - 2a4a - -
Tramsfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 1,273 1,273} -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 E (1,256} 1,256
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 5 15)
Transfer fram Stage 3 to Stage 1 - - -

11,514) (26} 1,540 . .
Net non stage mowements 12,763 1360} 11,217} 6} 11,180
Balance as at 31 Decernber 2023 237,130 4,313 1,654 5 243,112

There were no material movement between stages for other financial assets for the year ended 31 Decermnber 2024,
The external ratings for trading securities and non trading investment securities are disclosed below:

Mon trading investment Iwgest e nts at falr

3 through profit or los

31 Dec 2024 31 D¢ 2023 31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AED million AED milllon AED million

Fub, 26,804 409 B4
Alto A 127,150 117,559 24,523 24,035
BBBto B 17,170 28,885 24,117 14,783
COC and blow 568 €58 132 -
Unrated 6311 5,938 6,847 5,697

187 447 175,644 56,028 45,108
Less: expected credit loss {1) (1) - -

187 446 179,643 56,028 A5, 109

Unrated investments primariby consist of investments in private equities and investrments in equities which don't carry credit risk.
Investments at fair value through prafit or loss ane neither past due nor impaired.

Collateral held and other credit enhancements

Thie amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty, Guidelines are in plage
covering the acceptability and valwation of each type of collateral. The main types of collateral abtained are, as fallows:

Far securities lending and reverse repurchase transactions, cash or securities
Far corporate and small business lending, charges over real estate properties, inventory and trade receivables and, in special
circumstances, government guarantees

= For retall lending, morigages over residential properties,

Thie Groip has st up a framewark for credit rek mitigation as a means towards reducing credit Fisk in an expoture, at facility level, by a
safety net of tangible and realizable securities including approved third party guarantees/ insurance, The types of Credit Risk Mitigation
["CRM™) include netting agreements, collaterals, guarantees, credit derbeatives and Standby Letters of Credits [“SBLC"L The Group
ensures that all documentation used in collateralized transactions and for documenting on and off balance sheet netting, guarantees,
credit derivatives and collateral is binding on all parties and is legally enforceable in all relevant jurisdictions. The Group also ensures that
all the documents are reviewed by the appropriate authosity and have appropriate legal opintons to verify and ensure its enforceabdlity,
Managemeant maonitors the market value of collateral on period basis.

9 af 116
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements FAB
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Firat Abs Dhib Rank
50 Financial risk management (continued)
{a) Credit risk {continued)
Credit quality analysls [continued]

The Group holds collateral and other credit enhancements against its certain credit exposures. An estimate of the collateral against loans,
adwances and Islamic financing is shown below:

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED milkon AED million

Against individually not impaired:

Real astate 210,768 211,957
Shares and bonds 205,320 193,131
Cash 10,178 13,716
Othars 31,082 26,267
Tatal against individually not impaired 457,349 445,071
Against individually impaired:
Real estate 15,064 12,483
Shares and bonds 134 1,310
Cash 86 118
Othars 150 291
Total against individually impaired 15,434 14,202
Total collateral against loans, advances and Islamic financing 472,783 459,273
31 Dec 2023
AED millkon AED rmillicon
Collateral value cover
0=50% 11,138 12,970
51-100% 3,542 5,031
Above 100% 3,834 1,622
MNet credit impaired loans, advances and Islamic financing 18,514 19,623

Thie Group's policy is to pursue timeby realisation of the collateral in an orderly manner. There has been no significant change in the quality
of tha collateral dufing the year ended 31 Decemnber 2024 and 31 Dacembaer 2023,

While the Group has not répossessed significant amount of collateral in 2024 and 2023, maintaining repossession rights assist the Group
in the restructuring and settlement of credit impaired loans, advances and Islamic financing.

Derivatives, reverse sale and repurchase agreements and securities borrowing

Thee Growp mitigates the cradit risk of derivatives, reverse sale and repurchase agreements and securities lending by entering into master
netting agreements and holding collateral in the form of cash and marketable securities.

Derivative transactions are transacted an exchanges, with central clearing counterparties ["CCPs”) or entered into under International
Swaps and Derivatives Assodation ("15DA”) master agreements. In general, under these agreements, in certain circumstances = e.g. when
a cradit avant such as a default occurs — all outstanding transactions under the agreement with the counterparty are terminated, the
termination value is assessed as per the jurisdiction netting rules and the amount (due or payable] in settlement with the counterparty.
Such arrangements provide for single net settlement of all financal instruments covered by the agreements in the event of default on
anmy one contract, The Group wsually executes a credit support annex in conjunction with the I3DA agreement, which requires the Group
and its counterparties to post collateral to mitigate counterparty credit risk. Collateral is also posted daily in respect of derivatives
transacted on exchanges and with COPs.

The Group's sale and repurchase, and reverse sale and repurchase, transactions and securities borrowing and lending are covered by
master agreaments with netting terms similar to those of 15DA master netting agreements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

First by Dhai Rank
50 Financial risk management (continued)
{a) Credit risk {continued)
Credit quality analysls [continued)
Loans, advances and Islamic financing

The general credit worthingss of a corporate customer tends to be the most relevant indicator of credit quality of a loans, advances and
Istamic financing extended to it. However, collateral provides additional security and the Group generally requests that corporate
borrowers provide it The Group may take collateral in the form of a first charge over real estate, floating charges over all corporate assets
and ather liens and guarantees.

Because of the Group's focus on corporate customers’ creditworthiness, valuation of property collateral is conducted on periodic basis in
line with the regulatory requirements.

O balance sheet

The Group applies the same risk management policies for off balance sheet risks as it does for its on balance sheet risks. In the case of
commitments to lend, customers and counterparties are subject to the same credit management policies as for loans, advances and
Istamic financing. Collateral may be sought depending on the strength of the counterparty and the nature of the transaction.

Amounts arising from ECL
Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment
Refer accounting policy note &la)ivil).

Significant increase in credit risk

The Bank assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since recognition. When determining whether the risk of
default en a financial instrument has inereased significantly since initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable and supportable
Information that Is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This indudes both quantitative and qualitative infermation and
anahysis, based on the Group's historical experience and expert credit assecsment and induding forward looking information.

The abjective of the assessmant is to idantify whether a significant increase in cradit risk has occurred for an exposure by comparing:

= Probability of default at origination adjusted for the koan maturity; and
= Probability of default at current reporting date adjusted for the remaining life of the loan.

The Group identifies key drivers Behind changes in credit risk for portfolios. Generally, a significant increase in credit risk is assessad bsed
an the estimation of probability of default and consideration of quantitative factors, each of which are designed to reflect forard looking
infarmation on a indidividual instrument basis.

Similarly, for consumer portfelio, the current and historical performance of the account s used estimate whether a signficant increase in
credit risk has oocurred,

A borrower that is morne than 30 days past due on s contractual obligations is presumed to have a significantly increased credit risk as a
backstop unless this presumption can be reasonably rebutted based on supportable forward looking information.

The credit risk may also be deemed te have increased significantly since initial recognition based on gqualitative factors linked to the
Graup's cradit fisk management processes that may not otherwize be fully reflected in it quantitathee analysis on a tirmely basis, Thes
asssaments usually reflect in placement of such exposures under certain categories, for example watch list. In these cases, PD gets
calculated on |fetime basis.

If there is evidence that there is no bonger a significant increase in credit risk relative to initial recognition, then the loss allowance on an
Instrument return to being measured based on 12-month PD. Some gualitative indicators of an increase in credit risk, such as delinguency
or forbearance, may be indicative of an increased risk of default that persists after the indicator itself has ceased to exist. In these cases,
the Group determines a probation period during which the financial asset is required to demonstrate good behavior to provide avidence
that its credit risk has declined sufficiently, The Group s abo complying with all probation period requirements in relevant jurisdictions
stipulated by bocal central banks,

In addition to the guantitative test based on movement of PD, the Group also applies expert credit judgement to incorporate the
estimated impact of factors not captured in the modelled ECL results.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

First by D Rank
50 Financial risk management (continued)
{a) Credit risk {continued)
Amounts arlsing from ECL [continued)
Credit risk rating

Each exposure is allocated to a credit risk rating on initial recognition based on available information about the borrower, EXposures ane
subject to ongoing monitoring, which may result in an exposure being moved to a different credit risk rating,

Thie Growp allocates nan consumer expesure a credit risk rating based an variety of data that is determined to be predictive of the risk of
default and applying experienced credit judgement. Credit risk ratings are defined using gualitative and guantitative factors that are
Indicative of risk of default. These factors vary depending on the nature of the exposure and the type of borrower.

Credit risk ratings are defined and calibrated such that the risk of default oocurring increases exponentially as the credit risk deteriorates.
So, the diference in risk of default between credie risk grades 1 and 2 i smaller than the difference between credit sk grades 2 and 3.

For consumer exposure, credit risk assessment is performed through credit risk scoring of borrower's characteristics and past payment
behaviour. These scoring factars vary depending on the nature of the exposure and product. Credit risk scores are defined and calibrated
such that the risk of default increases exponentially as credit worthiness deteriorates.

Definition of default

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

= A default is considered to have occurred with regard to a particular obligor when the Group considers that the obligor is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations to itself in full or a facility or any material credit obligation to the Group is more than 90 days past due. The
Group uses internal credit risk grading for corporate customer that reflects its assessment of the probability of default for non
consumer segment.

= Some off balance sheet exposures such as bank guarantees, letters of credit etc. are treated as impaired if the Group believes it is
likesly thery willl be called wpon and the custormer will not be able o mest these commitments, Where the off balance sheet exposure
is in the farm of derivative contracts and there is deubt that all contractual future cash flows will be received from the counterparty,
the Group assess the net marked to market exposure to the counterparty taking into account any enforceable netting arrangements
in place. The net position {if due from) thus arrived is considerad impaired,

Inputs inte the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary aver time to reflect changes in
circumstances. The definition of default largely aligns with that applied by the Group for regulatony capital purposes [note S0(e)).

Incarporation of forward looking information

The Group incorporates farward loaking information into bath the assessment of whether the credit risk of an Instrument has increased
significantly since its initial recognition and the measurement of ECL.

Thee Group farmulates thres economic soenarios: a base case, which is the median scenario assigned a 40% probability of occurring, and
two bess likely scenarios, one upside and one downside, each assigned a 30% probability of occurring. These scenarios are consistent far
2024 and 2023, External information considered includes economic data and forecasts published by governmental bodies and monetary
authorities in the countries where the Group operates, supranational organisations such as the OECD and the International Monetary
Fund and selected private sector and academic forecasters.

The Group has identified and decumented key drivers of credit risk and credit loss for each portfolio of financial instruments and, using
an anabysis of historical data, has estimated relationships batween macro economic variables and credit risk and credit boss.

The Group has performed a sensitivity analysts on how ECL on the credit portfolko will change if the scenarlo welghts used in the IFR59
model were changed. From a sensitivity anabysks paint of view, if the dewnturn scenanio was changed by #1054/-10%¢, ECL would have

changed by +0.6%/-0.6% respectively. In reality there will be interdependencies between the various econemic inputs and the exposure
to sensitivity will vary across the economic scenarios.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

Firtk ks Dhals Rank
50 Financial risk management (continued)
{a) Credit risk {continued)
Amounts arlsing from ECL [continued)
Incorporation of forward leoking information [continued)

Thee ecomomic soenanas used as at 31 December 2024 included the following key indicators for the years ending 31 December 2025 to
2023,

Region Macro Variable'? Scenario 025 2026 2027 2028 2029
MENA Dil Price Base -6, 9% 6.08% 070 -0.06% 011%
Upside 0,31% BA4% 3.30% 0.26% n.2T%

Downsde -19.71% 11.73% 2.15% 0.22% L1 s

LIAE GDP Base 4.03% 3.456% 3E1% 399% 182%

Upside 6. 80% A% 3.81% 397% 1.82%

Downside 2.16% 1.35% 5.70% 5.27% 394%

LIAE Howslng Prioe Index Bane 5.50% 4135 5.50% 5.24% 511%

Ugside 8.95% 5.74% 5.68% 5.E9% 5.09%

Downsde -11.82% -1A41% 6.12% T.97% 5.87T%

Egypt GDP Base 495% 5.43% 5.55% 5.42% 5.05%

Upside 7.54% 5.49% 5.55% 5.42% 505

Dowmsde -0.16% 5.50% 6.47% 6A16% 5.57%

Egyit Equity Indix Base 1.70%% LE1% 3.76% 1.91% 1.72%

Upside 14.24% BE. 1.06% 0.03% 1.52%

Downsde 37 61% 225T% 19.56% 8.20% 3.3

LK UEGDP Bae 1.21% 1.28% 1.52% 1.62% 1.70%
Upside 4,74% 1.53% 147% 1.65% 191%

Downsde 4.55% 161% 2T 1.652% 162%

UK Coguity Index Base 1.52% 2.76% 3.BR% 314% 2 26%

Upside 11.81% DLDEs 1.16% 1.36% 155%

Downsde 18, 20% 11.70% 10,16% 5.02% 1.54%

'Represents the average annualized increase [ decresse ower the period.
There are sdditiona’ macro viriables Tadors wied for other regions which are relesant o theis market,

Modified financial assets

The contractual terms of a kean may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing market conditions, customer retention and
other factors not related to a current or potential credit deterioration of the customer. An existing loan whose terms have been modified
may be derecognised and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan at fair value in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note Gla){v].

When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in derecognition, the determination of whether the
assat's credit risk has increased significantly reflects comparisen of;

= its remaining fetime PD at the reparting date based on the modified terms;
= with the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data on initial recognition and the original contractual terms.

Thie Group renegotistes loans to customers in financial difficulties [referred to as forbearance activities’) to maximise colkection
opportunities and minimise the risk of default. Under the Group's credit policy, loan forbearance s granted on a selective basis if the
debtar is eurrently in default on its debt or if there is a high risk of default, there is evidence that the debtor made all reasanable effers
to pay under the original contractual terms and the debtor ks expected to be able to meet the revised terms,

The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, changing the timing of interest payments and amending the werms of loan
covenants, Both consumer and non consumer loans are su bject to the credit policy. The Group Credit Committee regularly reviews reparts
an forbearance activities.

For financial assets modified as part of the Group's forbearance policy, the estimate of PO reflects whether the modification has improved
of restored the Group's abllity to collect mterest and principal and the Group's previous exparience of similar farbearance action. As part
of this process, the Group evaluates the borrower’s payment performance against the modified contractual terms and considers various
behawiowral indicators.

Generally, forbearance is a gqualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and an expectation of forbearance may constitute
evidence that an expasure i credit impaired [nate Gla)(viil). A custamer needs to demaonatrate consistently pood payment behaviar over
a period of time before the exposure is no longer considered to be credit impaired/fin default,
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 .

Fint b Dhatd Rlank
50 Financial risk management (continued)
{a) Credit risk {continued)
Amounts arlsing from ECL [continued)
Loans with renegotiated terms
Loans with renegotiated terms are koans that have been réstructured due to deterioration in the borrower™s financial position and where
the Group has made material concessions that it would not otherwise consider. Once a loan is restructured, it remains in this category for
a4 minimum period of twebve manths, in order to establish satisfactory track record of performance under the restructuring agreement.
The Group determines the twelve month period to commence from the date of signing of the agreement for restructuring, As at the

regorting date, the Group has renegotiated the following exposures:

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
AED million AED million

Laans with rencgotiated terms

Gross carrying amaunt 11,172 10,301
Impaired armount 4458 5,124
Allowance for impairmant 3,213 3,357

The impact of modification loss on the Group's consolidated financial statements is not material.
Measurement of ECL
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL (note & a(viil:

= probabilty of default (PD);
= loss piven default (LGD); and
= exposure at default (EAD),

The lifetime PDs are determined based on maturity profile. The maturity profile looks at how defaults develop on a partfolio throughout
the remaining life of the loans.

PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default aver a given time horizan, It is estimated at a point in time, The calculation is based on
statistical models tailored to the various categories of counterparties and exposures, These statistical models are based on internal data
comprising both quantitative and qualitative factors and market data (where availabde), PDs are estimated congidenng the contractual
maturities of exposures and estimation is based an currant conditions, adjusted to take into account estimates of future conditians that
will impact PD.

LGD s the magn itude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Group estimates LGD parameters based on current collateral, counterparty
Industry, country of risk and recovery costs that is integral to the financial asset. LGD estimates are recalibrated for different economic
scenarios incorporating the impact of change in macro economic parametars, They are calculated on a discounted cash flow basis using
the effective interest rate as the discounting factor,

Amounts arlsing from ECL

EAD represents the expected exposure at the time of default. The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure to the counterparty
and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contractual obligations. For undrawn commitments and unfunded
facilities such as letter of credit and guarantees, EAD represents the amount of exposure when the facility becomes payable and the
funded conversion s based on factors provided by Basael,

However, for credit card facilities that include both a lean and an undrawn commitment component, the Group measures ECL over the
period it is exposed to credit nsk and EAD is computed using internal model. Though the Group can cancel the limits with immediate
effact but this cantractual right is not enforced in the normal day to day management, but only when the Group becomes aware of an
Increase in credit risk at the facility level,

Medelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis wherein the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared risk
characteristics that include:

instrument type;

histerical parformance;

industry; and

Reographic location of the borrower,

- & & @
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50 Financial risk management (continued)
{a) Credit risk {continued)

Amounts arlsing from ECL [continued)
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The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that exposures within a particular group remain appropriately homogeneouws.

Loss allowance

The fallawing tables show reconciBations from the opening to the closing balance af the loss allowance by class of financial instrument.
Thee basis for determining transfers due to changes in credit risk is et out in the Group's accounting pobey, refer

note &{a){vii).

Stage 1! Stage 2 POCI Tatal
AED million AED million AED million AED million
Balance as at 1 January 2024 2,571 2,250 9,923 536 15,280
Transfers:
Tranafer fram Stage 1 to Stage 2 {118) 118 - - -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 [a4] - a4 - -
Transfier from Stage 2 to Stage 1 135 {135 - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - {458) A58 - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 130 {130] - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 42 - {42] - -
15 {245] 330 " "
Impact of change in provishon 946 603 2,743 177 4,469
Wirite offs and other adjustments (4] {411) {3,405) {263) [4,173)
Balance as at 31 December 2024 3,438 2,097 9,591 450 15,576
0n certain assets included as part of other assets, ECL is computed based on simplified approacdh.
Stage 1! Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Tatal
AED million AED millicn AED million AED million AED rillion
Balangce as at 1 January 2023 2,195 2088 9,584 755 15,622
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 {41} a1 -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 |41} - 11
Transfer fram Stage 2 to Stage 1 109 (103} . :
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 {1,279} 1,279
Transfer fram Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 173 [173)
Transfer from Stage 3 1o Stage 1 58 - {58}
BS {1,174} 1,089 : :
Impact af change in provision 210 =Lt ] 2,576 &7} 3317
Write offs and other adjustments |79 [122} {3,326) (132} {3,659]
Balance as at 31 December 2023 2,571 1250 9,923 536 15,280
“On certain assets included as part of other assets, ECL is computed based on simplfied approach.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements FAB
For the year ended 31 December 2024 '
Fint b Dhatd Rlank

50 Financial risk management {continued)
{a) Credit risk {continued)
Maximum expasure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and ather credit enhancements

The table below shows the masimum exposure to credit risk for the components of the balance sheet, including derivatives. The
maximum exposure is shown gross, befare the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting and collateral agreements.

Gross Grass

maximurm maxirmum

BN SUnE EXpOsUre

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023

AED milllon AED million

Balances with Cantral Bank & 212,420 231,635
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 9 50,200 40,496
Due fram banks and financial institutions 1 23,774 25,324
Reverse repurchase agreements 11 69,755 78,581
Loans, advances and lslamic financing 12 550,513 50,641
Nan trading Investment securities 13 181,952 175,091
Other assets excluding prepayments A7.524 40,068
Total 1,136,138 1,095,846
Dervathves hild for trading LE! 39,653 40,151
Derivatives held for hedging 43 6215 6,270
Tatal 45,893 46,421
Contingent liabilities a2 177,950 165,269
Commitment a2 78,962 77843
Tatal 256,912 243,112
Tatal credit risk exposure 1,438,943 1,385,379

Whire financial instrumaents are recorded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the current credit rek exposure but nat the
maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes invalues.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements FAB i

First Absi Dhadd Bank
For the year ended 31 December 2024

50 Financial risk management [continued)

{a) Credit risk {continued}

Classification af investrnents as per their counterparties:

Investments at falr value through

MNan trading investments securities

profit or

31 D 2024 31 D¢ 2023 31 D 2023

AED milllon AED rilion ) AED muilkan
Government sectar 110,846 122,786 43,736 36,557
Supranational 1,072 955 19 2
Public sector 14,014 13,494 999 5}
Banking sector 23,683 26,685 2,732 1,631
Corporate | private sector 27,822 15,684 8,542 6,340
187,447 179,644 56,028 45,208
Less: axpected credit loss on amortised cost
securities {11 1) -
Total non trading Investment securities and
Inwestments at falr value through profit or loss 187,446 179,643 56,028 45,209
Settlement risk

The Growp's activities may give Fise to fisk at the time of settlement of transactions and trades. Settlement rsk is the risk of los due ta
the fallure of counterparty to honor its abligations to deliver cash, securities or other assets as contractually agreed. Any delay in
settlement is rare and monitored.

Derivative related credit risk

Credit risk in respect of derivative financial instruments arises from the potential for a counterparty to default on its contractual
abligations and is limited to the positive market value of instruments that are favourable to the Group. The positive market value is also
referred to as the “replacement cost™ dnce it 5 an estimate of what it will cost to replace transactions at prevailing market raves if &
counterparty defaults. The majority of the Group's derivative contracts are entered into with other banks and financial institutions.

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group does not have sufficient liquid financial resources to meet obligations associated with
financial Rabilities that are settled by delvering cash or anether financial asset. Liquidity risk arises because of the passibilicy that the
Group might be unalle to meet its payment obligations when they fall due a5 a result of mismatchies in the timing of the cash flows under
bath normal and stress circumstances. Such scenarios could occur when funding needed for illiguid asset positions is nat available to the
Bank on acceptable terms, Funding risk arises when the Bank does not maintain a diversified and stable funding base, while minimising
its cost.

Liquidity risk arises from cash flows generated by assets and liabilities, induding derivatives and other off balance sheet commitments,
not being matched in currency, size, and term. The Group ensures that all labilities can be met as they fall due under both businesses as
usual and stress conditions without incurring undue cost.

Management of liguidity risk

The Group has defined the liquidity risk appetite at a level so as to ensure that the Group has a contralled liguidity risk position with
adeguate cash of cash equivalents to be able to meet its financlal obligations, in all foreseeable circumstances and withaut IncEring
substantial additional costs, for a rolling period of three months. The risk appetite is supported by a comprehensive risk management
framewark that includes Group ALCO approved limits for key funding and liquidity metrics, stress testing and a contingency funding plan.

The liquidity risk appetite is also defined at a level to ensure continued compliance with current and proposed liquidity regulation from
both domestic and international regulators and aligned to support the Group’s external credit rating objectives.

One of the critical means to measure adequacy of lguidity as per extant global regulation is through Uquidity Coverage Ratio (“LCR").
Thie Group has been complying with UAE regulation on Basel Il LCR and has been reporting the same for a considerable period of time.
Accordingly, the Group has invested heavily in ensuring systems and controls framewaork is in place to comply with all the qualitative and
quantitative aspects of Basel lll. The Group also continues to measure and report Eligible Liquid Assets ratio [ELAR) in line with CBUAE
stipulation on banking returns,
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 Firut b Db Rari

50 Financial risk management [continued)

{b) Liquidity risk {cantinued}

Liguidity limits are defined at the Group level and are cascaded down throughout the arganisation to ensure that the Group comples
with the defined Group Liquidity REE appetite, Samilarly Inteérnational limits are cascaded to ansere compliance with any additional bocal
regulatory requirements on liguidity management. All liguidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by G-ALCO.

Exposure to liquidity risk

Thie contractual asset and liability maturity mismatch report without considering the Group’s retention history is detailed below,
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Firnt Absi Dhabd Bank
For the year ended 31 December 2024

50 Financial risk management [continued)
{€) Market risk

Market risk Is the risk that the Group’s Income or capital will flucteate on account of changes in the value of a financial instrument
because of movements in market factors such as interast ratis, cradit spreads, fareign exchanpe rates and market prices of equity and
commadity.

Management of market risk

The Group separates its exposune to market rick between trading, investment and non trading portfolios. Trading and investment
portfolios are managed on a fair value basis.

Investmaent Management Committes (“IMCO™) is responsible for oversight and guidance to Global Markets' trading and investmant
activities. It ensures effective management of market risks in accordance with the principles lald down in the market risk management
policy. IMCO acts as a sub committes of Group Asset and Liabilises (*G-ALCO") which has the overall avthority and responsibility to
manage market risks,

Market Risk Group is responsible for the development and implementation of detailed market risk appetite, risk management
methododogies and policies including the control framework that is reviewsed by IMCO and submitted to G-ALCO and BRESGC for approval.

Exposure to market risks = trading portfolios

Thie Bank uses simulation models to assess possible changes in the market value of the trading portfolio based on historical data, The
principal analytical tool used to measure and control market risk exposure within the Group's trading portfolios which comprize of
Investrrents at fair value through prafit or ks and trading derieatives is Value at Risk ["VaR"). The VaRt models are desipgned to measure
market risk in a normal market environment, The VaR of a trading portfolio is the estimated loss that will arise on the partfolio awver a
specified period of time (holding periad] from an adverse market movement with a specified probability (confidence level]. The madels
assume that any changes accurring in the risk factors affecting the normal market environment will fellow a normal distribution,

The VaR model wses historical simulation based on a 99% confidance level and assumes a 1-day holding period. Using market data from
the previous twelve maonths, and observed I-E|al.'inl1'!-|'lipﬁ- betwesn differant markets and prices, the model generates a wide range of
plausible future scenarios for market price movements. The histarical market rates and prices cover the risk factors associated with the
following aset classes: foreign exchange, interest rates, credit, commodities and public equity. The Group has established VaR limits
covering all rading desks. The averall structure of Trading VaR limits is subject to review and approval by the IMCO and then ratified at
G-ALCO. VaR limits are then cascaded down to trading desks.

VaR isdriven by actual historical observations and hence, itis not an estimate of the maximum loss that the Group could experience from
an extreme market event. As a result of this limitation, the VaR is further supplemented with other sensitivity limit structures and risk
measures including stressed VaR (sVaR) and Expected Shortfall (£5) wo address potential concentration risks within each trading portfalio,
Moreowver the trading activity at Group and desk level is subject to Management Action Triggers (“MAT*) that are limits on maximum
lpsses that trigger actions fram management. The VaR is as follows:

31 Dec 2024
AED millien  AED milllon  AED milllon AED million

As at Average Max Min
Vaft - Trading ook
All a3 45 114 23
Interest rate a0 46 l4s 16
Credit 9 17 39 9
Foregn exchange 48 31 il 10
Equity 3 4 9 1
Commodity 11 3 11 -
Diversification benefit (78] {55] {183} {13)
31 Dec 2023
AED million AED million AED million BED million
As at Average Blax Min
VaR = Trading Book
All 93 81 135 51
Interest rate 139 &5 167 24
Credit 17 18 28 11
Foreign exchange 10 14 19 5
Equity 3 4 14 1
Commodity - 1 g .
Diversification benefit (7&) [41] (112) 10
106 af 116
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50 Financial risk management [continued)
{€) Market risk [continued}
Exposure to market risk — banking portfolios

Exposure to market risk in the banking portfolios which comprise of non trading investments securities, reverse repurchase agreements
and certain derbvative instruments which are designated as hedging instruments arise primarily fram the investrment portfolios, interast
rate gaps in the banking book, and the Group's averall FX positions.

The principal anahgical tool used to measure and controd the trading and investments risk exposure within the Group i Value at Risk
["VaR"]). The VaR model i the same as the one used for the trading portfolios. The Group uses VaR limits for controlling the overall
Investrnent risk, including all risk factors such as foreign exchange, interest rate, equities and credit spreads. The averall structure af
banking VaR limits is subject to review and approval by IMCO and then ratified by G-ALCO, VaR limits are then cascaded to different
Investment desks. The VaR is as follows:

31 Dec 2024
AED million  AED milllon  AED milllion  AED million

Average Min

VaR — Banking Book

All 193 176 419 1590
Interest rate 124 a7 146 58
Credit 21 77 413 n
Foreign exchange 9 39 201 B
Equity 20 20 26 16
Diversification banefit {181) {157] 377) {111}
31 Dec 2023

AED million  AED millom  AED milllom  AED million
YaRt = Banking Book As at Average [SE Min
All 383 358 413 472
Interest rate 100 111 176 &0
Credit a2 355 417 252
Foreign exchanga 134 &2 161 14
Equity 18 17 18 15
Diversification benefit (269} [207] (360 i&9]

Forelgn exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate dee to changes in foreign exchange rates and arises
fram financial instruments denominated in a farelgn currency. The Group®s functional currency is the UAE Dirham. The Board of Directars
has set limits on positions by currency. Positions are closely monitored and hedging strategies are used to ensure positions are maintained
within established limits. The Group had the following significant net exposures denominated in foreign currencies:

Met spot Forward
pasition position Total
{short)/long [shart)/long {short]/long
As at 31 December 2024 AED milllon AED milllon AED million
Curréncy
Us Dallar {104,0659) GE,3E8 [37.681)
Bahraini Dinar 13,452 {10,473) 2,979
Saudi Riyal 614 140 754
Kuwaiti Dinar 304 {1,035) {731)
COmanl Reyal 113 {833) {720}
Egyptian Pound 4,853 (4,181) 671
Indian Rupees 1,250 {711) 539
Libwan Dinar 173 . 173
Chinesa Yian {1,590) 1,748 158
Japanese Yen 3,049 {2,901) 148
singapore Dollar 5581 {5,470) 111
Others 14,739 {14,571) 168
107 of 116

292/325



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

ooooooo
dalt g dal iy
Notes to the consolidated financial statements FA B‘(
For the year ended 31 December 2024 sl M Do e,

50 Financial risk management [continued)

{€) Market risk (continued)

Mit tpot Forward
position posttion i
[short)flong [short)/long [shortyflong
Az at 31 December 2023 AED million AED million AED million
Currency
US Dollar 4,830 61,707 66,537
Bahraini Dinar 9,974 [5,931] 4,043
Saudi Riyal 1,621 [4,037] |2.416)
Kuwwaiti Dinar 164 (222) {58}
Qmani Rigal 293 (716) [423)
Egyptian Pound 11,638 [10,697) 841
Indian Rupees 1,230 (169) 1,061
Liwran Dinar 143 - 139
Chinese Yuan |5,582) 6,165 583
Japanese Yen 4,693 [4,656] 4
Singapore Dollar 12,875 [12,734) 141
Others 8,041 (8.822) (7a1}

As AED, SAR and BHD are pegged against US Dollar, the Group's risk exposure to these currencies is limited to that extent. Exposure to
ather foreign currencies is insignificant.

Thie tables below indicate the currencies to which the Group had significant exposure at 31 December 2024 and 2023 on its manetary
assarts, liabidities and net dervatives forward position, The analysis estimates the effect of a reasenably possible movement of AED against
ather currencies, with all ather variables held constant on the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Currency

Azsumed change in exchange rates

Impact an net income in exchange rate;
31 Dee 2024 {AED million) +30 +8 +7 +7 7
31 Dec 2023 (AED million] 40 24 t1 4

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the effect of the assumed changes in exchange rates on equity is insignificant.
Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities decreases as the result of changes in the level of equity indices and individual
stocks. The Group is exposed to equity price risk on equity investments, either through holding of equities of anather entity or through
equity derfvatives such as forward contracts, options of swaps. The fair value of these instruments will fluctuate due changes in the market
price of the underhying equity instruments. The Group manages this risk through setting Equity Delta, Vega and Gamma limits. The Group
also enforces diversification of investments in terms of geographical distribution and industry concentration.

The fallawing table estimates the sensitivity to a possible change in equity markets on the Group’s income statement. The sensitivity of
the incame statement is the effect of the assumed change in the reference equity benchmark on the fair value of investments carmed at
fair value through the income statement.

Impact Impact

Assumed on net an net
lewel of income income
change 31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023

% AED milllon AED million

Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Reference equity benchmarks:

Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange Index B% 101 73

Dubai Financial Market Index 5% 1 1

Met asset value of managed funds and private equities Gl 162 157
Other equity exchanges 5% 21

Unquoted % 7 :

252 235

108 of 116
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50 Financial risk management [continued)
{€) Market risk (continued)

The effect on equity 45 a result of a change in the fair value of eguity instruments held as FVOC at 31 December 2024 and 2023, due to
& reasonably possible chanpe in equity indices, with all other variables held constant, i as follows:

Impact Impact

Assumed on net an net
lavel of Incame Income
change 31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023
% AED million AED million

MNan trading investments securities
Reference equity benchmarks:

Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange Index 58k 3 12

Dubal Financial Market Index 55 2 -

Managed funds 5% -

Other equity exchanges 58 54 a0

Unguoted 5% 216 176
275 128

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing finandal instruments and reflects the possibility that changes in interest rates will adversaly
affect the value of the financial instruments and the related income. The Group manages this risk principally through monitoring interest
rate gaps and by matching the re pricing profile of assets and liabilities. Overall interest rate risk positions are managed by using derivative
instruments to manage overall position arising from the Group's interast bearing financial instruments. The use of derivatives to manage
Interest rate risk is described in note 43,

Interest rate risk is alko assessed by measuring the iImpact of reasonable possible change in interest rate movements. The Group assumes
a fluctuation i interest rates of S0 basks polnts (31 December 2023 50 basts polnts) and uses its internal models f management view to
estimates the following impact on the net profit for the year and equity at that date:

Net profit for the year
31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023

31 Dec 2024 EEENRELGREE]

AED millian AED milisan AED millian AED millean
50 bps up move 6 443 250 560
50 bps down mowve {362] (493} [222) [538]

As on 31 December 2024, interest bearing assets amount to AED 749,884 million (31 December 2023: AED 747 851 million) and interest
bearing liabilities amount to AED 724,353 million [31 December 2023: AED 716,184 million). Interest bearing assets/liabilities re pricing
less than one year, are used for assessing the impact on net profit. The impact on equity as given in the table above i based on the
sensitivity of interest bearing assets and liabilities for the banking book. The sensitivity does not incorparate actions that could be taken
by ranagement to mitigate the effect of inteérest rate movements,

109 of 116

294/325



EDINETOOOO

oOoOooodn

S1T 2 0TT
- OZE"O% DET'ZE BEG'THT T#S'SE o0b0'o% AN UDS 3R FE030U1 SARINLUINY
(02E 9w} PRI {£ze'oT1) EIv'L9 10562 ovo"ar del Agannsuas g U Ee )
" {#£9'0%) FES'ZE [T 0ZE'6E [958°6%) ded w0y )ysod [2)3Ueu) j0 WaLaIes 10
(oze"ar) 793’ (£oe'EET) BBL'ES (518'6) 968'5L dell ucqysod |B|IUBwY 0 WSUEIELS LD
I64"ERE 5921 LO0T'T8T s FEE'TFL 510085 LET'ELT'T
SEROET - s = = = SLROET Auniy
E = BZE'S - iE 198'9 SA0U pEEUIpIogng
= Z05°ZL SBO'ZT EET'BT 976's ZrLat BRL'YO SHUIRADIION WL
£V IS : : - : : ELV'TS SEHWIGEY| S0
E (1.7 06L'EFT GIE'PT SE9° 2T S96'56Y GLE'ZRL SHSCOED JAL 10 LB SIUROIIE JSUDISND
B5L°ES = i - e 3 BSL'ES SUSLMIEL| RIMIEU] aALEALEG
E * LLEY LISEL B8E'LT Jaded [Esauwn)
& E 5 SI9'8T . PLLET BZE'ZE Sjuawaalde aseyunday
CHE'D EOr'ET Ll 8E'D 6Y2'0% DEE'TL SUDIINENSY) (BB PUE SYURG @ Ang
Aynba pue sappqen
LT 6T PIS°19 [T TEPOTT STS'WEL 516'559 LPEELE'T
GEG'BL & 3 = = z BEG'BT sjassE a|qiEurg
(300 EEO'E nerwdinba pue Apadong
BAT°R GST'E sa|adosd yudw S|
E9E'y = E96'Y 53| H0S5E Ul JUBLILSIAL]
Ot G - * - - # ot Gt SIRSEE Y0
SGE'S £TL'6S EL5'LE ¥SLBE LEELT $T'HE 9t EET SN U A Buipe) voy
- EE6'S FEGLT 005"t T90'89 IV ZEE LER'BIS Tupaurieng Husmgs pUr SSOURADE "SUR
ERRSE . - - - = EGH'StH SIALLMISU] PECIEUL AAEELLA0
- SEO'T ERG6T (1] BIGET 19969 syrawssaie aseyamdag 35essy
162 . it . £6V'E ;LT FILED SUCHIMISL [EIEUL PUE SYUBG Wl ang
B2R'S 8581 ags 06T LEO'TE GZS'6T BT0'9S S50 40 Wpoud yHN0IYL ANJEA 18] 18 SjURLTSIA]
0LT05 . . - 9E FE0°AT FOVFLE SYUEY [EIILAD LM SILBIES PUE YSE)

sy

295/325

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

uojji g3y udijjiw Q3w oW g3y uojiu g3y LTI E L o g3y Lo g3y

Ruueag saeak sieak sieak ek T 0} SYLBOLL £ ey

L= TETTRT T 5 Jan0 EO1E EOLT SYIUOLW § o3 dn

[SAND|[O) 5B SEM PTOT J3QWa33(Q TE 1F SE sluawaduelle Mo YsED [EMIENU0I UD paseq o sod Ayansuas pue dedl agel 1sasequ) s dnoug ay|
[panu Lo 451 238 Jsauagu)
{panunuod) ysp yapew  (3)

[panuiuod) Juswadeusww ysu [BI3UBUE 05

PEOT Jaquana] TE papus Jeak au) 1o

qu H— SJUIWIBIEIS |EIIUELI} PRIEPIOSUOD BUf1 0] S310N



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

oOoOooodn

SIT 0111
TT09S TL8h BRETOT GE9'L0T PIRHOT ATAESUSE S0 FEHUL SM RN
[T T5TIT [EFEAA] OTE'ES (SET'T) PIR'GOT dell Ayajisuas SR 5auEq0) (E10L
. 1L80°%6T) (0LLET) £OE7 £005T TI6'T2 detl uoyjsod (BIUBUY 0 WaUBIELS |0
{zen'es) HET 0P {30Ez0T) LIO6F [ger'LT) £56'98 defl uoayso [BIURE) 0 WSUETELS WD
BEEOET LEETT PIPEST HET O TEG'TST EST'E0S EEQRITT
EZFGIT . - : " - EIFETT Aunby
- g 6T = u - ALY 530U pAEUIRIONS
. FiTagd SAYET SLTOT £0L'E GEE'YT GER'ED SHULRGU IO WL
TEG'SF J g = g ki TEGE"IV SmIge] E
J 00T STSSPT FEOGT CLL'TET DER'TOY FORGSL SYs0daEp JAYI0 PUE SIUNOIIE J3WDIEN
TO0'TS e : - % - 700'TS SIUSLUITSU| AU AN TS0
. - EER'S 9IR'ET BSY'ET saded prshuwo’y
: : 163°9 G979 9EGTT 9G0'97 sjuawEa B aseyunday
fd £IL - TSE'Y CCR'GS BIS'TL SUGI IS [T | PUE SHURG o) 800
Ayirba pue Sajigeny
LLVHLT BLGTS G011 HIL 56 FS0'GET 90¢ 059 FEQRITT
OET'DT * & - - aET'0z sjasse aygBurug
114 8 & STTS wrudinbs pue Apadoug
a1 &) - - - 7ar'q E= TR L R TTE T E=T T
Toe'T = - - TOS'T 53]E|IOS5E U JUSMI 5]
TEE'TR : » - = TEE'TH ]
ESS'F b SHE0E GREEE BSL'0T STLEY EVIBLT SHUWANIHE SjUBLEAAUL LIRS WOy
" 585 PaL"GT IPEED apL'es LTLBYPE PSE'EY HugaLieuy HLURES PUR SAMUBADE SuBDy
1Zror . . = y - ToRaw SIUIUNIISU| RSB BN TEALSG
. G9T7E tEPOT BET'EE apL'sT POS'8L STrFURaaie oy N dag aSEasy
S6T'Y - 0T - 96 TLR'OT 99T'ST SUCHIRIISUL R IURUL U SHURG W) ang
fAY LL£5 Loy ra0T 6YT'IE BST'ST GOT'SY S90) 10 Wnad yHROILL ANJES JJB) 18 SjUBLISEAY
GRERE - v - 0T A6RPET DGE'SET S{UEY [EAIUAT 1M SIUBIEG U y5ED
Sy Ty
| 3% oW g3y oI g3y uopw g3y LT uoliw g3y uolfiw g3y
Tupsrag sarad warad el srak T oy S L § e
ISRIRIL-UEN § dARQy SO £t e § e1dn

T L MY TR

)av4

Rttt

HAD|0) SR SEM ETOT JAQUIBIET TE 18 58 DIUAWAHURME MO} YSED [EMIENU0Y U0 paseq uonlsod Aansuss pue ded aaes 5aseu 5 dnous syl

[panuuoa) g9 e 32|
{panuiuod) ysu 1anae  (a)

[panuiuod) Juawadeuew ysu [elpUEUY 0S5
1

¥Z0Z 43quwadaq 1§ papus seak au dog
SIUBWIIEIS [BIIUBUI PIIEPIIOSUDD BY] O3 S3I0N

296/325



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

ooooooo
el a b d ol iy
Notes to the consolidated financial statements FAB i

For the year ended 31 December 2024 Pal e e, iy

50 Financial risk management [continued)
{c] Market risk {continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest Rate Benchmark Refarm

All loans, bonds and other balance sheet exposure in GBP, EURO, JFY and CHF have already transitioned to alternative risk-free rates
[“ARRS"} at 31 Decemnber 2024, For loans, bonds and other balance sheet exposures in USD, a small volume of transactions referancing
synthetic USD dollar LIBOR remain, and will either mature, or transition, before the next repricing date after 31 December 2024,

{d} Operational risk
Operational risk is defined as the risk of losses resulting from inadeguate or failed processes, people and systems or from external events,

FAB has implemented an effective operational risk management cycle to ensure robust risk oversight in line with its operational risk
management policy, procedures, guidelines and governance framewark. This cycle includes the identification, assessment, mitigation,
contral, and menitoring of Operational risks. Initially, operational risks are wentified and categonzed by busingss awners through
Operational Risk Matrices, aligned with the Basel Accord. This assessment evaluates associated risks acress all products, services,
pracesses, projects, product channels, systems, and the bank™s own or outsourced activities. This cormprehensive approach enables
proactive management and oversight of operational risks throughout the organization.

FAR operates under o ‘three lines of defence’ madel for managing rick, forming the comerstane of it rick management framawark.

®  The business units/support functions act as the first line of defence, owning and managing risks in day to day operations, By
managing risks at the source, the first line of defence ensures that risks are controlled at the aperational level and remain within
the bank's risk appetite,

- The Risk management, compliance and oversight functions act as the second line of defence, providing framewark, governance,
advisory and independent layer of aversight, ensuring that the risks are managed within the risk appetite and in compliance with
the applicable regulations.

. The independent internal awdit function constitutes the third line of defence, providing assurance to the Board of Directors and
senior management on the effectiveness of the bank's risk management, control, and governance processes.

By adopting the three lines of defence model, FAB ensures a robust and well governed risk management structure, providing clear
accountability and transparency in managing the full spectrum of risks across the organization. This framework supports regulatory
compliance and promotes a culture of risk awareness and ownership at all leveks,

The Graup has an established Operational Risk framewark consisting of policies and procedures covering risk identification, assessment,
treatment, monitoring and reporting. The Operational Risk framework also provides the interrelation with other risk categories. The
Operational Rk Incident Management Framewaork s designed to ensure that all operational risk incdents including near misses, are
identified, reported, analyzed, and remediated in a timaly and structured manner. The framewark ensures consistent treatment of
incidents across all business units while promoting a proactive risk management culture,

The Board of Directors halds ultimate accountability far the bank's risk management framework, ensuring that FAR operates within the
appraved risk appetite. The Board delegates specific oversight responsibilities to the Board Risk & ESG Committes (BRESGC) and other
specialized committess as part of the governance structure. The Group Operational and Fraud Risk Committea (GOFRC) oversees
operational risk, including fraud risks, across the FAB Group. The GOFRC ensures that operational and fraud risks are appropriateby
managed and controlled throughout the bank,
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50 Financial risk management [continued)
{e] Capital management

CBUAE regulations govern regulatary capital requirements for the Group; in addition, the overseas branches and subsidiaries may be
directly supervised by their kacal regulators. The capital management process for the Group s linked to the overall busingss strategy to
ensure that capital ks adequate to the level of inherent risk in the business and within the firm's capital risk appetite The Group conducts
capital planning in conjunction with the financial budgeting exercise.

The Board and top management define the long tarm strategic direction for the Group, This provides the framework for the devalopment
of a bottom-up plan based on the prejections from individual business wnits. The bottom up plan Is an input to the annual budgeting
process and is conducted at a business unit and country level. These are consolidated for each business division and finally, for the entire
Group. Business units, within each division, develop forecasted balance sheet and income statements for the next year, by considering
the following key parameters:

the short term [one year) goals
risk appetite and strategy
rarget growth rates

arget retums

- 8 = @

The Group’s capital management palicies aim to ensure that it has sufficient capital to cover the risks associated with its activities and
the allecation of capital across the Group. The assessment of the various risks across the Group and their likely impact is carried out in
conjunction with the ICAAP undertaken annually. As part of the ICAAP process, Group Risk function identifies the various risks the Group
is exposed to as part of its day to day operations. Next, the Group assesses these risks against the existing policies and proceduras,
framawarks and methodologles, contingency plans and other processes to measure, manage and mitigate the impact of such risks.
Finalty, the Group determines the capital requirements for the material risk exposures, The key objectives of the Group's capital
manageme-nt procass ara:

BAaintain sufficient capital to meet minimurm capital requirement set by the CBUAE,

haintain sufficient capital to suppornt Group's Risk Appetite and strategic objectives as per long term strategic plan.

Maintain adequate capital to withstand stress scenarias including increased capital requirements determined through 1088,
To support the Group's credit rating.

The Group conducts regular stress test exercises to assess the resilience of the group to adverse market developments under stress
scenarios. The risk factors are shacked using the assumptions made under the respective scenarios and the corresponding impact on the
capital adequacy s determined. The Group uses various macroeconomic and idiosyncratic stress tests in order to project capital need
and capital leveds under various sEress scenafios, The stress testing is parceived as an important tool in internal capital planning, The
stress test result during 2023 shows that the Group has adequate capital even under adversa scenarios.

As part of the gradual introduction of Basel Il in the LAE, and the accompanying standards entitled “Standards for Capital Adegquacy of
Banks in the UAE®™ which were published by the UAE Central Bank on 12 November 2020 by virtve of Notice No.
CBUAE/BSD/N/2020/4980, FAB is required by the UAE Cantral Bank to maintain a minimum total capital adequacy ratio of 15.0 per cent.
Included within this UAE Central Bank prescribed minimum total capital adequacy ratio, FAB, as a domestically systemic important bank
["D-518"), is required, effective from May 2024 to maintain a 0-518 buffer of 2.0 per cent of Common Equity Teer 1. A capital conservation
buffer of 2.5 per cent. of Common Equity Tier 1 i also included within this minimum total capital adequacy ratio of 15.0 per cent. In
addition to this minimurn capital adeguacy ratio, a counter-cyclical buffer s applicable o FAB, which is determined on the basis of the
gropraphical distribution of eredit exposures and the counter-cyclical capital buffer applicable in such jurisdictions.

In addition, the Central Bank of the UAE vide Notice no. CBUAE/BSDVN/Z020/2016 dated 22 April 2020 allows banks to apply a prudential
filter to IFRS 9 expected loss provisions. The prudential filter will allow any increase in IFRS 9 (Stages 1 and 2 only) compared to 31
December 2019 to be partially added back to regulatory capital. This will allow IFRS 9 provisions to be gradually phased-in over a five-
year period until 31 December 2024, As per the CBUAE standards regarding the capital definition, the expected / proposed dividends are
to be deducted from CET1. Consequently, the Capital Adequacy ratho as computed below takes into account the impact of proposed
dividend,
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50 Financial risk management [continued)

{e] Capital management {continued)

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 023
AED milllon AED million

Tier 1 capital
Ordinary share capital 11,048 11,0448
Share pramium 53,583 53,558
Retained earnings 46,171 36,353
Sstatutory and special resenie 13,084 14,099
Géneral reserve and share option schamée LY ¥ 478
Fair value reserve {2.299) {1,185)
Nan-controlling Interests 123 110
Foreign currency translation reserve {4,.844) {2,925)
Less: Proposed dividend® {B,286) (7.844)
Eligible Teer 1 capital {a) 105,107 103,732
Deductions:
Treasury shares - (7
Deferrad tax assets {423) |238]
Goodwill and Intangible assets {20,996) [21,9856)
Other deductions {166] (270)
Total deductions {21,585) [22,501)
87,522 81,231
Additional Ter 1
Tier 1 capital notes 10,755 10,755
98,277 91,986
Tier 2 capital
Qualifying subordinated labilities 6,510 3,899
Allowance for callective impairment 6,966 414
13476 10,313
Tatal regulatory capital base 111,753 102,299
Risk weelghted asseds:
Credit risk 557,331 513,147
Market risk 35,614 36,310
O perational risk 46,629 37,952
Risk weighted assets 639,574 587,449
Ratbos with transktion Impact:
CET 1 ratio 13.7% 13.8%
Tiar 1 capital ratio 15.4% 15.7%
Capital adegquacy ratio 17.5% 17.4%

The Group and its overseas branches and subsidiaries have complied with all externally imposed capital requirements for all periods
presented.

‘The abowve capital adequacy ratios have been calculated in line with Basel guidelines and proposed dividends are subject to share holders'
appraval at the Annual General Meeting.
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50 Financial risk management (continuead)
{fl Country risk

Country risk is the likelihood of econamic, social and political events in a forelgn country negatively Influencing the willingness ar abilicy
of state swned and/or privately ownied customers in that country B pay their debts on time,

The Group undertakes a detailed qualitative analysis pertaining to country risk as a part of the business decision process. These factars
incdlude economic, stress testing of concentrated partfolios; various limits by country; country risk management committee, social and
pofitical stability in each country, the monetary policy, the foreign exchange control measure, the transparency of information, the
financial and market structure, banking regulations and supervision, the legal system and the accounting standards among others,
Country risks are monitored and controlled using country limits set by the Group; these limits are in accordance with overall business
strategy, capital adequacy and provisions for potential risks, risk rating of each country, acceptable level of risk and business
opportunities in each country.

(g) Strategic risk

Strategic risk refars to the risk of current or prospective impact on the Group's earnings, capital, reputation or standing arising from
changes in the environment the Group operates in and from adverse strategic decisions, improper implementation of decisions or lack
of responsivensss to industry, econamic of technological changes, It is a function of compatibility of Group's strategic goals, strategies
developed to achieve those goals, resources deployed to meet those goals and the quality of implementation.

The Group wses several factors to identify and assess impact of strategic risk on its books, including level of integration of risk
management policies and practices in the strategic planning process, aggressiveness of strategic goals and compatibility with developed
business strategies, capital support for the strategic initiatives to take care of earnings volatility, effectiveness of communication and
consistency of application of strategic goals, objectives, corporate culture, and behaviour throughout the Group,

Srrategic risks are monitored and controlled as part of the strategic planning process wherain the Group reviews the progress on strateglc
initiatives vis-3«is the plan and considers whether the progress is in line with the plan and the external business environment. The
strategic plan is periodically reviewed and updated subject to an approval process which is also a part of the strategic planning process.

(h) Compliance risk

Compliance risk s defined as the risk of legal or regulatory sanction, material financial loss, or koss to reputation the Group may suffer as
a result of is fallure te comply with laws, regulations, rules, related self regulatory erganisation standards, or codes of conduct applicable
toits banking activities.

Compliance risk is managed in accordance with a compliance risk management framework and within 3 defined risk appetite. The primary
responsibility for managing compliance risk rests with the Group's first line businesses and enablement functians in accordance with the
Group's three hines of defence risk and control model. The Group complance function i 4 second line function and |3 respansible for
averseeing the management of compliance risk and for the development of internal compliance risk frameworks and pelicies, Groug
compliance warks in partnership with the risk management and legal functions and is overseen by Group Internal Audit.

{i} Reputational risk
Reputational risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from negative public apinkan. This can be due to external or internal events,

The Group identifies and assesses reputational risk by chearly defining types of risks to be captwred, establishing key sources of
reputational risk it may be exposed to, based on individual droumstances, describing the risks identified in terms of the natwure of risk
and the potential consequences that the risks may bring to its reputation. The Group also refers to other relevant information for risk
identification purposes. Such information may be sourced from media reports, stakeholder analysis reports, internal audit and
compliance reports, Management exception reports or other early warning indicators.

For reputational risks, apart from the regular monitoring of external and Internal events that can result in possible reputational rsks, the
Group also has processes to track risks that may affect its reputation, These processes allow the BOD and senior management to take
prampt corrective actions to address any anticipated reputational event in advance.

In order to manage reputational risks, the Group has et in place a mechanism that entails drawing up action plans to identify reputational

risk events and facilitate subseguent monitoring of the progress made; for those risks that may be very difficult or too costly to eliminate
entirely the mechanism requires development of contingency plans as response actions.
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50 Financial risk management [continued)

(il  Envirenmental, Social and Governance (ESG) risk

FAB B committed to embedding sustainability within the bank's organisational structure and cond ucting business in a respansible way.
The bank’s sustainability abjectives and commitments are outlined in the Group's ESG Frameworks and Policles, which include the E&S
Risk Framework, Sustainable Finance Framewark, ESG Policy and E&S Risk Policy. FAB Group's E&S Risk Policy (ESRP) is aligned with the
Enterprise Risk Management Framework. As part of its policies, FAB commits to identify, evaluate and manage environmental, social and
gowernance [ESG) risks and opportunities in its lending portfolio. Also, key ESG risk metrics have been integrated within the bank's Risk
Appetite Framework (for example: credit concentration to counterparties in high ESG risk sectors) and is moniterad and presented to the
refevant ESG Committees. To address the growing attention on climate risk, a standalone Climate Risk Framework and Policy were
developed in 2024 to define FAB's approach, gevernance structure, and methodology to effectively manapge climate risks in line with
regulatory guidance,

{k] Climate related risk

The Bank and its customers may face significant climate related risks In the future. These risks include the threat of financial loss and
adverse non financial impacts that encompass the pelitical, economic and environmental respanses to climate change. The key sources
af climate risks hawve been identified as physical and transition risks. Physical risks arise as the result of acute weather events such as
hurricanas, floods and wildfires, and longer term shifts in climate patterns, such as sustained higher temperatures, heat waves, droughts
and rising sea levels and risks. Transition risks may arise from the adjustments to a net zera economy, 8., changes to laws and
regulations, btigation due to fallure to mitigate or adapt, and shifts in supply and demand for certain commodities, products and services
due to changes in consumer behaviour and investor demand. These risks are receiving increasing regulatary, political and sodietal
scrutiny, both within the country and internationally. While certain physical risks may be predictable, there are significant uncertainties
a5 o the extent and timing of their manifestation. For transition risks, uncertainties remain as to the impacts of the impending regulatory
and palicy shifts, changes in customer dermnands and supply chains, Despite the progress, the Bank acknowledges the need for further
efforts to fully integrate climate in the Bank"s risk assessments and management protocals.

51 Comparative figures

In the previous year, the Group classified gains and losses from cartain hedging instruments under inDerest income or inberest axpense
depending on whether the net impact was a gain of loss, In addition, for certain hedging mstruments, the gains and losses werne presented
an a pross basis within interest incame and interest expenie respectiviely, Accardingly, the below amounts have been reclassified to
reflict the nature of the hedging relationship, The effective portion of gaing or losses on hisdging instruments that hedge financial assets
is presented in interest income and those that hedge financial liabilities & presented in interest expinde,

Interest income from dervatives, previeusly classified under interest income from banks and financial institutions (year ended 31
December 2023: AED 3,864 million), has been offset with interest expense to banks and financial institutions [year ended 31 December
2023: AED 3,854 million) in the consclidated statement of prafit or loss,

Interest income from derivatives, previously classified under interest income from banks and financial institutions [year ended 31
December 2023: AED 3,502 millian], has been reclassified to intarest income from non trading investment securities (AED 2,699 million),
lzans and adwances (excluding Islamic financing) (AED 657 million) and reverse repurchase agreements (AED 146 million) in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Interest expense on derivatives, previously classified under banks and financial institutions [year ended 31 December 2023: AED 3,020
million) has been reclassified to interest expense to term borrowings [AED 2,050 million), customer accounts and other deposits
[excluding kslamic customers’ deposits) (AED 941 million), subordinated notes [AED 27 million) and commercial paper (AED 2 milkan} in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

These presentation changes have no impact on the consolidated statements of financial position, other comprehensive income, changes
in equity, or cash flows.

52 Subsequent events

Thiere have been no events subsequent to the statement of financial position date that would significantly affect the amounts reported
inthe consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024,
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30.52 31.42 40.89 41.31 44.02
27.87 27.97 30.95 34.81 38.33
29.07 29.91 35.80 38.27 41.24
28.13 31.34 35.70 38.40 42.82
2024 12 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025
43.01 43.11 42.13 41.07 40.73 40.41
40.72 42.03 40.57 40.10 38.34 38.76
41.93 42.61 41.25 40.60 39.26 39.41
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank
P.J.S.C. (continued)

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of First Abu Dhabi Bank P.J.S.C. (the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) as
at 31 December 2024, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year

then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards.

What we have audited
The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income for the year then ended;
the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and

other explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and the applicable
requirements of Abu Dhabi Accountability Authority (“ADAA”) Chairman’s Resolution No 88 of 2021
Regarding financial statements Audit Standards for the Subject Entities. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial

statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion.
Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) together with applicable ethical and independence requirements of
United Arab Emirates that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the United Arab
Emirates. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
IESBA Code.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank
P.J.S.C. (continued)

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our audit approach

Overview

Key Audit Matters Measurement of Expected Credit Losses on Loans, advances and

Islamic financing

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in
the consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where the Directors made subjective
judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions
and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk
of management override of internal controls, including among other matters consideration of whether there
was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting
processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Measurement of Expected Credit Losses (‘ECL") on Loans, advances and Islamic financing

The ECL charge for the year ended 31 December
2024 amounted to AED 3,885 million (net of
recoveries) and the allowance for ECL as at that
date amounted to AED 13,789 million.

The Directors recognise a provision for expected
credit losses (ECL) in the consolidated financial
statements in relation to loans, advances and

Islamic Financing.

We performed the following audit procedures on the
computation and reasonableness of the ECL
included in the Group’s consolidated financial

statements for the year ended 31 December 2024:

We obtained an understanding of the design and

tested the operating effectiveness of the
relevant controls established by the Group,
including IT general controls and application
controls, for the estimation of ECL, calculation
of days past due, application of the staging
criteria and the process of overriding ECL
modelled output.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank

P.J.S.C. (continued)

Our audit approach (continued)
Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

The Directors exercise significant judgments and
make a number of assumptions in developing its
ECL models which is determined as a function of
the assessment of the Probability of Default (“PD")
separately for retail and non-retail portfolios,
determination of Loss Given Default (“LGD”),
adjusted for the forward-looking information and
Exposure At Default (“EAD”) associated with the
underlying funded and unfunded exposures subject
to ECL.

In case of defaulted exposures, the Directors
exercise judgment to evaluate and estimate the
expected future cash flows for each exposure. This
assessment guides decisions on whether to
reschedule or restructure the exposure. This
evaluation also takes into consideration the value of
collateral securing these exposures.

ECL overrides including staging overrides and
overlays / underlays may also be recorded by the
Directors using credit risk judgments where the
assumptions and modelling techniques do not
capture all the relevant risk factors.

For a sample of exposures of loans, we
checked the appropriateness of the Group’'s
application of the staging criteria, including the
basis for movement between stages.

We involved our internal experts to assess the

following areas:

o Evaluation of the appropriateness of the
accounting policies adopted by the Group
based on the requirements of IFRS 9;

o Reasonableness and appropriateness of the
methodology and assumptions used in
calculation of various components of ECL
modelling including the computation of
Probability of Default (PD), Loss Given
Default (LGD) and Exposure At Default
(EAD) for the models selected for testing.

o Reasonableness of the key assumptions
and judgements made by Directors in
assessing the definition of default, the
application of Significant Increase in Credit
Risk (SICR) and staging criteria, determining
the historic and forward-looking information
of macroeconomic data in estimating the
ECL components and use of probability
weighted scenarios.

o For a sample of customers, testing the
mathematical accuracy and appropriateness
of discounting used in the ECL calculation.

We tested the completeness and the accuracy
of the data used in the calculation of ECL for
loans.

We assessed the modification of loans
accounting treatment for a sample of parties
that have undergone rescheduling or
restructuring.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank

P.J.S.C. (continued)

Our audit approach (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

The Group’s impairment policy under IFRS 9 is We performed an independent credit

assessment for a sample of non- retail
exposures, including Stage 3, by assessing
guantitative and qualitative factors, including an
assessment of the financial performance of the
borrower, the source of repayments and its
history and credit risk mitigation, including
collateral, on a discounted cash flow basis.

presented in Note 6a (vii) to the consolidated

financial statements.

We considered this as a key audit matter
considering the exercise of significant judgement,
estimates including use of forward-looking
macroeconomic data and complex models, and as it We assessed the reasonableness of

assumptions underlying the ECL provision for

has a material impact on the consolidated financial . L . .
major product categories in the retail portfolio.

statements of the Group.

For a sample of loan exposures, we evaluated
the reasonableness of Directors overrides
including ECL overlays / underlays and staging
overrides during the process of ECL
computation.

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
made in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements around ECL as required by IFRS
Accounting Standards.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank
P.J.S.C. (continued)

Other information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Management
Discussion and Analysis Report but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report, and the Sustainability Report,
Corporate Governance Report and the Board of Directors’ Report which are expected to be made available to
us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and

will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor's report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Sustainability Report, Corporate Governance Report and the Board of Directors Report, if
we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to
those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Directors and those charged with governance for the consolidated
financial statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and their preparation in compliance with the
applicable provisions of the UAE Federal-Decree Law No. (32) of 2021, Article (114) of the Decretal Federal
Law No. (14) of 2018, as amended, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether

due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank
P.J.S.C. (continued)

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs and the applicable requirements of ADAA Chairman’s Resolution No 88
of 2021 Regarding financial statements Audit Standards for the Subject Entities will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs and the applicable requirements of ADAA Chairman’s Resolution
No 88 of 2021 Regarding financial statements Audit Standards for the Subject Entities, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the
audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank
P.J.S.C. (continued)

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Further, as required by the UAE Federal-Decree Law No. (32) of 2021, we report that:
i) we have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit;

i) the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with
the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal-Decree Law No. (32) of 2021;

iii)  the Group has maintained proper books of account;

iv)  the financial information included in the Management Discussions & Analysis Report is consistent
with the books of account of the Group;

v)  the Group has purchased or invested in shares during the year and the investments as at 31
December 2024 are disclosed in note 9 and note 13 to the consolidated financial statements;

vi)  note 46 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party transactions and the
terms under which they were conducted; and

vii)  based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to our attention
which causes us to believe that the Group has contravened during the financial year ended 31
December 2024 any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal-Decree Law No. (32) of 2021,
or in respect of the Group, its Articles of Association which would materially affect its activities or its
financial position as at 31 December 2024.

Further, as required by Article (114) of the Decretal Federal Law No. (14) of 2018, as amended, we report that
we have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit.

324/325



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank
P.J.S.C. (continued)

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements (continued)

Further, as required by the ADAA Chairman’s Resolution no 88 of 2021 Regarding financial statements Audit
Standards for the Subject Entities, we report, in connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, that nothing has come to our attention that causes us to
believe that the Group has not complied, in all material respects, with any of the provisions of the following
laws, regulations and circulars as applicable, which would materially affect its activities or the consolidated

financial statements as at 31 December 2024:

(i) its Articles of Association which would materially affect its activities or its financial position as at 31
December 2024; and

(i) applicable provisions of the relevant laws, resolutions and circulars that have an impact on the Subject

Entity’s consolidated financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited Partnership - Abu Dhabi 5 February 2025

Stuart Alexander Scoular Registered Auditor Number: 5563
Place: Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates
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